

Endothelial pathology in preeclampsia

Turner, R.J.

#### Citation

Turner, R. J. (2018, September 5). *Endothelial pathology in preeclampsia*. Retrieved from https://hdl.handle.net/1887/64970

Version:	Not Applicable (or Unknown)
License:	<u>Licence agreement concerning inclusion of doctoral thesis in the</u> <u>Institutional Repository of the University of Leiden</u>
Downloaded from:	https://hdl.handle.net/1887/64970

Note: To cite this publication please use the final published version (if applicable).

Cover Page



## Universiteit Leiden



The handle <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1887/64970</u> holds various files of this Leiden University dissertation.

Author: Turner, R.J. Title: Endothelial pathology in preeclampsia Issue Date: 2018-09-05

## ENDOTHELIAL PATHOLOGY IN PREECLAMPSIA

Rosanne J. Turner



## Endothelial pathology in preeclampsia

Rosanne Turner

#### Colophon

The studies described in this thesis were performed at the Department of Pathology (Head: Prof. Dr. V.T.H.B.M. Smit) of the Leiden University Medical Center, the Netherlands

The printing of this thesis was financially supported by the Department of Pathology of the Leiden University Medical Center

No part of this thesis may be reproduced, stored, or transmitted in any form or by any means, without prior written permission of the authors

Cover artwork: Benjamin Turner Layout and design: David de Groot, persoonlijkproefschrift.nl Printed by: Ipskamp Printing

ISBN: 978-94-028-1087-5

Copyright © Rosanne J. Turner, Leiden, The Netherlands

### Endothelial pathology in preeclampsia

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van Doctor aan de Universiteit Leiden, op gezag van Rector Magnificus prof.mr. C.J.J.M. Stolker, volgens besluit van het College voor Promoties te verdedigen op woensdag 5 september 2018 klokke 13:45 uur

door

Rosanne Jane Turner

geboren te Castricum

in 1992

#### Promotores:

- Prof Dr. J.A. Bruijn
- Prof. Dr. K.W.M. Bloemenkamp (Geboortecentrum Wilhelmina Kinderziekenhuis, Universitair Medisch Centrum Utrecht)

Co-promotor:

- Dr. J.J. Baelde

Promotiecommissie:

- Prof. Dr. V.T.H.B.M. Smit
- Prof. Dr. C.J.M. de Groot (VU Medisch Centrum Amsterdam)
- Prof. Dr. H van Goor (Universitair Medisch Centrum Groningen)

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1	9
General Introduction and outline of this thesis	
Chapter 2	41
Genetic variants in preeclampsia: a meta-analysis	
Buurma AJ, Turner RJ, Driessen JH, Mooyaart AL, Schoones JW, Bruijn JA,	
Bloemenkamp KW, Dekkers OM, Baelde HJ. Hum Reprod Update.	
2013 May-Jun;19(3):289-303.	
Chapter 3	83
Loss of thrombomodulin in placental dysfunction in preeclampsia	
Turner RJ, Bloemenkamp KW, Bruijn JA, Baelde HJ. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc	
Biol. 2016 Apr;36(4):728-35.	
Chapter 4	109
Thrombomodulin expression in the kidney is regulated by anti-angiogenic factors,	
in vitro and in vivo	
Chapter 5	129
From glomerular endothelium to podocyte pathobiology in preeclampsia: a	
paradigm shift	
Turner RJ, Bloemenkamp KW, Penning ME, Bruijn JA, Baelde HJ.Curr	
Hypertens Rep. 2015 Jul;17(7):54.	
Chapter 6	149
Stability and Species specificity of Renal VEGF-A Splicing Patterns in Kidney	
Disease	
Turner RJ, Eikmans M, Bajema IM, Bruijn JA, Baelde HJ. PLoS One. 2016 Sep	
6;11(9):e0162166.	
Chapter 7	167
Summary and general discussion	

Chapter 8	191
Summary in Dutch (Nederlandse Samenvatting)	
Chapter 9	203
Curriculum vitae, List of Publications, Acknowledgements	

# **Chapter 1**

General introduction and outline of thesis

#### **GENERAL INTRODUCTION AND OUTLINE OF THESIS**

Preeclampsia is a frequent complication of pregnancy that involves one of the largest organs in the human body: the vascular system. Likewise, the hallmarks of this syndrome are hypertension and kidney dysfunction.<sup>1</sup> This thesis focuses on endothelial pathology in preeclampsia, and, specifically, on elucidating the interplay between angiogenesis, coagulation and inflammation in the development of the syndrome.

Preeclampsia used to be defined as the development of hypertension, systolic blood pressure >140 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure >90 mmHg, after 20 weeks gestation, measured at least twice on separate occasions, and onset of proteinuria.<sup>1,2</sup> Preeclampsia is generally known as a relatively mild and frequent pregnancy complication: the incidence of preeclampsia varies from 1 to 5%.<sup>3,4</sup> However, the course of the disease can worsen abruptly and hypertensive disorders of pregnancy account for nearly 18% of all maternal deaths worldwide,<sup>5</sup> complications such as renal insufficiency, liver dysfunction, neurological complications (e.g. eclampsia and stroke), thrombocytopenia, haemolysis and foetal growth impairment can develop and may require intervention.<sup>1</sup> To account for the wide spectrum of complications that can develop with preeclampsia, in 2014, the definition of preeclampsia was updated to hypertension developing after 20 weeks gestation and the coexistence of at least one of the following complications: proteinuria, renal insufficiency, liver involvement, neurological- or haematological complications, or foetal growth restriction.<sup>1</sup> Since the cohorts collected for the work in this thesis were collected before 2014, they fulfil the criteria of the former definition of preeclampsia, which is mentioned and cited throughout the chapters in this thesis.

The current treatment of preeclampsia is purely symptomatic. Women with mild preeclampsia are monitored closely. MgSO4 has to be commenced as prevention of eclampsia and blood pressure has to be lowered by administering antihypertensive therapy; calcium channel antagonists and beta blockers are used to lower blood pressure when this exceeds 160 mmHg systolic blood pressure or 110 mmHg diastolic blood pressure to prevent cerebrovascular complications.<sup>6</sup> Drugs targeting the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) might seem a logical therapeutic option because of

their positive effect on kidney function, but cannot be used during pregnancy because of their potential adverse effects when used in second or third trimesters of pregnancy; foetal development is impaired through placental hypoperfusion and through direct effects of angiotensin-converting enzyme blockers or angiotensin II receptor blockers on foetal kidney development.<sup>7</sup>

Currently, the only cure for preeclampsia is delivery of the placenta, and, inevitably, the foetus. To postpone delivery in women with preeclampsia at <37 weeks gestation, patients are closely monitored and high blood pressure is treated with antihypertensive agents. However, delivery is necessary when maternal or foetal complications develop, e.g. inability to control maternal blood pressure, progressive symptoms of HELLP syndrome (hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes and low platelet count syndrome) or eclampsia, placental abruption or signs of worsening foetal condition.<sup>1</sup>

Likewise, the incidence of preterm birth, spontaneous or iatrogenic, is higher in pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia as compared to uncomplicated pregnancies.<sup>8</sup> Severe preeclampsia has been reported to increase the risk of birth before 33 weeks of gestation 80 times.<sup>9</sup> Preterm birth is associated with several adverse health outcomes, e.g. neonatal mortality, pulmonary and cardiovascular complications, such as diabetes and obesity, and neurodevelopmental disturbances.<sup>10, 11</sup> In addition, female offspring born to a pregnancy complicated by hypertension has a higher risk of placental insufficiency during their own pregnancies as well, thereby passing the risk for hypertension from generation to generation.<sup>12</sup> The seriousness of the complications of the syndrome and its treatment (preterm birth) call for better treatment options that target the syndrome upstream in its pathogenesis. However, to do so, a better understanding of the pathways leading up to the syndrome has to be established.

The first part of this introductory chapter (*part* 1 - *the two-stage aetiology of preeclampsia*) describes the changes in the placenta and the maternal endothelium during the development of the syndrome. This part focuses in particular on the interplay between these two organs. The second part (*part* 2 - *risk factors for developing preeclampsia*) concentrates on known risk factors for developing preeclampsia: clues for the pathogenesis of the

syndrome may lie within these risk factors. The risk factors within the genetic and lifestyle compartments mainly involve endothelial dysfunction, and especially coagulation and inflammation. Therefore, part 3 of this introduction (part 3 - vascular pathology and hypercoagulation) describes the role of the coagulation system in preeclampsia and part 4 (part 4 immunologic imbalance in preeclampsia) focuses on abnormalities in the functioning of the immune system in preeclampsia. Subsequently, part 5 (part 5: thrombomodulin; a mediator of inflammation and coagulation) will describe a pathway that regulates both inflammation and coagulation, and that could potentially be a new player in preeclampsia. Part 6 (part 6 - kidney involvement in preeclampsia) will elaborate on the organ mainly affected by preeclampsia, the kidney, and in particular on the possible interplay between placental factors and kidney dysfunction. The last chapter (part 7 - this thesis) will describe the research questions that arise from the previous chapters and that comprise the work performed in this thesis, followed by an outline of thesis chapters.

#### PART 1 - THE TWO-STAGE AETIOLOGY OF PREECLAMPSIA

#### Impaired placental function in preeclampsia

The placenta is an organ exclusively formed for pregnancy. It forms the sole surface where contact between foetus and mother is established, and where exchange of oxygen and nutrients can take place. The placenta consists of a maternal and a foetal part. The maternal part is composed of the decidua: this is former endometrium, the lining of the uterus that has grown and has become vascularized to facilitate implantation of the blastocyst. The foetal part consists of trophoblast cells derived from the outer layer of the blastocyst: they invade the decidua and build the branching structure of the villous tree. Villi are thin, protruding portions of the foetal part of the placenta. They float in the maternal decidual blood, where their specialized outer cell lining, the syncytiotrophoblast, composed of a syncytium of trophoblast cells, facilitates the exchange of oxygen and nutrients.<sup>13</sup>

To ensure sufficient blood supply to this fast-growing organ, the arteries in the decidua and myometrium, the "spiral arteries" undergo substantial changes during early pregnancy. Foetal trophoblast cells invade the spiral arteries and replace the internal elastic lamina and underlying smooth muscle layer by loose, fibrinoid matrix.<sup>14</sup> This results in wider spiral arteries with a lower resistance, leading to increased placental blood flow with a low arterial pressure. In preeclampsia, this process appears to fail: the lumen of the decidual arteries remains narrow and smooth muscle cells remains present.<sup>15</sup> This supposedly leads to underperfusion of the placenta from week 12 of pregnancy.<sup>16, 17</sup>

This underperfusion leads to hypoxia and ischemia reperfusion injury in the developing placenta, resulting in impaired growth of both the foetus and the placenta. For the foetus, there is an increased risk of growth restriction or even stillbirth. In the placenta, changes typical for oxidative stress are seen. The villi show immature ageing, often with maldeveloped, small vessels.13 The most striking observation is the increase of syncytial knots, aggregations of syncytial nuclei, that can detach and get launched into the maternal circulation.<sup>18</sup> Probably as a result of the oxidative stress, the protein synthesis in the trophoblast cells gets disorganized, and the placenta produces excessive levels of anti-angiogenic factors soluble FMSlike tyrosine kinase 1 (sFlt-1) and soluble endoglin (sEng).<sup>19</sup> These factors bind to vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and tumour growth factor beta (TGF-B), respectively, and prevent them from binding to their corresponding receptors on endothelial cells. These cytokines are essential for normal vascular function and a decrease in their availability plays a key role in the development of endothelial dysfunction.<sup>20, 21</sup>

#### Systemic endothelial dysfunction in preeclampsia

The placenta may be the source of preeclampsia, as its removal is the cure of the syndrome, but the cells directly responsible for its manifestation in the pregnant mother are the endothelial cells. Endothelial cells make up the lining of all blood vessels in the body; they form a selective barrier between the circulating blood and the underlying tissue. They can also regulate blood pressure by producing vasoactive substances and communicate with the smooth muscle cells in the underlying vessel wall. Further, when threatening situations for the circulation or tissue arise, endothelial cells can become *activated*. For instance, when the circulatory loop gets interrupted by damage to a vessel, the endothelial cells initiate the formation of a blood clot to prevent blood leaking out of the vessel.<sup>20</sup> Endothelial cells also assist in the fight against pathogens: when activated, they attract cells or components of the immune system by expressing chemoattractant molecules.<sup>20</sup>

Under unthreatening, basic circumstances, these functions of the endothelium are delicately balanced. However, endothelial cell signalling is disturbed in preeclampsia and the endothelial cells appear to become excessively activated throughout all vessels in the mother's body: this is called systemic endothelial dysfunction.<sup>19</sup> The endothelial activation results in increased production of vasoactive substances, such as endothelin-1, and the smooth muscle cells in the vessel walls contract, giving rise to hypertension.<sup>22</sup> This vasoconstriction can even lead to tissue necrosis in liver, heart and brain in extreme cases.<sup>23</sup> Further, the endothelial cells are in a hyperinflammatory state, as confirmed by increased levels of cytokines in maternal serum.<sup>24, 25</sup> Coagulation is excessively activated, leading to overuse of coagulation factors and subsequent low levels of platelets as seen in the HELLP syndrome.<sup>26</sup> These mechanisms are explored in-depth in parts 3 and 4 of this introductory chapter.

Contributing to this endothelial dysfunction is the placenta, with its production of excessive levels of anti-angiogenic factors sFlt-1 and sEng. The resulting decreased availability of VEGF and TGF-B is detrimental to endothelial cell signalling. VEGF, specifically, is essential for endothelial cell survival, proliferation, migration and adequate regulation of permeability.<sup>27</sup> TGF-B is involved in intracellular survival pathways as well and regulates vascular tone and inflammatory pathways.<sup>28</sup> Disruption of the balance between pro- and anti-angiogenic factors both in animal models and in patients receiving anti-angiogenic treatment results in the development of signs resembling preeclampsia, e.g. hypertension and proteinuria.<sup>21, 29, 30</sup> Restoring the angiogenic imbalance through treatment with TGF-B or VEGF might seem a logical option, but levels of angiogenic factors are linked with inflammation and kidney disease.<sup>31, 32</sup>

#### PART 2 - RISK FACTORS FOR DEVELOPING PREECLAMPSIA

Given the above, the aetiology of preeclampsia comprises deviations of normal adaptations to pregnancy in both maternal (e.g. decidual arteries and endothelium) and foetal (placenta) organs. However, the precise pathogenesis of the syndrome has not been elucidated yet. Clues for the pathophysiology of a disease often lie within its risk factors as they can reveal the physical pathways involved. Therefore, this chapter will give an overview of the risk factors discovered for preeclampsia so far.

#### Genetic predisposition

Preeclampsia has a clear genetic component. Having a family history of preeclampsia gives a 3 fold increased risk of developing the syndrome.<sup>33</sup> Consequently, many studies investigating possible genes associated with preeclampsia have been performed. The first large set of mutations to be associated with preeclampsia lies within genes from the coagulation and fibrinolytic systems; women with inherited thrombophilia have a higher risk of developing the syndrome.<sup>34</sup> For example, a mutation in the prothrombin gene, enhancing its function, has been reported frequently.<sup>35-37</sup> Also, mutations in the gene encoding for factor V, making it less susceptible to inactivation by protein C, and leading to excessive activation of the coagulation cascade, are associated with the syndrome.<sup>35, 37</sup> Mutations within the immune system form the second group; both mutations in the innate immune system, such as in the complement system (e.g. complement factor H and factor C3),<sup>38, 39</sup> and mutations in signalling of the adaptive immune system, such as in the interleukin family, have been reported to be associated with preeclampsia.<sup>40, 41</sup> Further, mutations in the STOX1-gene, involved in trophoblast function and implantation of the placenta, showed a strong correlation with severe preeclampsia in a Dutch patient cohort.<sup>42</sup> In other populations these results could not be replicated.43

Despite the clear genetic component, no gene has been proven to be the sole cause of preeclampsia; the syndrome is a multifactorial disease. Further, genome-wide association studies on preeclampsia show inconsistent results.<sup>44</sup> This directs the search for risk factors of preeclampsia further to non-genetic maternal and foetal characteristics associated with preeclampsia.

#### Maternal and foetal characteristics

When investigating maternal predisposing factors, vascular pathology appears to be the most prominent again. In particular, pre-existing medical conditions affecting the cardiovascular system increase the risk of developing preeclampsia. Pre-existing diabetes quadruples the risk, and hypertension increases the risk of developing preeclampsia up to 7 times.<sup>33</sup> Interestingly, women who suffered from preeclampsia are also at greater risk for developing cardiovascular disease later in life. There appears to be an underlying cause, perhaps genetic, enhancing the risk of both preeclampsia and cardiovascular disease in this women, with preeclampsia acting as a second hit, accelerating vascular damage.<sup>45</sup> Intriguingly, the incidence of preeclampsia has increased over the last few decades, indicating that globally the Western lifestyle of the modern world has its impact on the syndrome.<sup>46</sup> Obesity indeed increases the risk of developing preeclampsia up to five times.<sup>33</sup> Weight loss in obese women restores this risk to the general population's risk.<sup>47</sup> Obesity is associated with endothelial dysfunction, e.g. excessive inflammation, resistance to insulin signalling, apoptosis, and even with an angiogenic imbalance.48

On the other end of the spectrum, the immunologic risk factors appear. Nulliparity triples the risk for preeclampsia; as well as new paternity and limited exposure to a partner's semen prior to conception.<sup>10, 33, 49</sup> These associations suggest an immunological mechanism, where later pregnancies are protected against a reaction to paternal antigens through immunomodulatory mechanisms.<sup>48</sup> The immunological basis of preeclampsia is strengthened by the association between autoimmune diseases, such as systemic lupus erythematosus and antiphospholipid antibody syndrome, and preeclampsia.<sup>50, 51</sup> Further, women who became pregnant after receiving oocyte donation, and who subsequently carry a completely allogeneic foetus, are also at increased risk of developing preeclampsia.<sup>52</sup> The immunologic risk factors and mechanisms are elaborated in Part 4 of this introduction.

In conclusion, both genetic and acquired risk factors for preeclampsia fall apart in two categories: vascular and immunologic risk factors. The following two chapters will discuss the role of each of these systems in preeclampsia in depth.

#### PART 3 - VASCULAR PATHOLOGY AND HYPERCOAGULATION IN PRE-ECLAMPSIA

The role of the haemostatic system in preeclampsia started to raise interest in the first half of the 20<sup>th</sup> century. Physicians then first started to notice large thrombi in brain and liver tissue from women who died of 'toxaemia of pregnancy', i.e. preeclampsia.<sup>53</sup> Furthermore, pathological changes in organs from women who died after preeclampsia resemble damage due to reduced perfusion, showing infarction, necrosis and deposition of microthrombi.<sup>54</sup> But how do these thrombi develop? The following chapter describes the pathophysiology of thrombosis, and elaborates on the specific pathways of haemostasis that play a role in preeclampsia.

The pathophysiology of thrombosis rests on three pillars: endothelial injury, abnormal blood flow and hypercoagulability. This triad is known as "Virchow's triad", named after one of the founders of thrombosis research, Rudolph Virchow (1821-1902). It depicts the interplay between the three components that increase the risk of the formation of a thrombus, a plug of activated blood platelets held together by a network of fibrin that (partly) obstructs a blood vessel.



#### Figure 1, Virchow's triad

Virchow's triad depicts the interplay between the three factors leading to thrombosis.

The first pillar, endothelial injury, is considered to be a dominant part of the triad, since endothelial injury can initiate thrombosis on its own. At baseline conditions, the endothelium exhibits antithrombotic features. First, the endothelium has antiplatelet functions, which means that the endothelium prevents platelets from being activated by extracellular matrix, and inhibits

platelet adhesion through producing prostacyclin and nitric oxide. Second, several membrane-associated proteins on the endothelium possess anticoagulant properties, such as the protein C activators thrombomodulin and the endothelial protein C receptor. Lastly, the endothelium also produces tissue plasminogen activator, which clears fibrin deposits and assists in fibrinolysis (degradation of a thrombus). However, when endothelial cells are activated, i.e. under inflammatory conditions, they exhibit opposite, prothrombotic properties. Von Willebrand factor expressed by endothelial cells helps platelets to adhere to the extracellular matrix underlying the endothelium, activating the platelets. Activated endothelial cells also express tissue factor, the activator of the extrinsic coagulation cascade (see below), which results in the formation of a fibrin network. Lastly, activated endothelial cells produce plasminogen activator inhibitor, which suppresses fibrinolysis.<sup>20</sup>

The second pillar consists of abnormal blood flow. Normal blood flow is laminar: the blood flows in layers moving parallel to the blood vessel, with the middle layer, which contains the platelets, having the highest velocity and the outer layers (or "clear zone"), consisting of plasma alone, having a velocity reaching zero. Alterations of blood flow, caused for example by hypertension or stenosis, lead to disturbance of this laminar flow, causing turbulence and stasis. Turbulence facilitates the movement of platelets from the middle layer to the outer layer, the clear zone. This brings the platelets close to the endothelium and subsequently facilitates platelet activation. Turbulent flow can also damage the endothelium, leading directly to endothelial activation, exposure of underlying extracellular matrix and platelet activation. On the other hand, the corresponding stasis of blood (e.g. behind a stenosis) leads to accumulation of clotting factors and subsequent excessive activation of the coagulation cascade. In addition to the latter, endothelial activation and subsequent contraction of the vessel wall can further contribute to the development of abnormal blood flow by decreasing the vessel lumen. In summary, we can conclude that the first two pillars of the triad, endothelial injury and abnormal blood flow, are tightly intertwined.<sup>20</sup> The third pillar, hypercoagulability, is defined as an alteration of the coagulation pathways that predisposes to thrombosis.<sup>20</sup> The coagulation pathways contribute to the formation of a thrombus by being ultimately

responsible from the conversion from fibrinogen to fibrin. The two pathways consist of several clotting factors, which are produced in the liver, and activate each other in the form of a cascade, as illustrated in Figure 2.



#### Figure 2, two pathways leading to coagulation

This figure illustrates the two pathways initiating coagulation and their final common pathway. Coagulation can be activated through the intrinsic pathway, after collagen exposure, or through the extrinsic pathway, after release of tissue factor from the subendothelial space. Coagulation cascade activation ultimately results in the formation of fibrin strands which form the framework for the blood clot.<sup>20</sup>

The extrinsic pathway of coagulation is the most physiologically relevant pathway for coagulation occurring after vascular damage. It is initiated by tissue factor, a protein released from the subendothelial space after endothelial damage. Tissue factor release results in the activation of the extrinsic coagulation pathway; through FVII and FX activation, prothrombin is converted to thrombin and fibrinogen is subsequently converted to fibrin monomers. Tissue factor is abundantly expressed on the placenta, in trophoblastic tissue and in amniotic fluid.<sup>55</sup> The second coagulation pathway, the intrinsic pathway, is activated when FXII (Hageman Factor) is exposed to thrombogenic surfaces, such as collagen. It appears only logical that the cascade of activation of clotting factors has to be retained to the site of vascular injury. Here, the endothelium plays a leading role by expressing anticoagulant and fibrinolytic factors, as described above.

#### Systemic coagulation in preeclampsia

In preeclampsia, each of the three pillars of Virchow's triad is disrupted. As described in the introductory paragraph, endothelial dysfunction is characteristic for preeclampsia. This contributes to abnormal blood flow, i.e. hypertension. Further, endothelial activation contributes to hypercoagulability. Pregnancy itself is a hypercoagulable state.<sup>56</sup> Levels of all clotting factors increase, and there is a reduction in concentrations of the anticoagulants protein C and protein S.<sup>56</sup> These changes are presumed to be a preparation for the haemostatic challenge of childbirth.<sup>57</sup> However, in preeclampsia the hypercoagulable state is exaggerated, characterized by increased levels of key coagulation markers tissue factor, factor VIII consumption, fibrinogen and von Willebrand factor compared to normal pregnancy.<sup>57</sup> The anticoagulation system is also disrupted, as shown by reduced antithrombin levels and a decreased ratio of tissue factor pathway inhibitor and tissue factor.<sup>57</sup> Ultimately, preeclampsia can even be complicated by disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC).58 DIC results from diffuse activation of intravascular coagulation, leading to excessive consumption of coagulation factors and subsequent haemorrhage, e.g. in the brain.<sup>1</sup>

#### Hypercoagulation in the placenta

Both the observance of the thrombi-prone state in women with preeclampsia and the link with inherited thrombophilia in these patients have led to hypotheses about the role of thrombi and coagulation in the development of preeclampsia, i.e. in the development of placental dysfunction; decidual thrombi have been proposed to be within the aetiology of preeclampsia as early as 1947.<sup>59</sup> The flow in the placental bed reaches almost zero, which, following Virchow's triad, should increase the risk of haemostasis. But still, the "endothelial" like syncytiotrophoblast cells lining the villi succeed to prevent excessive coagulation in normal pregnancies. In preeclampsia there is increased deposition of perivillous fibrin, indicative of failure to prevent placental coagulation and expression of the thrombin receptor PAR-1 is intensified.<sup>60, 61</sup> The amount of placental infarction is associated with the severity of preeclampsia.<sup>62</sup> In the decidual vessels, thrombosis is associated with perinatal mortality in preeclampsia.<sup>63</sup> So, taken all the above examples of excessive coagulation in the maternal vessels and the placenta into account, hypercoagulation is a key feature of the pathogenesis of preeclampsia.

#### **Treatment & coagulation**

The long-established association between coagulation and preeclampsia has led to many clinical trials on the use of anticoagulants for the treatment and prevention of the syndrome, but no ultimate solution has been found so far. Drugs from the heparin family have been studied extensively; heparin acts through enhancing the effectiveness of the anticoagulant antithrombin, and also through inhibition of the complement system (this is described indetail in part 3).<sup>64</sup> Modest effects from using low-molecular weight heparin for the secondary prevention of preeclampsia have been reported; the Dutch FRUIT study revealed a risk reduction of 8.7% for the onset of hypertensive disorders before 34 weeks of pregnancy.<sup>65, 66</sup> Another well-known drug, aspirin, also has shown positive but modest effects (RR 0.9, 95% CI 0.84 -0.97) on preeclampsia occurrence and improves pregnancy outcome.<sup>67, 68</sup> The positive effects of aspirin might lie within its double mode of action: it blocks platelet aggregation, and also modulates inflammatory responses by decreasing prostaglandin production, reflecting the multifactorial aetiology of preeclampsia. Trials on the new anticoagulants, e.g. rivaroxaban or dabigatran cannot be initiated because of their potential teratogenic effects; animal studies have revealed early pregnancy loss and foetal harm.<sup>69</sup>

#### PART 4 - IMMUNOLOGIC IMBALANCE IN PREECLAMPSIA

Pregnancy is a semi-allogeneic situation where the maternal immune system encounters paternal and foetal antigens. To achieve successful embryoimplantation and pregnancy, a tolerant immune environment has to be established, with changes in both the innate and adaptive immune systems. Further, both innate and adaptive immune cells are involved in early stages of placental development; they assist in controlled removal of native spiral artery cells, allowing the trophoblast cells to invade.<sup>70</sup> In preeclampsia, changes in this tolerant, constructive state of the immune system have been described. This chapter will describe each component of the immune system involved in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia, from innate to adaptive immunity.

#### Innate immunity: the complement system

The complement system is the initiator of activity of the innate immune system. Its pathways are activated by immune complexes, microbial carbohydrates and pathogen surfaces.<sup>20</sup> Completion of each the three pathways of the complement cascade results in the formation of the membrane attack complex, which results in cell lysis, cell destruction by phagocytes and the production of the anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a, activators of chemotaxis, cytokine production and vascular permeability.71 The complement system can even be activated spontaneously via the alternative pathway. In normal pregnancy, the expression of complementregulatory proteins by the syncytiotrophoblast is sufficient to prevent excess complement activation.<sup>72, 73</sup> However, in preeclampsia, there is an increase in complement pathway activation in the placenta, as detected by increased abundance of the marker of complement activation C4d, and this is associated with lower gestational age at birth.<sup>74</sup> Although immunological markers in maternal serum do not reflect the immune response at the fetomaternal interface completely,75 markers of excessive complement activation in preeclampsia are found in maternal serum as well.75,76 Further, preeclampsia is associated with complement deposition in the kidney.77 Further proof for complement system activation as a cause for preeclampsia comes from a study by Qing et al; placenta-specific inhibition of the final complement enactor C3 in a mouse model prevented placental dysfunction but also systemic symptoms of preeclampsia, such as proteinuria and renal pathology.78

#### Macrophages and dendritic cells as immunomodulators

Decidual macrophages play an immunomodulatory role in placenta by maintaining the balance between pro-inflammatory Th1 cells and antiinflammatory Th2 cells and by producing anti-inflammatory cytokines IL4 and IL10.73 They also facilitate implantation of the embryo and placenta tissue remodelling by clearing apoptotic cells and promoting trophoblast cell survival.<sup>79</sup> During normal pregnancies, decidual macrophages polarize towards the M2 macrophage type, which repairs tissue and inhibits inflammation.<sup>73, 80</sup> A shift towards dominance of the pro-inflammatory M1 type has been proposed to play a role in pathological pregnancies such as preeclampsia.<sup>81</sup> For example, a regulator of M2 polarization, sHLAG5, is decreased tremendously in preeclampsia.<sup>82</sup> Additionally, these immature dendritic cells induce immunological tolerance and activate T regulatory cells.73 Disturbances in the maturation of dendritic cells have been described in the HELLP syndrome.<sup>83</sup> T regulatory cells decrease the activity of CD4 T-cells and prevent an immune reaction to HLA DR antigens that are released from trophoblast cell debris. Decreased presence of T regulatory cells in blood and in the decidua are associated with recurrent miscarriages.73

#### Natural killer cells assist in trophoblast invasion

During preparation for embryo implantation, numbers of uterine natural killer cells rapidly increase. These cells are of the "CD56 bright" phenotype, i.e. they produce cytokines involved in trophoblast invasion and angiogenesis instead of being cytotoxic.<sup>73</sup> HLA-C on the trophoblast cells plays a major role in the recognition of trophoblast cells by uterine NK cells during trophoblast invasion. Failure of this recognition process is associated with impaired placentation and certain combinations of variants of uterine NK cell receptors and HLA-C are associated with preeclampsia.<sup>73</sup>Uterine NK cells are associated with immature dendritic cells remaining abundant in the decidua throughout pregnancy.

#### The adaptive immune system

Lastly, the humoral adaptive immune system plays a role in the development of preeclampsia as well. In preeclampsia, there is a shift from maternal Th2 to Th1 cell activity.<sup>73</sup> The cytokines produced by Th1 cells contribute to B-cell autoantibody production.<sup>70</sup> Preeclampsia is associated with abundance of a

subset of B-cells prone to synthesizing autoantibodies throughout pregnancy.<sup>73</sup> The syndrome has been linked to angiotensin II receptor antibody production, which results in excessive stimulation of this receptor in the placenta and subsequent production of anti-angiogenic factors.<sup>73</sup> Interestingly, the preparation of the maternal immune system for pregnancy even starts before implantation of the embryo, as a reaction by antigen presenting cells to seminal fluid.<sup>84</sup> A schematic overview of the role of the different components of the innate and adaptive immune systems in pregnancy and preeclampsia, as described above, is given below.



#### Figure 3, the inflammatory response in normal pregnancy compared to preeclampsia

Components from the innate and adaptive immune systems with their role in normal pregnancy and their changed activity in preeclampsia are depicted.

In summary, the immune system is involved in the early changes in the placenta in preeclampsia, illustrated by changes in placental immune cells and subsequent disturbances in placental growth, and also appears to be disturbed during later stages of preeclampsia, where systemic involvement develops, for example with increased systemic complement activation or autoantibodies. Despite the immune system being an obvious key player in preeclampsia, no effective treatment targeting the immune system has been discovered yet, in spite of abounding clinical trials targeting either these late or early effects.<sup>85</sup> These have been performed for dexamethasone, antioxidants and immunomodulating supplements such as vitamin D (which showed a small effect). A case report on inhibiting the complement system

in HELLP syndrome showed promising results in one case, but larger clinical trials have not been performed yet.<sup>86</sup>

#### PART 5 - THROMBOMODULIN: A MEDIATOR OF COAGULATION AND IN-FLAMMATION

Taking all of the above into consideration, both dysregulation of coagulation and the immune system appear to be major pathways leading up to preeclampsia. However, studies targeting the coagulation or immune systems independently do not seem to result in resolution of the syndrome yet. Other pathways, creating links between the angiogenic imbalance of preeclampsia, coagulation and inflammation might bring a new twist, and hopefully progression to preeclampsia research. One of these candidate pathways is the thrombomodulin signalling pathway; the following chapter will give an overview of this promising player in preeclampsia.

#### Thrombomodulin physiology

Thrombomodulin is a transmembrane glycoprotein expressed by the endothelium throughout the body and on the syncytiotrophoblast lining the placental villi.87 Thrombomodulin signalling comprises three distinct pathways, as illustrated in Figure 4: modulation of coagulation, inflammation, and cell survival. In detail, thrombomodulin can form a complex with thrombin, thereby inactivating the latter, and thus inhibiting the coagulation cascade. Further, the thrombomodulin-thrombin complex facilitates activation of protein C by the endothelial protein C receptor, thereby inhibiting the coagulation cascade even further.<sup>88</sup> Thrombomodulin, when bound to thrombin, can also activate the intracellular PAR-1 receptor. The PAR-1 receptor is a versatile receptor that can stimulate opposite pathways, when activated by specific molecules. When activated by thrombomodulin, PAR-1 inhibits inflammatory and anti-angiogenic signalling by endothelial cells. Further, PAR-1 activation stimulates cell survival pathways. Thrombomodulin on its own can also inhibit inflammation through activation of TAFI, which inhibits the final products of the complement system.<sup>88</sup>

Thrombomodulin is essential for the development and maintenance of a healthy circulation; in animal models, thrombomodulin knockout results in embryonic lethality and massive thrombosis.<sup>89,90</sup> Mutations in the

thrombomodulin gene are associated with the haemolytic uremic syndrome in human patients, a disease characterized by endothelial dysfunction and excessive complement activation.<sup>91</sup> Further, low levels of thrombomodulin are associated with increased apoptosis and albuminuria in diabetic nephropathy, and restoring thrombomodulin signalling returned apoptosis and albuminuria to levels similar as in control mice.<sup>92</sup>



Figure 4, effects of thrombin and thrombomodulin signalling in endothelial cells

When thrombin (star figure) initiates signalling through PAR-1 in endothelial cells, intracellular pathways resulting in the release of anti-angiogenic factors and activation of inflammation are activated. In contrast, when thrombin binds to thrombomodulin, together with APC and EPCR, PAR-1 activation results in inhibition of inflammation and apoptosis pathways. TM, thrombomodulin; APC, activated protein C; EPCR, endothelial protein C receptor

#### Thrombomodulin in disease

Thrombomodulin can be cleaved under inflammatory circumstances by metalloprotease-like proteins; the waste product can then be detected in serum as soluble thrombomodulin.<sup>88, 93</sup> Thrombomodulin cleaving does not appear to result in a functional soluble product.<sup>88</sup> However, soluble

thrombomodulin has been proven to be a useful biomarker of endothelial dysfunction, and is elevated in a variety of inflammatory conditions.<sup>94-97</sup> In preeclampsia, levels of soluble thrombomodulin increase as well.<sup>98-100</sup> Up to date, it is not known if the cleavage of thrombomodulin from the endothelium and syncytiotrophoblast indeed leads to loss of the thrombomodulin protein from the vessel surface, or if the cleavage is compensated with increased production of the protein. Nevertheless, thrombomodulin is an upcoming target for treatment in diseases characterized by dysregulation of inflammation and coagulation. Thrombomodulin has been proven to be effective, for example, in the treatment of sepsis and thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura.<sup>101, 102</sup>

#### PART 6 - KIDNEY INVOLVEMENT IN PREECLAMPSIA

#### Kidney physiology

The kidneys are responsible for the homeostasis of a variety of vital functions. In short, the kidneys regulate excretion of metabolites, resorption of vital nutrients, acid-base homeostasis, blood osmolality, blood pressure and also excrete a variety of hormones involved in blood and bone maintenance.<sup>20</sup> Excretion of waste products is facilitated by the special structure of the filtration apparatus of the kidney: the glomerulus. A glomerulus consists of a clew of capillaries, supplied by an afferent and efferent arteriole. The hydrostatic pressure in the glomerulus is about 40 mmHg, resulting in a net filtration pressure of 20mmHg, the biggest net extravasation pressure in the human body.<sup>103</sup> On top of that, the capillaries are lined with specialized fenestrated endothelium, allowing small molecules and ions to pass through. The molecules that can pass then have to cross the negatively charged glomerular basement membrane that lies around the endothelium, thereby blocking the crossing of large proteins. Lastly, the filtrate has to pass the specialized epithelium of the glomerular filtration barrier; the podocytes. These epithelial-like cells are attached to the glomerular basement membrane with thousands of 'foot processes': long cell projections with slit-diaphragms in between that facilitate further selective crossing of molecules. The podocytes are presumed to be the most crucial component of the glomerular filtration barrier with respect to the retaining of proteins; damage to the podocytes is associated with the presence proteinuria.<sup>103</sup>

#### Signs of kidney disease in preeclampsia

The kidneys are major players in the manifestation of preeclampsia; failure of the kidneys to maintain their normal function are among the first symptoms women with preeclampsia present themselves with.<sup>1</sup> The disturbances in kidney function in preeclampsia first present as proteinuria.<sup>1</sup> This indicates failure of the kidneys to retain vital nutrients in the blood: the glomerular filtration barrier has lost its selectivity and proteins can go across and are excreted in the urine. This can result in nephrotic syndrome, where the low osmolality of the blood allows plasma to extravasate, resulting in swelling of feet and ankles.<sup>104</sup> When severe preeclampsia develops, kidney failure can deteriorate as well. The kidneys fail to excrete metabolites and levels of uric acid and other waste products in the blood increase.<sup>105</sup> Proteinuria and kidney failure in preeclampsia are generally reversible,<sup>106</sup> but a small number of women remain at an increased risk of developing kidney disease in later life.<sup>107</sup>

#### The histopathology of preeclamptic nephropathy

The background for the above-mentioned symptoms of preeclamptic nephropathy can be found with histopathological evaluation of the kidney from a patient with preeclampsia. The podocytes show pathologic changes on electron microscopy: their foot processes retract and lose their filtration function.<sup>108</sup> Further, podocyte turnover is increased and detached podocytes can be retrieved from the urine from women with preeclampsia, this is called podocyturia.<sup>109</sup> The endothelial cells show detrimental changes on light microscopy, called glomerular endotheliosis: they become swollen and can take up the whole capillary lumen, making the glomeruli appear 'bloodless'.<sup>110</sup>

#### Angiogenic imbalance and the kidney

The above gives rise to one big question: why is especially the kidney the number one target organ in preeclampsia? What pathogenesis could underlie these symptoms? All other organs of the body have blood vessels with dysfunctional endothelium as well, but they do not show dysfunction until much later in the course of the disease. The answer possibly lies within the particular dependence on VEGF of all cells in the glomerular filtration barrier. Both podocytes and glomerular endothelial cells need tightly regulated levels of available VEGF to maintain their function. Podocytes are the main source

of VEGF in the glomerulus; podocyte-specific knockout of VEGF expression results in endothelial and podocytal pathology.<sup>111, 112</sup> Animal models with overexpression of sFlt-1 and soluble endoglin develop renal changes somewhat similar to those in preeclampsia, for example with glomerular endothelial cell swelling and podocyte changes.<sup>113</sup> However, the angiogenic imbalance is not the sole explanation for the changes observed in preeclamptic nephropathy: excessive coagulation, endothelial damage or mechanical damage to the glomerular filtration barrier might be co-players in the aetiology.

#### PART 7 - THIS THESIS

Despite decades of research, it is still unclear what underlies the pathophysiologic mechanisms of and susceptibility for preeclampsia. Suitable management strategies have not been developed yet, probably because of the latter. Further research on the pathophysiology of preeclampsia might reveal new pathways to target.

This thesis touches upon the three main pathways leading to endothelial dysfunction in preeclampsia: angiogenesis, coagulation and inflammation. These pathways will be investigated on several levels: in the genome, in the placenta, and in the organs from women with preeclampsia.

In particular:

- The contribution of genetic variants in the development of preeclampsia
- The role of thrombomodulin and its modulating effects on inflammation and coagulation in preeclampsia
- The role of VEGF in kidney disease

#### Aims of this thesis

- To determine which genetic variants are reproducibly and significantly associated with preeclampsia
- To investigate the role of thrombomodulin in the development of placental dysfunction and the angiogenic imbalance in preeclampsia
- To explore the endothelial protective properties of thrombomodulin in the kidney during preeclamptic nephropathy
- To explore the interplay between vascular endothelial growth factor, the endothelium and podocytes in kidney pathology in preeclampsia

• To investigate whether alternative splicing of vascular endothelial growth factor plays a role in the development of renal damage

#### Thesis outline

Overall, the work described in this thesis focuses on the pathways leading to endothelial dysfunction in preeclampsia. Several genes involved in the regulation of coagulation and inflammation on the endothelium have been described in preeclampsia, but genome-wide association and other genetic studies yielded inconsistent results. Therefore, chapter 2 of this thesis describes a meta-analysis performed to investigate which genetic variants are reproducibly and significantly associated with preeclampsia. Since a comprehensive amount of literature, as described in this introduction, as well as chapter 2 of this thesis point towards coagulation and inflammation as major players in preeclampsia, chapter 3 and 4 focus on the role of a mediator of coagulation and inflammation, thrombomodulin, in this syndrome. Chapter **3** describes the work performed to investigate the role of thrombomodulin in the placenta, and the possible connection between thrombomodulin and the angiogenic imbalance of preeclampsia. Since it is unknown if thrombomodulin cleaving under inflammatory circumstances leads to thrombomodulin loss on the endothelium, the role of thrombomodulin in the kidney in preeclampsia is explored in **chapter 4**. Besides coagulation and inflammation, the angiogenic imbalance appears to be the major role player in preeclampsia, especially in the kidney. In **chapter 5**, the cross-talk between the endothelium and podocytes through VEGF in the kidney in preeclampsia is explored. To further explore this cross-talk, we investigated how VEGF mRNA is spliced in the human and rodent kidney, and if this splicing is dysregulated during glomerulopathy. These experiments are described in chapter 6. In chapter 7, the general discussion, the discoveries from this thesis are summarized and placed in a general perspective. The general discussion is followed by a summary in Dutch.

Introduction and outline

#### REFERENCES

- Tranquilli AL, Dekker G, Magee L, Roberts J, Sibai BM, Steyn W, Zeeman GG, Brown MA. The classification, diagnosis and management of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: A revised statement from the isshp. Pregnancy Hypertens. 2014; 4: 97-104.
- Brown MA, Lindheimer MD, de Swiet M, Van Assche A, Moutquin JM. The classification and diagnosis of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: Statement from the international society for the study of hypertension in pregnancy (isshp). Hypertens Pregnancy. 2001; 20: Ix-xiv.
- Abalos E, Cuesta C, Grosso AL, Chou D, Say L. Global and regional estimates of preeclampsia and eclampsia: A systematic review. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2013; 170: 1-7.
- von Schmidt auf Altenstadt JF, Hukkelhoven CW, van Roosmalen J, Bloemenkamp KW. Pre-eclampsia increases the risk of postpartum haemorrhage: A nationwide cohort study in the netherlands. PLoS One. 2013; 8: e81959. doi: 81910.81371/journal.pone.0081959.
- 5. Khan KS, Wojdyla D, Say L, Gulmezoglu AM, Van Look PF. Who analysis of causes of maternal death: A systematic review. Lancet. 2006; 367: 1066-1074.
- 6. Magee LA, Pels A, Helewa M, Rey E, von Dadelszen P. The hypertensive disorders of pregnancy (29.3). Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol. 2015; 29: 643-657.
- Georgaki-Angelaki E, Stergiou N, Naoum E, Papassotiriou I, Anagnostakou M. Olmesartan medoxomil-induced acute renal failure in a premature newborn following maternal exposure during pregnancy: A case report and review of the literature. NDT Plus. 2009; 2: 295-297.
- Mendola P, Mumford SL, Mannisto TI, Holston A, Reddy UM, Laughon SK. Controlled direct effects of preeclampsia on neonatal health after accounting for mediation by preterm birth. Epidemiology. 2015; 26: 17-26.
- 9. Ananth CV, Savitz DA, Luther ER, Bowes WA, Jr. Preeclampsia and preterm birth subtypes in nova scotia, 1986 to 1992. Am J Perinatol. 1997; 14: 17-23.
- 10. Shih T, Peneva D, Xu X, Sutton A, Triche E, Ehrenkranz RA, Paidas M, Stevens W. The rising burden of preeclampsia in the united states impacts both maternal and child health. Am J Perinatol. 2015:
- 11. Tinnion R, Gillone J, Cheetham T, Embleton N. Preterm birth and subsequent insulin sensitivity: A systematic review. Arch Dis Child. 2014; 99: 362-368.
- Paauw ND, van Rijn BB, Lely AT, Joles JA. Pregnancy as a critical window for blood pressure regulation in mother and child: Programming and reprogramming. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2017; 219: 241-259.
- 13. Fox H, Sebire N. Pathology of the placenta. 2007.
- 14. Sheppard BL, Bonnar J. Uteroplacental hemostasis in intrauterine fetal growth retardation. Semin Thromb Hemost. 1999; 25: 443-446.
- 15. Hecht JL, Zsengeller ZK, Spiel M, Karumanchi SA, Rosen S. Revisiting decidual vasculopathy. Placenta. 2016; 42: 37-43.
Introduction and outline

- 16. Plasencia W, Maiz N, Bonino S, Kaihura C, Nicolaides KH. Uterine artery doppler at 11 + 0 to 13 + 6 weeks in the prediction of pre-eclampsia. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2007; 30: 742-749.
- Orabona R, Donzelli CM, Falchetti M, Santoro A, Valcamonico A, Frusca T. Placental histological patterns and uterine artery doppler velocimetry in pregnancies complicated by early or late pre-eclampsia. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol. 2016; 47: 580-585.
- Buurma AJ, Penning ME, Prins F, Schutte JM, Bruijn JA, Wilhelmus S, Rajakumar A, Bloemenkamp KW, Karumanchi SA, Baelde HJ. Preeclampsia is associated with the presence of transcriptionally active placental fragments in the maternal lung. Hypertension. 2013; 62: 608-613.
- 19. Steegers EA, von Dadelszen P, Duvekot JJ, Pijnenborg R. Pre-eclampsia. Lancet. 2010; 376: 631-644.
- 20. Kumar V, Cotran RS, Robbins SL. Basic pathology. Saunders; 2003.
- 21. Tjoa ML, Levine RJ, Karumanchi SA. Angiogenic factors and preeclampsia. Front Biosci. 2007; 12: 2395-2402.
- 22. Goulopoulou S, Davidge ST. Molecular mechanisms of maternal vascular dysfunction in preeclampsia. Trends Mol Med. 2015; 21: 88–97.
- Roberts JM. Endothelial dysfunction in preeclampsia. Semin Reprod Endocrinol. 1998; 16: 5-15.
- 24. Greer IA, Lyall F, Perera T, Boswell F, Macara LM. Increased concentrations of cytokines interleukin-6 and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in plasma of women with preeclampsia: A mechanism for endothelial dysfunction? Obstet Gynecol. 1994; 84: 937-940.
- Hamai Y, Fujii T, Yamashita T, Nishina H, Kozuma S, Mikami Y, Taketani Y. Evidence for an elevation in serum interleukin-2 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha levels before the clinical manifestations of preeclampsia. Am J Reprod Immunol. 1997; 38: 89-93.
- Weinstein L. Syndrome of hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, and low platelet count: A severe consequence of hypertension in pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1982; 142: 159-167.
- 27. Koch S, Claesson-Welsh L. Signal transduction by vascular endothelial growth factor receptors. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012; 2: a006502.
- 28. Gregory AL, Xu G, Sotov V, Letarte M. Review: The enigmatic role of endoglin in the placenta. Placenta. 2014; 35 Suppl: S93-99.
- 29. Karumanchi SA, Stillman IE. In vivo rat model of preeclampsia. Methods Mol Med. 2006; 122: 393–399.
- 30. Zhu X, Wu S, Dahut WL, Parikh CR. Risks of proteinuria and hypertension with bevacizumab, an antibody against vascular endothelial growth factor: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Kidney Dis. 2007; 49: 186-193.
- Eremina V, Sood M, Haigh J, Nagy A, Lajoie G, Ferrara N, Gerber HP, Kikkawa Y, Miner JH, Quaggin SE. Glomerular-specific alterations of vegf-a expression lead

to distinct congenital and acquired renal diseases. J Clin Invest. 2003; 111: 707-716.

- 32. Brouwers J, Noviyanti R, Fijnheer R, de Groot PG, Trianty L, Mudaliana S, Roest M, Syafruddin D, van der Ven A, de Mast Q. Platelet activation determines angiopoietin-1 and vegf levels in malaria: Implications for their use as biomarkers. PLoS One. 2014; 8: e64850.
- Duckitt K, Harrington D. Risk factors for pre-eclampsia at antenatal booking: Systematic review of controlled studies. Bmj. 2005; 330: 565.
- Kupferminc MJ, Fait G, Many A, Gordon D, Eldor A, Lessing JB. Severe preeclampsia and high frequency of genetic thrombophilic mutations. Obstet Gynecol. 2000; 96: 45-49.
- Kupferminc MJ, Eldor A, Steinman N, Many A, Bar-Am A, Jaffa A, Fait G, Lessing JB. Increased frequency of genetic thrombophilia in women with complications of pregnancy. N Engl J Med. 1999; 340: 9-13.
- Gilchrist A, Solomon N, Erickson D, Sikand A, Bauer KA, Kruskall MS, Kocher O. Automated detection of the g20210a prothrombin mutation using the lcx microparticle enzyme immunoassay. Clin Chim Acta. 2001; 314: 249–254.
- van Pampus MG, Wolf H, Koopman MM, van den Ende A, Buller HR, Reitsma PH. Prothrombin 20210 g: A mutation and factor v leiden mutation in women with a history of severe preeclampsia and (h)ellp syndrome. Hypertens Pregnancy. 2001; 20: 291-298.
- 38. Salmon JE, Heuser C, Triebwasser M, Liszewski MK, Kavanagh D, Roumenina L, Branch DW, Goodship T, Fremeaux-Bacchi V, Atkinson JP. Mutations in complement regulatory proteins predispose to preeclampsia: A genetic analysis of the promisse cohort. PLoS Med. 2011; 8: e1001013.
- Rhim MS, Meddeb S, Kaabia O, Jalloul M, Sakouhi M, Jrzad BB, Felah R. C3f gene mutation is involved in the susceptibility to pre-eclampsia. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2015; 291: 1023-1027.
- 40. van Rijn BB, Franx A, Steegers EA, de Groot CJ, Bertina RM, Pasterkamp G, Voorbij HA, Bruinse HW, Roest M. Maternal tlr4 and nod2 gene variants, pro-inflammatory phenotype and susceptibility to early-onset preeclampsia and hellp syndrome. PLoS One. 2008; 3: e1865.
- Sowmya S, Ramaiah A, Sunitha T, Nallari P, Jyothy A, Venkateshwari A. Role of il-10 -819(t/c) promoter polymorphism in preeclampsia. Inflammation. 2014; 37: 1022-1027.
- 42. van Dijk M, Mulders J, Poutsma A, Konst AA, Lachmeijer AM, Dekker GA, Blankenstein MA, Oudejans CB. Maternal segregation of the dutch preeclampsia locus at 10q22 with a new member of the winged helix gene family. Nat Genet. 2005; 37: 514-519.
- Haram K, Mortensen JH, Nagy B. Genetic aspects of preeclampsia and the hellp syndrome. J Pregnancy. 2014; 2014: 910751.
- Morgan L. Update on genetics of pre-eclampsia. Pregnancy Hypertens. 2013; 3: 59-60.
- 45. Lee G, Tubby J. Preeclampsia and the risk of cardiovascular disease later in life a

review of the evidence. Midwifery. 2015:

- 46. Wallis AB, Saftlas AF, Hsia J, Atrash HK. Secular trends in the rates of preeclampsia, eclampsia, and gestational hypertension, united states, 1987-2004. Am J Hypertens. 2008; 21: 521-526.
- Magdaleno R, Jr., Pereira BG, Chaim EA, Turato ER. Pregnancy after bariatric surgery: A current view of maternal, obstetrical and perinatal challenges. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2012; 285: 559–566.
- Jeyabalan A. Epidemiology of preeclampsia: Impact of obesity. Nutr Rev. 2013; 71 Suppl 1: S18-25.
- Dekker GA, Robillard PY, Hulsey TC. Immune maladaptation in the etiology of preeclampsia: A review of corroborative epidemiologic studies. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 1998; 53: 377-382.
- 50. Carmona F, Font J, Cervera R, Munoz F, Cararach V, Balasch J. Obstetrical outcome of pregnancy in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. A study of 60 cases. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1999; 83: 137-142.
- 51. Smyth A, Oliveira GH, Lahr BD, Bailey KR, Norby SM, Garovic VD. A systematic review and meta-analysis of pregnancy outcomes in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and lupus nephritis. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2010; 5: 2060–2068.
- 52. Masoudian P, Nasr A, de Nanassy J, Fung-Kee-Fung K, Bainbridge SA, El Demellawy D. Oocyte donation pregnancies and the risk of preeclampsia or gestational hypertension: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2016; 214: 328-339.
- 53. Coopland AT. Blood clotting abnormalitis in relation to pre-eclampsia: A review. Can Med Assoc J. 1969; 100: 121-124.
- 54. Roberts JM, Lain KY. Recent insights into the pathogenesis of pre-eclampsia. Placenta. 2002; 23: 359–372.
- 55. Kuczynski J, Uszynski W, Zekanowska E, Soszka T, Uszynski M. Tissue factor (tf) and tissue factor pathway inhibitor (tfpi) in the placenta and myometrium. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 2002; 105: 15-19.
- 56. Cunningham FG, Nelson DB. Disseminated intravascular coagulation syndromes in obstetrics. Obstet Gynecol. 2015; 126: 999-1011.
- Ismail SK, Higgins JR. Hemostasis in pre-eclampsia. Semin Thromb Hemost. 2011; 37: 111-117.
- 58. McKay DG. Hematologic evidence of disseminated intravascular coagulation in eclampsia. Obstet Gynecol Surv. 1972; 27: 399-417.
- 59. Bartholomew RA. The possible etiologic significance of thrombosis of a placental vein on the mechanism of placental infarction and associated toxemia of pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1947; 53: 650–657.
- 60. Erez O, Romero R, Kim SS, et al. Over-expression of the thrombin receptor (par-1) in the placenta in preeclampsia: A mechanism for the intersection of coagulation and inflammation. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2008; 21: 345-355.
- 61. Weel IC, Baergen RN, Romao-Veiga M, Borges VT, Ribeiro VR, Witkin SS, Ban-

nwart-Castro C, Peracoli JC, De Oliveira L, Peracoli MT. Association between placental lesions, cytokines and angiogenic factors in pregnant women with preeclampsia. PLoS One. 2016; 11: e0157584.

- 62. Vinnars MT, Nasiell J, Ghazi S, Westgren M, Papadogiannakis N. The severity of clinical manifestations in preeclampsia correlates with the amount of placental infarction. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2011; 90: 19–25.
- 63. Stevens DU, Al-Nasiry S, Bulten J, Spaanderman ME. Decidual vasculopathy in preeclampsia: Lesion characteristics relate to disease severity and perinatal outcome. Placenta. 2013; 34: 805-809.
- 64. Mulloy B, Hogwood J, Gray E, Lever R, Page CP. Pharmacology of heparin and related drugs. Pharmacol Rev. 2016; 68: 76-141.
- 65. Mastrolia SA, Novack L, Thachil J, Rabinovich A, Pikovsky O, Klaitman V, Loverro G, Erez O. Lmwh in the prevention of preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction in women without thrombophilia. A systematic review and meta-analysis. Thromb Haemost. 2016; 116:
- 66. de Vries JI, van Pampus MG, Hague WM, Bezemer PD, Joosten JH. Low-molecular-weight heparin added to aspirin in the prevention of recurrent early-onset pre-eclampsia in women with inheritable thrombophilia: The fruit-rct. J Thromb Haemost. 2012; 10: 64-72.
- 67. Gan J, He H, Qi H. Preventing preeclampsia and its fetal complications with lowdose aspirin in east asians and non-east asians: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Hypertens Pregnancy. 2016: 1-10.
- Askie LM, Duley L, Henderson-Smart DJ, Stewart LA. Antiplatelet agents for prevention of pre-eclampsia: A meta-analysis of individual patient data. Lancet. 2007; 369: 1791-1798.
- 69. Burnett AE, Mahan CE, Vazquez SR, Oertel LB, Garcia DA, Ansell J. Guidance for the practical management of the direct oral anticoagulants (doacs) in vte treatment. J Thromb Thrombolysis. 2016; 41: 206-232.
- Harmon AC, Cornelius DC, Amaral LM, Faulkner JL, Cunningham MW, Jr., Wallace K, LaMarca B. The role of inflammation in the pathology of preeclampsia. Clin Sci (Lond). 2016; 130: 409-419.
- 71. Nesargikar PN, Spiller B, Chavez R. The complement system: History, pathways, cascade and inhibitors. Eur J Microbiol Immunol (Bp). 2012; 2: 103-111.
- Denny KJ, Woodruff TM, Taylor SM, Callaway LK. Complement in pregnancy: A delicate balance. Am J Reprod Immunol. 2013; 69: 3-11.
- Martinez-Varea A, Pellicer B, Perales-Marin A, Pellicer A. Relationship between maternal immunological response during pregnancy and onset of preeclampsia. J Immunol Res. 2014; 2014: 210241.
- Buurma A, Cohen D, Veraar K, Schonkeren D, Claas FH, Bruijn JA, Bloemenkamp KW, Baelde HJ. Preeclampsia is characterized by placental complement dysregulation. Hypertension. 2012; 60: 1332-1337.
- 75. Girardi G, Prohaszka Z, Bulla R, Tedesco F, Scherjon S. Complement activation in animal and human pregnancies as a model for immunological recognition. Mol

Immunol. 2011; 48: 1621-1630.

- 76. Derzsy Z, Prohaszka Z, Rigo J, Jr., Fust G, Molvarec A. Activation of the complement system in normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. Mol Immunol. 2010; 47: 1500–1506.
- 77. Penning M, Chua JS, van Kooten C, Zandbergen M, Buurma A, Schutte J, Bruijn JA, Khankin EV, Bloemenkamp K, Karumanchi SA, Baelde H. Classical complement pathway activation in the kidneys of women with preeclampsia. Hypertension. 2015; 66: 117-125.
- Qing X, Redecha PB, Burmeister MA, Tomlinson S, D'Agati VD, Davisson RL, Salmon JE. Targeted inhibition of complement activation prevents features of preeclampsia in mice. Kidney Int. 2011; 79: 331-339.
- 79. Mor G, Abrahams VM. Potential role of macrophages as immunoregulators of pregnancy. Reprod Biol Endocrinol. 2003; 1: 119.
- Kwan M, Hazan A, Zhang J, Jones RL, Harris LK, Whittle W, Keating S, Dunk CE, Lye SJ. Dynamic changes in maternal decidual leukocyte populations from first to second trimester gestation. Placenta. 2014; 35: 1027-1034.
- 81. Ning F, Liu H, Lash GE. The role of decidual macrophages during normal and pathological pregnancy. Am J Reprod Immunol. 2016; 75: 298-309.
- Lee CL, Guo Y, So KH, Vijayan M, Guo Y, Wong VH, Yao Y, Lee KF, Chiu PC, Yeung WS. Soluble human leukocyte antigen g5 polarizes differentiation of macrophages toward a decidual macrophage-like phenotype. Hum Reprod. 2015; 30: 2263-2274.
- Scholz C, Toth B, Santoso L, Kuhn C, Franz M, Mayr D, Jeschke U, Friese K, Schiessl B. Distribution and maturity of dendritic cells in diseases of insufficient placentation. Am J Reprod Immunol. 2008; 60: 238-245.
- Schjenken JE, Zhang B, Chan HY, Sharkey DJ, Fullston T, Robertson SA. Mirna regulation of immune tolerance in early pregnancy. Am J Reprod Immunol. 2016; 75: 272-280.
- 85. Triggianese P, Perricone C, Chimenti MS, De Carolis C, Perricone R. Innate immune system at the maternal-fetal interface: Mechanisms of disease and targets of therapy in pregnancy syndromes. Am J Reprod Immunol. 2016:
- 86. Burwick RM, Feinberg BB. Eculizumab for the treatment of preeclampsia/hellp syndrome. Placenta. 2013; 34: 201-203.
- Maruyama I, Bell CE, Majerus PW. Thrombomodulin is found on endothelium of arteries, veins, capillaries, and lymphatics, and on syncytiotrophoblast of human placenta. J Cell Biol. 1985; 101: 363–371.
- Conway EM. Thrombomodulin and its role in inflammation. Semin Immunopathol. 2012; 34: 107-125.
- Healy AM, Rayburn HB, Rosenberg RD, Weiler H. Absence of the blood-clotting regulator thrombomodulin causes embryonic lethality in mice before development of a functional cardiovascular system. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1995; 92: 850-854.
- 90. Isermann B, Hendrickson SB, Zogg M, Wing M, Cummiskey M, Kisanuki YY, Yanagisawa M, Weiler H. Endothelium-specific loss of murine thrombomodulin dis-

rupts the protein c anticoagulant pathway and causes juvenile-onset thrombosis. J Clin Invest. 2001; 108: 537-546.

- Maga TK, Nishimura CJ, Weaver AE, Frees KL, Smith RJ. Mutations in alternative pathway complement proteins in american patients with atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. Hum Mutat. 2010; 31: E1445-1460.
- Isermann B, Vinnikov IA, Madhusudhan T, et al. Activated protein c protects against diabetic nephropathy by inhibiting endothelial and podocyte apoptosis. Nat Med. 2007; 13: 1349-1358.
- 93. Boehme MW, Deng Y, Raeth U, Bierhaus A, Ziegler R, Stremmel W, Nawroth PP. Release of thrombomodulin from endothelial cells by concerted action of tnf-alpha and neutrophils: In vivo and in vitro studies. Immunology. 1996; 87: 134-140.
- 94. Wada H, Ohiwa M, Kaneko T, Tamaki S, Tanigawa M, Shirakawa S, Koyama M, Hayashi T, Suzuki K. Plasma thrombomodulin as a marker of vascular disorders in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura and disseminated intravascular coagulation. Am J Hematol. 1992; 39: 20-24.
- Oida K, Takai H, Maeda H, Takahashi S, Tamai T, Nakai T, Miyabo S, Ishii H. Plasma thrombomodulin concentration in diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 1990; 10: 193-196.
- 96. Boehme MW, Nawroth PP, Kling E, Lin J, Amiral J, Riedesel J, Raeth U, Scherbaum WA. Serum thrombomodulin. A novel marker of disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 1994; 37: 572-577.
- 97. Gando S, Nakanishi Y, Kameue T, Nanzaki S. Soluble thrombomodulin increases in patients with disseminated intravascular coagulation and in those with multiple organ dysfunction syndrome after trauma: Role of neutrophil elastase. J Trauma. 1995; 39: 660-664.
- Minakami H, Takahashi T, Izumi A, Tamada T. Increased levels of plasma thrombomodulin in preeclampsia. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 1993; 36: 208-210.
- 99. Dusse LM, Alpoim PN, Lwaleed BA, de Sousa LP, Carvalho M, Gomes KB. Is there a link between endothelial dysfunction, coagulation activation and nitric oxide synthesis in preeclampsia? Clin Chim Acta. 2013; 415: 226-229.
- Strijbos MH, Snijder CA, Kraan J, Lamers CH, Gratama JW, Duvekot JJ. Levels of circulating endothelial cells in normotensive and severe preeclamptic pregnancies. Cytometry B Clin Cytom. 2010; 78: 382-386.
- 101. Nakamura K, Inokuchi R, Hiruma T, Ohshima K, Sonoo T, Tokunaga K, Doi K, Nakajima S. Recombinant thrombomodulin for secondary thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016; 95: e3712.
- 102. Yamakawa K, Umemura Y, Hayakawa M, Kudo D, Sanui M, Takahashi H, Yoshikawa Y, Hamasaki T, Fujimi S. Benefit profile of anticoagulant therapy in sepsis: A nationwide multicentre registry in japan. Crit Care. 2016; 20: 229.
- 103. Kriz W, Lemley KV. Mechanical challenges to the glomerular filtration barrier: Adaptations and pathway to sclerosis. Pediatr Nephrol. 2016:
- 104. Telford Govan AD. Oedema in pregnancy. Lancet. 1967; 2: 895.

Introduction and outline

- 105. Li XL, Guo PL, Xue Y, Gou WL, Tong M, Chen Q. An analysis of the differences between early and late preeclampsia with severe hypertension. Pregnancy Hypertens. 2016; 6: 47-52.
- 106. Lopes van Balen VA, Spaan JJ, Cornelis T, Spaanderman ME. Prevalence of chronic kidney disease after preeclampsia. J Nephrol. 2016:
- 107. Wang IK, Muo CH, Chang YC, Liang CC, Chang CT, Lin SY, Yen TH, Chuang FR, Chen PC, Huang CC, Wen CP, Sung FC, Morisky DE. Association between hypertensive disorders during pregnancy and end-stage renal disease: A population-based study. Cmaj. 2013; 185: 207-213.
- Cagnoli L, Casanova S, Pasquali S. Correlations between glomerular epithelial changes and proteinuria in different glomerular diseases. [italian]. Minerva Nefrologica. 1980; 27: 155–158.
- 109. Penning M, Kelder T, Uh HW, Cohen D, Scherjon S, Bruijn JA, Bloemenkamp K, Baelde H. Qpcr-based analysis of podocyturia is a feasible diagnostic tool in preeclampsia. Pregnancy Hypertension. 2012; Conference: 228.
- 110. Spargo B, McCartney CP, Winemiller R. Glomerular capillary endotheliosis in toxemia of pregnancy. Arch Pathol. 1959; 68: 593-599.
- 111. Eremina V, Jefferson JA, Kowalewska J, et al. Vegf inhibition and renal thrombotic microangiopathy. New England Journal of Medicine. 2008; 358: 1129-1136.
- 112. Veron D, Villegas G, Aggarwal PK, Bertuccio C, Jimenez J, Velazquez H, Reidy K, Abrahamson DR, Moeckel G, Kashgarian M, Tufro A. Acute podocyte vascular endothelial growth factor (vegf-a) knockdown disrupts alphavbeta3 integrin signaling in the glomerulus. PLoS One. 2012; 7: e40589.
- 113. Venkatesha S, Toporsian M, Lam C, et al. Soluble endoglin contributes to the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. Nat Med. 2006; 12: 642-649.

# **Chapter 2**

# Genetic Variants in Preeclampsia: a Meta-Analysis

AJ Buurma, RJ Turner, JHM Driessen, AL Mooyaart, JW Schoones, JA Bruijn, KWM Bloemenkamp, OM Dekkers, JJ Baelde

Published in Human Reproduction Update

# ABSTRACT

# Background

Preeclampsia has a clear familial component, suggesting that the condition may be partly attributable to genetic susceptibility. The search for susceptibility genes has led to a drastic increase in the number of published studies associating genetic factors with preeclampsia. However, attempts to replicate these findings have yielded inconsistent results. This meta-analysis assessed the pooled effect of each genetic variant that is reproducibly associated with preeclampsia.

# Methods

Studies that assessed the association between genes and preeclampsia were searched in PubMed, Embase and Web of Science. We selected all genetic variants that were significantly associated with preeclampsia in an initial study and were subsequently independently reproduced in at least one additional study. All studies that assessed these reproduced variants were then included. The association between genetic variants and preeclampsia was calculated at the allele level, and the main measure of effect was a pooled odds ratio in a random-effects model.

# Results

The literature search yielded 2965 articles, of which 542 investigated genetic associations in pre-eclampsia. We identified 22 replicated genetic variants, of which 7 remained significantly associated with pre-eclampsia following metaanalysis. These variants were in or near the following genes: ACE, CTLA4, F2, FV, LPL and SERPINE1.

# Conclusions

This meta-analysis identified seven genetic variants associated with pre-eclampsia. Importantly, many of these variants are also risk factors for developing cardiovascular disease, revealing that pre-eclampsia and cardiovascular disease have shared genetic risk factors. The contribution of the identified genetic variants in the pathogenesis of pre-eclampsia should be the focus of future studies.

# INTRODUCTION

Preeclampsia is a severe pregnancy complication characterized by hypertension and proteinuria after 20 weeks of gestation. Globally, preeclampsia affects 5-8% of pregnancies and contributes significantly to maternal and fetal morbidity and mortality (Steegers *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, women with preeclampsia have an increased risk of developing cardiovascular disease later in life (Bellamy *et al.*, 2007). Because the precise etiology of preeclampsia remains unknown, accurate prediction and prevention of the condition are at present difficult.

Preeclampsia is believed to result from a complex interplay between genetic components and environmental factors. Evidence for a genetic component comes from family studies, which have shown that preeclampsia is relatively common among daughters and sisters of preeclamptic women (Arngrimsson *et al.*, 1990, Chesley *et al.*, 1986, Cincotta *et al.*, 1998, Esplin *et al.*, 2001, Nilsson *et al.*, 2004, Sutherland *et al.*, 1981). Furthermore, the prevalence of preeclampsia differs between various ethnic groups (Steegers *et al.*, 2010). However, the underlying genetics are complex, and it is currently unclear which genes are involved and how individual genetic variants contribute to preeclampsia.

Numerous genetic association studies have been performed to elucidate the genetic background of preeclampsia. An overview of candidate genes investigated in the setting of preeclampsia indicates a sharp increase in the number of published studies regarding genetic associations in preeclampsia, with three published studies in 1996 in contrast to 30 published studies in 2004 (Chappell and Morgan, 2006). However, attempts to replicate these studies have yielded inconsistent results. Although this lack of reproducibility can be due simply to population diversity, it is often the result of small sample sizes or false-positive results (Ioannidis *et al.*, 2001). Because the prior probabilities of genetic associations are low, the number of false-positive associations that are generated by chance alone is high. The likelihood of finding false-positive associations increases when low prior probabilities are not accounted for in the statistical analysis. Therefore, independently replicating an association is essential for identifying true genetic associations among the large number of false-positives.

The aim of this study was to compile an overview of the genetic variants that are truly associated with preeclampsia. Therefore, we performed a meta-analysis to assess the pooled effect of genetic variants that have been reproducibly associated with preeclampsia.

# METHODS

#### Literature search

The databases PubMed, Embase and Web of Science were searched through February 2012 for studies that evaluated genetic variants in preeclampsia. A comprehensive search strategy was developed in collaboration with a trained librarian. The search terms that were used in the search strategy included: "Preeclampsia" and "Polymorphisms" or "Genes". For these terms, all relevant keyword variants were included. The names of specific genes and polymorphisms that were yielded in the first search were added to the search strategy in subsequent searches. The search strategy was optimized for each database (see Supplementary data). Aside from limiting the searches to studies published in English, no other limits or filters were applied in the searches. In addition, references of other narrative and systematic reviews were checked for relevant articles.

#### **Eligibility criteria**

We searched for case-control studies that compared genetic variants between patients with preeclampsia and healthy women with uncomplicated pregnancies. We only included studies that defined preeclampsia as elevated blood pressure (with clear cut-off values for systolic and diastolic blood pressure) accompanied with proteinuria measured in at least a semiquantitative way, in line with the ISSHP (International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy) criteria (Brown et al., 2001). For inclusion, the study had to involve unrelated women. Studies in which the case group contained women with gestational hypertension were excluded, as were studies in which the control group contained subjects who had never been pregnant. All titles and abstracts were reviewed by two observers (AB and RT) who independently assessed whether the study investigated the relationship between preeclampsia and at least one genetic variant. Genetic association studies were screened for whether they contained a positive or negative association between an individual genetic variant and preeclampsia (based on the reported *p*-values, with association defined as significant when *p* <0.05). When a genetic variant was found to be significantly associated with preeclampsia (either at the allelic or genotypic level, including the recessive and dominant model) in at least two independent studies, that variant was considered to be reproduced. For these reproduced genetic variants, all other genetic studies–irrespective of their *p*-values–were identified to estimate the pooled effect of the variant on preeclampsia in a meta-analysis.

#### Data extraction

Allele frequencies were extracted and entered into separate databases by two authors independently. These two databases were then compared, and disparities were resolved by consensus. Multiple studies published by the same author(s) were checked for overlapping (i.e., redundant) participant groups, and in cases in which the studies overlapped, the study with the smaller dataset was excluded. When insufficient data was provided to calculate an odds ratio, at least two attempts were made to contact the corresponding author. When neither the published report nor the corresponding author provided sufficient data to calculate an odds ratio at the allele level, the study was excluded.

#### Statistical analysis

The main outcome of the meta-analysis was the pooled odds ratio (calculated at the allele level) for the association between reproduced genetic variants and preeclampsia. The frequency of the minor allele was compared between women with preeclampsia and healthy control subjects who had an uncomplicated pregnancy. The data were pooled using a random-effects model to account for between-study heterogeneity. To estimate heterogeneity, we used  $I^2$ , which reflects the percentage of total variation across studies that is due to heterogeneity rather than due to chance (Higgins *et al.*, 2003). Bias due to small study size was tested using a stratified analysis for study size as described previously (Serrano *et al.*, 2006). This analysis was performed only for genetic variants that were significantly associated with

preeclampsia after the meta-analysis and for which the number of studies that investigated the genetic variant was higher than ten. Publication bias was assessed using the Begg and Egger tests. In addition, we generated funnel plots of all reproduced genetic variants. All analyses were performed using STATA (StataCorp. 2011. Stata Statistical Software, Release 10. College Station, TX; StataC).

### RESULTS

The initial literature search yielded 2965 articles, 542 of which were genetic association studies regarding pre-eclampsia (Fig. 1). We identified 22 polymorphisms in 15 genes that were reproducibly associated with preeclampsia. Associations between these 22 variants and preeclampsia were described in 163 articles, representing 283 studies. These articles were published from 1993 through 2012. The number of studies per genetic variant ranged from 2 to 45, and the number of cases included in these studies ranged from 7 to 808.

In a random-effects meta-analysis, seven genetic variants in or near six genes were significantly associated with pre-eclampsia (Fig. 2a). The remaining 15 reproduced variants were not associated with preeclampsia following meta-analysis (Fig. 2b). The odds ratios of the significant associations with pre-eclampsia ranged from 1.20 to 2.42. The genes with the largest effect had wider confidence intervals, indicating less certainty in the effect estimates. No significant protective effect was found for any gene. Table I provides an overview of the analyses of all reproduced genetic variants as well as the location and the functional consequences of these genetic variants, and Table II provides the references of the included studies per genetic variant. The characteristics of all included studies, as well as forest plots of the individual reproduced genetic variants, funnel plots for assessment of publication bias and stratified analysis for study size are provided in Supplementary data. The cut-off values for hypertension and proteinuria in Supplementary data, Table II show that some studies included only women with severe pre-eclampsia.

#### Genetic variants involved in coagulation and fibrinolysis

Five genetic variants in four genes that are related to coagulation and fibrinolysis were associated reproducibly with pre-eclampsia. Of these five variants, four were still associated with pre-eclampsia after the metaanalysis. Two variants in coagulation factor V (FV), rs6025 and rs6020, remained associated with pre-eclampsia in the meta-analysis. The variant rs6025, which is also known as Factor V Leiden, was a frequently studied polymorphism in pre-eclampsia, with 40 studies resulting in a pooled odds ratio of 1.94 (95% CI 1.56-2.45). In a sensitivity analysis, the pooled odds ratio decreased slightly with increasing study size, decreasing from 1.99 in studies with <100 cases to 1.71 in studies with ≥200 cases. The variant rs6020 was reported in only two studies, resulting in a pooled odds ratio of 1.94 (95% CI 1.05- 3.60). A variant in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (MTHFR), rs1801133, was reported in 45 studies, resulting in a pooled odds ratio of 1.06 (95% CI 0.97-1.16). The variant rs1799963 of the coagulation factor II (F2) gene (also known as prothrombin) was investigated in 30 studies and was associated with pre-eclampsia with an odds ratio of 1.95 (95% CI 1.43-2.66). In a sensitivity analysis, the studies with the largest number of cases yielded the largest effect estimate, with an odds ratio of 3.84 (95% CI 2.18-6.78). The variant rs1799889 in serpin peptidase inhibitor (SERPINE1, also known as plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1) was associated with preeclampsia in the meta-analysis with an odds ratio of 1.17 (95% CI 1.03-1.33). When subdividing the studies based on the study size, the effect estimate diminished slightly from 1.21 in studies with <100 cases to 1.17 in studies with 100–200 cases and 1.14 in studies with  $\geq$ 200 cases.

#### Genetic variants involved in the renin-angiotensin system

The angiotensin I converting enzyme (ACE) rs4646994 variant has been studied frequently in pre-eclampsia, with 20 studies yielding a pooled odds ratio of 1.20 (95% CI 1.08–1.34). A stratified analysis revealed a diminishing effect as study size increased, with a pooled odds ratio of 1.45 (95% CI 1.21–1.73) for studies with <100 cases, which is in contrast with a pooled OR of 1.05 (95% CI 0.90–1.23) for pooled studies with  $\geq$ 200 cases. Both rs699 and rs4762 variants in angiotensinogen (AGT) were studied in 21 and 5 studies, respectively. The variant rs699 was not associated with pre-eclampsia after meta-analysis, with a pooled odds ratio of 1.23 (95% CI 0.98–1.54). The variant rs4762 was also not associated with pre-eclampsia, with an odds ratio of 1.25 (95% CI 0.67–2.30). Another variant in the renin–angiotensin system, rs5186 of angiotensin II receptor type 1 (AT1R), was investigated in nine studies and was not associated with pre-eclampsia after meta-analysis.

### Genetic variants involved in oxidative stress

Three variants in the nitric oxide synthase 3 (NOS3) gene were reproducibly associated with pre-eclampsia, but none was still associated with pre-eclampsia following the meta-analysis. The 27 bp-VNTR in intron 4 yielded a pooled odds ratio of 1.14 (95% CI 0.90–1.43), and the rs2070744 and rs1799983 variants yielded pooled odds ratios of 1.08 (95% CI 0.95–1.23) and 1.19 (95% CI 1.00–1.42), respectively.

# Genetic variants involved in inflammation

The cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA4) rs231775 variant was reported in four studies. The meta-analysis revealed an association with pre-eclampsia with a pooled odds ratio of 1.24 (95% CI 1.01–1.52). The rs1800896 variant of interleukin 10 (IL-10) was not associated with pre-eclampsia in the meta-analysis (OR 0.91, 95% CI 0.74–1.12). Two variants in the tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) gene (rs1800629 and rs1799724) were reproduced in pre-eclampsia but were not associated with pre-eclampsia after the meta-analysis, with odds ratios of 1.17 (95% CI 0.91–1.49) and 0.66 (95% CI 0.33–1.31), respectively.

#### Genetic variants involved in lipid metabolism

The variants rs1800590 and rs268 in the lipoprotein lipase (LPL) gene were reproduced in pre-eclampsia, but only rs268 remained associated with pre-eclampsia following the meta-analysis (OR 2.42, 95% CI 1.25–4.68). The combined rs429358 and rs7412 polymorphisms (E2 allele) in the apolipoprotein E (APOE) gene was reported in eight studies, yielding a pooled odds ratio of 0.86 (95% CI 0.66–1.13).

#### Genetic variants involved in other pathways

Two variants in the toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) gene, rs4986790 and rs4986791, were reported in four and three studies, respectively. Neither variant remained associated with pre-eclampsia following the meta-analysis. The rs3025039 variant in the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) gene was reproduced in pre-eclampsia, although the meta-analysis did not reveal a statistically significant association (OR 1.36, 95% CI 0.64–2.91).

# DISCUSSION

In this meta-analysis, seven genetic variants were found to be associated with pre-eclampsia. Meta-analysis for several individual genetic variants in the setting of pre-eclampsia has been performed previously. However, the present study provides the first complete and comprehensive overview of all genetic variants that are reproducibly associated with pre-eclampsia. These data may shed light on the pathogenesis of pre-eclampsia and thereby reveal molecular pathways that can be targeted in the management of this condition. Genetic variants in or near the ACE, CTLA4, F2, FV (two variants), LPL and SERPINE1 genes were associated with pre-eclampsia. The results of this meta-analysis suggest that the following systems may play a role in the pathogenesis of pre-eclampsia: the renin-angiotensin system, coagulation and fibrinolysis, lipid metabolism and inflammation. Functional studies are needed to elucidate the contribution of these variants and pathways to the pathogenesis of pre-eclampsia.

One genetic variant involved in the renin–angiotensin system remained associated with pre-eclampsia following the meta-analysis; the D (deletion) allele of ACE rs4646994. This finding is in line with a previous meta-analysis, which also revealed evidence of small study bias (Serrano et al., 2006). The ACE rs4646994 variant is known to be associated with increased activity of the angiotensinconverting enzyme (Sayed-Tabatabaei et al., 2006), which could increase the conversion of angiotensin I into angiotensin II, thus affecting the regulation of blood pressure and blood volume.

Pre-eclampsia is associated with an exaggerated maternal inflammatory response. Therefore, various candidate genes involved in inflammation have been studied in the setting of pre-eclampsia; only one genetic variant in CTLA-4 remained associated with pre-eclampsia after our meta-analysis. No previous meta-analysis of this variant in the setting of pre-eclampsia has been published to date. CTLA-4 plays an important role in the negative regulation of T-cell proliferation and activation. The G allele of CTLA4 rs231775 is associated with reduced surface expression of CTLA-4, possibly leading to increased T-cell proliferation and activation (Teft et al., 2006; Sun et al., 2008). Carrying the G allele of CTLA-4 could contribute to the maternal inflammatory response, thereby increasing the risk of developing preeclampsia.

With respect to genes involved in lipid metabolism, one variant in LPL remained associated with pre-eclampsia following the meta-analysis. No previous meta-analysis of this variant in the setting of pre-eclampsia has been published to date. The G allele of LPL rs268 is associated with reduced LPL activity and dyslipidemia (Fisher et al., 1997). Because dyslipidemia can contribute to endothelial cell dysfunction, carriers of the G allele may have an increased risk for developing pre-eclampsia (Mayret-Mesquiti et al., 2007).

After meta-analysis, several factors involved in coagulation and fibrinolysis remained associated with pre-eclampsia, which is largely in line with previous meta-analyses (Lin and August, 2005; Dudding et al., 2008). Normal pregnancy is associated with the development of a hypercoagulable, hypofibrinolytic state, which is exaggerated in pre-eclampsia. Thrombophilias can increase the risk of developing pre-eclampsia via placental thrombosis and effects on both trophoblast growth and differentiation (Isermann et al., 2003). The A allele of F2 rs1799963 is associated with both higher prothrombin levels and an increased risk of thrombosis (Kyrle et al., 1998; Ceelie et al., 2004). Two variants in FV are associated with pre-eclampsia. FV rs6025 causes activated protein C resistance and subsequent thrombophilic events. The A allele of FV rs6020 is also associated with a weak response to activated protein C (Le et al., 2000) and can therefore cause a predisposition to thrombotic events. The SERPINE1 gene encodes the plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 (PAI-1) protein, which is an important inhibitor of fibrinolysis. The 4G allele of SERPINE1 rs1799889 is associated with elevated plasma levels of PAI-1 (Ye et al., 1995). By increasing the inhibition of fibrinolysis, this genetic variant may contribute to the exaggerated hypercoagulable state that characterizes women with pre-eclampsia.

In accordance to previous meta-analyses, many genetic variants did not remain associated with pre-eclampsia following meta-analysis (Medica et al., 2007; Bombell and McGuire, 2008; Molvarec et al., 2008a, b, c; Xie et al., 2011). Perhaps this is due to the clinical variety of the cases that were included in the studies. Some studies, for instance, included only women with severe pre-eclampsia. It is, however, also likely that there is a true lack of association between pre-eclampsia and these genetic variants. Illustratively, publication bias can lead to the early publication of extreme, promising results, while subsequent (larger) studies often contradict these initial findings (Ioannidis and Trikalinos, 2005; Healy et al., 2006).

It is important to note that epidemiological studies have revealed a relationship between pre-eclampsia and cardiovascular morbidity and mortality later in life (Jonsdottir et al., 1995; Hannaford et al., 1997; Irgens et al., 2001; Smith et al., 2001; Rodie et al., 2004). Women who have had pre-eclampsia are more likely to develop cardiovascular disease, and preeclampsia and cardiovascular disease share various risk factors, including obesity, hypertension and diabetes (Steegers et al., 2010). Several of the variants that were associated with preeclampsia in this meta-analysis are also identified risk factors for developing cardiovascular disease. For example, the SERPINE1 rs1799889 variant, the FV rs6025 and the F2 rs1799963 variants are all associated with coronary disease (Ye et al., 2006). In addition, carriers of select LPL alleles have an increased risk for developing coronary disease, and the rs268 variant of LPL is associated with adverse lipid profiles (Sagoo et al., 2008). Thus, pre-eclampsia and cardiovascular disease have shared genetic risk factors as well as overlapping environmental risk factors. The presence of genetic variants may contribute to the increased risk of cardiovascular disease among women who have a history of pre-eclampsia. It would be interesting to investigate whether a combination of environmental and genetic risk factors can predict what women with pre-eclampsia will be more likely to develop cardiovascular disease later in life. In this way, preventive strategies that are tailored to the individual patient could be developed.

Our meta-analysis included only genetic variants that were associated with pre-eclampsia and for which independent replication was available. This approach has been described previously (Mooyaartetal.,2011)and aims to reduce the likelihood of reporting false-positive associations. However, by selecting only the genetic variants that are reproducibly associated with pre-eclampsia, genetic variants with smaller effect sizes might have been overlooked. For example, when variants were described in small studies that individually lacked sufficient power to detect modest effects, pooling these studies may have resulted in a significant association. Publication bias is an issue for concern in all meta-analyses. Studies yielding negative results are less likely to be published; as a result, authors might only report those associations that reach statistical significance, thereby omitting nonsignificant genetic associations. Together, these publication biases could result in an overrepresentation of significant effects. Therefore, the effect estimates that are reported in this study should be interpreted with caution, particularly when associations were based on a small number of studies and/ or relatively small groups of participants. In addition, small-study bias may have affected the outcomes of this meta-analysis. Small-study bias is a form of bias in which small studies regarding gene-disease associations report genetic effects that are not found - or are found at a much smaller magnitude - in larger studies. In addition to pre-eclampsia (Serrano et al., 2006), evidence for small-study bias has previously been reported with respect to both neurological and cardiovascular diseases (Keavney et al., 2000; Healy et al., 2006). When many small studies that report false-positive associations are pooled in a meta-analysis, conclusions drawn from that meta-analysis are likely to be unreliable. Therefore, results that are drawn from meta-analyses in which there is evidence of small-study bias should be interpreted with caution. To investigate whether small-study bias played a role in our analyses, we subdivided the studies based on the number of cases and performed a stratified analysis. We found that the ACE rs4646994 variant appeared to be subject to small-study bias. The rs6020 variant in FV was reported in only two studies; therefore, no study size-based analysis was performed for this variant. For the remaining variants, no change - or only a slight change - in effect estimates was observed with increasing study size. Moreover, it is important to note that in this study, the genes with the largest effects were generally associated with wider confidence intervals, suggesting greater uncertainty in their effect estimates.

Because the precise etiology of preeclampsia remains unknown, effective strategies for preventing and treating preeclampsia are currently lacking. The identification of genetic variants associated with preeclampsia susceptibility can lead to novel biological insights (McCarthy *et al.*, 2008) and result in new targets for the prevention and treatment of preeclampsia. However, in order to prevent (small-study) bias, genetic association studies should preferably

be performed using large (multi-center) cohorts. An alternate method for identifying new susceptibility genes is to use a hypothesis-free approach such as genome-wide association studies. In addition, next-generation sequencing - which allows the sequencing of DNA at unprecedented speeds may identify rare causal variants that are associated with preeclampsia. Aside from searching for novel susceptibility genes, future studies should also focus on assessing the relevance of previously detected and reproduced genetic variants.

In summary, this meta-analysis identified seven genetic variants in or near six different genes that are associated with preeclampsia. These genetic variants are likely to represent true associations. Moreover, this is the first study to report that preeclampsia and cardiovascular disease have genetic risk factors in common. Further studies investigating the relative contribution of these variants and the mechanisms by which they affect the risk of developing preeclampsia are warranted.

# SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Supplementary data are available at http://humupd.oxfordjournals.org/.

53

# REFERENCES

- 1. Aggarwal PK, Jain V, Jha V. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase, angiotensin-converting enzyme and angiotensinogen gene polymorphisms in hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. Hypertens Res 2010:33;473-477.
- 2. Aggarwal S, Dimri N, Tandon I, Agarwal S. Preeclampsia in North Indian women: the contribution of genetic polymorphisms. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2011:37;1335-1341.
- Agorastos T, Karavida A, Lambropoulos A, Constantinidis T, Tzitzimikas S, Chrisafi S, Saravelos H, Vavilis D, Kotsis A, Bontis J. Factor V Leiden and prothrombin G20210A mutations in pregnancies with adverse outcome. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2002:12;267-273.
- 4. Akbar SA, Khawaja NP, Brown PR, Tayyeb R, Bamfo J, Nicolaides KH. Angiotensin II type 1 and 2 receptors gene polymorphisms in pre-eclampsia and normal pregnancy in three different populations. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2009:88;606-611.
- Al-Habboubi HH, Sater MS, Almawi AW, Al-Khateeb GM, Almawi WY. Contribution of VEGF polymorphisms to variation in VEGF serum levels in a healthy population. *EurCytokine Netw* 2011:22;154–158.
- Alfirevic Z, Mousa HA, Martlew V, Briscoe L, Perez-Casal M, Toh CH. Postnatal screening for thrombophilia in women with severe pregnancy complications. Obstet Gynecol 2001:97;753-759.
- Also-Rallo E, Lopez-Quesada E, Urreizti R, Vilaseca MA, Lailla JM, Balcells S, Grinberg D. Polymorphisms of genes involved in homocysteine metabolism in preeclampsia and in uncomplicated pregnancies. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* 2005:120;45-52.
- Arngrimsson R, Bjornsson S, Geirsson RT, Bjornsson H, Walker JJ, Snaedal G. Genetic and familial predisposition to eclampsia and pre-eclampsia in a defined population. BrJObstetGynaecol 1990:97;762-769.
- Balam-Ortiz E, Esquivel-Villarreal A, Alfaro-Ruiz L, Carrillo K, Elizalde A, Gil T, Urushihara M, Kobori H, Jimenez-Sanchez G. Variants and haplotypes in angiotensinogen gene are associated with plasmatic angiotensinogen level in Mexican population. *AmJMedSci* 2011:342;205-211.
- Bashford MT, Hefler LA, Vertrees TW, Roa BB, Gregg AR. Angiotensinogen and endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene polymorphisms among Hispanic patients with preeclampsia. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2001:184;1345-1350.
- Bellamy L, Casas JP, Hingorani AD, Williams DJ. Pre-eclampsia and risk of cardiovascular disease and cancer in later life: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2007:335;974.
- Belo L, Gaffney D, Caslake M, Santos-Silva A, Pereira-Leite L, Quintanilha A, Rebelo I. Apolipoprotein E and cholesteryl ester transfer protein polymorphisms in normal and preeclamptic pregnancies. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2004:112;9-15.
- Benedetto C, Marozio L, Ciccone G, Chieppa G, Quaglia M, Matullo G, Bertola L, Guarrera S, Carturan S, Stratta P. Synergistic effect of renin-angiotensin system and nitric oxide synthase genes polymorphisms in pre-eclampsia. Acta Obstet Gy-

necol Scand 2007:86;678-682.

- Benedetto C, Marozio L, Salton L, Maula V, Chieppa G, Massobrio M. Factor V Leiden and factor II G20210A in preeclampsia and HELLP syndrome. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2002:81;1095-1100.
- 15. Bernard N, Girouard J, Forest JC, Giguere Y. The combination of ApoCIII, hepatic lipase and hormono sensitive lipase gene polymorphisms suggests an association with susceptibility to gestational hypertension. J Hum Genet 2007:52;244-254.
- Bertina RM, Koeleman BP, Koster T, Rosendaal FR, Dirven RJ, de RH, van der Velden PA, Reitsma PH. Mutation in blood coagulation factor V associated with resistance to activated protein C. Nature 1994:369;64-67.
- Best LG, Dorsam ST, Nadeau M, Burd L, Anderson CM. Genetic thrombophilia variants and risk for preeclampsia among American Indians. Hypertens Pregnancy 2009:28;85-94.
- Best LG, Nadeau M, Bercier S, Dauphinais S, Davis J, Davis K, Poitra S, Anderson CM. Genetic Variants, Endothelial Function, and Risk of Preeclampsia Among American Indians. Hypertens Pregnancy 2010.
- Best LG, Nadeau M, Davis K, Lamb F, Bercier S, Anderson CM. Genetic Variants, Immune Function, and Risk of Pre-Eclampsia among American Indians. Am J Reprod Immunol 2011.
- 20. Bouba I, Makrydimas G, Kalaitzidis R, Lolis DE, Siamopoulos KC, Georgiou I. Interaction between the polymorphisms of the renin-angiotensin system in preeclampsia. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2003:110;8-11.
- Canto-Cetina T, Canizales-Quinteros S, de la Chesnaye E, Coral-Vazquez R, Mendez JP, Canto P. Analysis of C-850T and G-308A polymorphisms of the tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene in Maya-Mestizo women with preeclampsia. *Hypertens Pregnan*cy 2007:26;283-291.
- 22. Canto P, Canto-Cetina T, Juarez-Velazquez R, Rosas-Vargas H, Rangel-Villalobos H, Canizales-Quinteros S, Velazquez-Wong AC, Villarreal-Molina MT, Fernandez G, Coral-Vazquez R. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T and glutathione S-transferase P1 A313G are associated with a reduced risk of preeclampsia in Maya-Mestizo women. Hypertens Res 2008:31;1015-1019.
- Ceelie H, Spaargaren-van Riel CC, Bertina RM, Vos HL. G20210A is a functional mutation in the prothrombin gene; effect on protein levels and 3'-end formation. J Thromb Haemost 2004:2;119-127.
- 24. Chen G, Wilson R, Wang SH, Zheng HZ, Walker JJ, McKillop JH. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) gene polymorphism and expression in pre-eclampsia. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1996:104;154-159.
- 25. Chen LK, Huang CH, Yeh HM, Lee CN, Shyu MK, Hsieh FJ, Lai LP, Sun WZ. Polymorphisms in the endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene may be protective against preeclampsia in a Chinese population. *Reprod Sci* 2007:14;175-181.
- Chesley LC, Cooper DW. Genetics of hypertension in pregnancy: possible single gene control of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia in the descendants of eclamptic women. BrJObstetGynaecol 1986:93;898-908.

- Chikosi AB, Moodley J, Pegoraro RJ, Lanning PA, Rom L. 5,10 methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase polymorphism in black South African women with pre-eclampsia. BrJ Obstet Gynaecol 1999:106;1219-1220.
- Chikosi AB, Moodley J, Pegoraro RJ, Lanning PA, Rom L. Apolipoprotein E polymorphism in South African Zulu women with preeclampsia. Hypertens Pregnancy 2000:19;309-314.
- 29. Choi H, Kang JY, Yoon HS, Han SS, Whang CS, Moon IG, Shin HH, Park JB. Association of Angiotensin-converting enzyme and angiotensinogen gene polymorphisms with preeclampsia. J Korean Med Sci 2004:19;253-257.
- Cincotta RB, Brennecke SP. Family history of pre-eclampsia as a predictor for pre-eclampsia in primigravidas. IntJGynaecolObstet 1998:60;23-27.
- Currie L, Peek M, McNiven M, Prosser I, Mansour J, Ridgway J. Is there an increased maternal-infant prevalence of Factor V Leiden in association with severe pre-eclampsia? BJOG 2002:109;191-196.
- Daher S, Sass N, Oliveira LG, Mattar R. Cytokine genotyping in preeclampsia. Am J Reprod Immunol 2006:55;130-135.
- Dalmaz CA, Santos KG, Botton MR, Tedoldi CL, Roisenberg I. Relationship between polymorphisms in thrombophilic genes and preeclampsia in a Brazilian population. Blood Cells MolDis 2006:37;107-110.
- 34. Davalos IP, Moran MC, Martinez-Abundis E, Gonzalez-Ortiz M, Flores-Martinez SE, Machorro V, Sandoval L, Figuera LE, Mena JP, Oliva JM et al. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase C677T polymorphism and Factor V Leiden variant in Mexican women with preeclampsia/eclampsia. Blood Cells MolDis 2005:35;66-69.
- 35. de Groot CJ, Bloemenkamp KW, Duvekot EJ, Helmerhorst FM, Bertina RM, Van Der Meer F, De RH, Oei SG, Kanhai HH, Rosendaal FR. Preeclampsia and genetic risk factors for thrombosis: a case-control study. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1999:181;975-980.
- de Groot CJ, Jansen MW, Bertina RM, Schonkeren JJ, Helmerhorst FM, Huizinga TW. Interleukin 10-2849AA genotype protects against pre-eclampsia. *Genes Immun* 2004:5;313-314.
- de Lima TH, Sass N, Mattar R, Moron AF, Torloni MR, Franchim CS, Daher S. Cytokine gene polymorphisms in preeclampsia and eclampsia. Hypertens Res 2009:32;565-569.
- De Maat MP, Jansen MW, Hille ET, Vos HL, Bloemenkamp KW, Buitendijk S, Helmerhorst FM, Wladimiroff JW, Bertina RM, de Groot CJ. Preeclampsia and its interaction with common variants in thrombophilia genes. J Thromb Haemost 2004:2;1588-1593.
- Demir SC, Evruke C, Ozgunen T, Kadayifci O, Altintas U, Kokangul S. The relationship between pregnancy induced hypertension and congenital thrombophilia. Saudi Med J 2006:27;1161-1166.
- Diaz-Olguin L, Coral-Vazquez RM, Canto-Cetina T, Canizales-Quinteros S, Ramirez RB, Fernandez G, Canto P. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase haplotypes are associated with preeclampsia in Maya mestizo women. Dis Markers 2011:31;83-89.
- 41. Dissanayake VH, Giles V, Jayasekara RW, Seneviratne HR, Kalsheker N, Broughton PF, Morgan L. A study of three candidate genes for pre-eclampsia in a Sinhalese

population from Sri Lanka. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2009:35;234-242.

- Dizon-Townson DS, Major H, Ward K. A promoter mutation in the tumor necrosis factor alpha gene is not associated with preeclampsia. J Reprod Immunol 1998:38;55– 61.
- Dizon-Townson DS, Nelson LM, Easton K, Ward K. The factor V Leiden mutation may predispose women to severe preeclampsia. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1996:175;902-905.
- 44. Dogan OO, Simsek Y, Celen S, Danisman N. Frequency of hereditary thrombophilia, anticoagulant activity, and homocysteine levels in patients with hemolysis, elevated liver functions and low thrombocyte count (HELLP) syndrome. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Research* 2011:37;527-533.
- Dusse LM, Carvalho MG, Braganca WF, Paiva SG, Godoi LC, Guimaraes DA, Fernandes AP. Inherited thrombophilias and pre-eclampsia in Brazilian women. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2007:134;20–23.
- 46. Eroglu Z, Yeniel AO, Toprak E, Kosova B, Turan OD, Ulukus M. Frequency of factor V Leiden (G1691A), prothrombin (G20210A) and methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase (C677T) genes mutations in woman with adverse pregnancy outcome. Journal of the Turkish German Gynecology Association 2006:7;195–201.
- 47. Esplin MS, Fausett MB, Fraser A, Kerber R, Mineau G, Carrillo J, Varner MW. Paternal and maternal components of the predisposition to preeclampsia. *NEnglJMed* 2001:344;867-872.
- Fabbro D, D'Elia AV, Spizzo R, Driul L, Barillari G, di LC, Marchesoni D, Damante G. Association between plasminogen activator inhibitor 1 gene polymorphisms and preeclampsia. *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 2003:56;17-22.
- 49. Faisel F, Romppanen EL, Hiltunen M, Helisalmi S, Laasanen J, Punnonen K, Salonen JT, Heinonen S. Susceptibility to pre-eclampsia in Finnish women is associated with R485K polymorphism in the factor V gene, not with Leiden mutation. *Eur J Hum Genet* 2004:12;187-191.
- 50. Fatini C, Sticchi E, Gensini F, Genuardi M, Tondi F, Gensini GF, Riviello C, Parretti E, Mello G, Abbate R. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene influences the risk of pre-eclampsia, the recurrence of negative pregnancy events, and the maternal-fe-tal flow. J Hypertens 2006:24;1823-1829.
- Fisher RM, Humphries SE, Talmud PJ. Common variation in the lipoprotein lipase gene: effects on plasma lipids and risk of atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis* 1997:135;145-159.
- 52. Franchim CS, Sass N, Mattar R, Pendeloski KP, Lin LH, Torloni MR, Daher S. Inflammatory mediators gene polymorphisms in preeclampsia. *Hypertens Pregnancy* 2011:30;338-346.
- 53. Francoual J, Audibert F, Trioche P, Chalas J, Capel L, Lindenbaum A, Labrune P, Frydman R. Is a polymorphism of the apolipoprotein E gene associated with preeclampsia? Hypertens Pregnancy 2002:21;127-133.
- 54. Freeman DJ, McManus F, Brown EA, Cherry L, Norrie J, Ramsay JE, Clark P, Walker ID, Sattar N, Greer IA. Short- and long-term changes in plasma inflammatory mark-

ers associated with preeclampsia. Hypertension 2004:44;708-714.

- 55. Frosst P, Blom HJ, Milos R, Goyette P, Sheppard CA, Matthews RG, Boers GJ, den HM, Kluijtmans LA, van den Heuvel LP. A candidate genetic risk factor for vascular disease: a common mutation in methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. *NatGenet* 1995:10;111-113.
- Galao AO, de Souza LH, da Costa BE, Scheibe RM, Poli de Figueiredo CE. Angiotensin-converting enzyme gene polymorphism in preeclampsia and normal pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2004:191;821-824.
- 57. Gebhardt GS, Peters WH, Hillermann R, Odendaal HJ, Carelse-Tofa K, Raijmakers MT, Steegers EA. Maternal and fetal single nucleotide polymorphisms in the epoxide hydrolase and gluthatione S-transferase P1 genes are not associated with pre-eclampsia in the Coloured population of the Western Cape, South Africa. J Obstet Gynaecol 2004:24;866-872.
- Gerhardt A, Goecke TW, Beckmann MW, Wagner KJ, Tutschek B, Willers R, Bender HG, Scharf RE, Zotz RB. The G20210A prothrombin-gene mutation and the plasminogen activator inhibitor (PAI-1) 5G/5G genotype are associated with early onset of severe preeclampsia. J Thromb Haemost 2005:3;686-691.
- Grandone E, Colaizzo D, Martinelli P, Pavone G, Errico M, Vecchione G, Margaglione M. Does endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene variation play a role in the occurrence of hypertension in pregnancy? *Hypertens Pregnancy* 2003:22;149-155.
- Grandone E, Margaglione M, Colaizzo D, Cappucci G, Scianname N, Montanaro S, Paladini D, Martinelli P, Di MG. Prothrombotic genetic risk factors and the occurrence of gestational hypertension with or without proteinuria. *Thromb Haemost* 1999:81;349-352.
- 61. Guo G, Wilton AN, Fu Y, Qiu H, Brennecke SP, Cooper DW. Angiotensinogen gene variation in a population case-control study of preeclampsia/eclampsia in Australians and Chinese. *Electrophoresis* 1997:18;1646-1649.
- 62. Gurdol F, Isbilen E, Yilmaz H, Isbir T, Dirican A. The association between preeclampsia and angiotensin-converting enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism. *Clin Chim Acta* 2004:341;127-131.
- 63. Haggerty CL, Ferrell RE, Hubel CA, Markovic N, Harger G, Ness RB. Association between allelic variants in cytokine genes and preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2005:193;209-215.
- Hakli T, Romppanen EL, Hiltunen M, Helisalmi S, Punnonen K, Heinonen S. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase polymorphism in preeclampsia. J Soc Gynecol Investig 2003:10;154–157.
- 65. Hannaford P, Ferry S, Hirsch S. Cardiovascular sequelae of toxaemia of pregnancy. Heart 1997:77;154-158.
- Healy DG, Abou-Sleiman PM, Casas JP, Ahmadi KR, Lynch T, Gandhi S, Muqit MM, Foltynie T, Barker R, Bhatia KP et al. UCHL-1 is not a Parkinson's disease susceptibility gene. Ann Neurol 2006:59;627-633.
- 67. Heiskanen J, Romppanen EL, Hiltunen M, Iivonen S, Mannermaa A, Punnonen K, Heinonen S. Polymorphism in the tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene in women with

preeclampsia. J Assist Reprod Genet 2002:19;220-223.

- Heiskanen JT, Pirskanen MM, Hiltunen MJ, Mannermaa AJ, Punnonen KR, Heinonen ST. Insertion-deletion polymorphism in the gene for angiotensin-converting enzyme is associated with obstetric cholestasis but not with preeclampsia. *Am J Ob*stet *Gynecol* 2001:185;600-603.
- 69. Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. BMJ 2003:327;557-560.
- Higgins JR, Kaiser T, Moses EK, North R, Brennecke SP. Prothrombin G20210A mutation: is it associated with pre-eclampsia? *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 2000:50;254-257.
- Hill LD, York TP, Kusanovic JP, Gomez R, Eaves LJ, Romero R, Strauss JF, III. Epistasis between COMT and MTHFR in maternal-fetal dyads increases risk for preeclampsia. PLoS One 2011:6;e16681.
- 72. Hillermann R, Carelse K, Gebhardt GS. The Glu298Asp variant of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene is associated with an increased risk for abruptio placentae in pre-eclampsia. J Hum Genet 2005:50;415-419.
- 73. Hillermann R, Gebhardt GS, Isaacs R, Steyn DW, Odendaal HJ. Mutations in prothrombin and factor V genes do not contribute significantly to placental vasculopathy in a high-risk patient cohort in South Africa [10]. South African Medical Journal 2002:92;526-527.
- 74. Hiltunen LM, Laivuori H, Rautanen A, Kaaja R, Kere J, Krusius T, Paunio M, Rasi V. Blood group AB and factor V Leiden as risk factors for pre-eclampsia: a population-based nested case-control study. *Thromb Res* 2009:124;167-173.
- Hubel CA, Roberts JM, Ferrell RE. Association of pre-eclampsia with common coding sequence variations in the lipoprotein lipase gene. Clin Genet 1999:56;289-296.
- Ioannidis JP, Ntzani EE, Trikalinos TA, Contopoulos-Ioannidis DG. Replication validity of genetic association studies. Nat Genet 2001:29;306-309.
- Irgens HU, Reisaeter L, Irgens LM, Lie RT. Long term mortality of mothers and fathers after pre-eclampsia: population based cohort study. BMJ 2001:323;1213-1217.
- Isermann B, Sood R, Pawlinski R, Zogg M, Kalloway S, Degen JL, Mackman N, Weiler H. The thrombomodulin-protein C system is essential for the maintenance of pregnancy. Nat Med 2003:9;331-337.
- Jaaskelainen E, Keski-Nisula L, Toivonen S, Romppanen EL, Helisalmi S, Punnonen K, Heinonen S. MTHFR C677T polymorphism is not associated with placental abruption or preeclampsia in Finnish women. *Hypertens Pregnancy* 2006:25;73-80.
- Jaaskelainen E, Toivonen S, Keski-Nisula L, Paattiniemi EL, Helisalmi S, Punnonen K, Heinonen S. CTLA-4 polymorphism 49A-G is associated with placental abruption and preeclampsia in Finnish women. *Clin Chem Lab Med* 2008:46;169-173.
- Jarvenpaa J, Pakkila M, Savolainen ER, Perheentupa A, Jarvela I, Ryynanen M. Evaluation of factor V Leiden, prothrombin and methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene mutations in patients with severe pregnancy complications in northern Finland. *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 2006:62;28-32.
- 82. Jenkins LD, Powers RW, Cooper M, Gallaher MJ, Markovic N, Ferrell R, Ness RB, Rob-

erts JM. Preeclampsia risk and angiotensinogen polymorphisms M235T and AGT -217 in African American and Caucasian women. *Reprod Sci* 2008:15;696-701.

- Jeunemaitre X, Soubrier F, Kotelevtsev YV, Lifton RP, Williams CS, Charru A, Hunt SC, Hopkins PN, Williams RR, Lalouel JM. Molecular basis of human hypertension: role of angiotensinogen. *Cell* 1992:71;169–180.
- Jonsdottir LS, Arngrimsson R, Geirsson RT, Sigvaldason H, Sigfusson N. Death rates from ischemic heart disease in women with a history of hypertension in pregnancy. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1995:74;772–776.
- Kahn SR, Platt R, McNamara H, Rozen R, Chen MF, Genest J, Jr., Goulet L, Lydon J, Seguin L, Dassa C et al. Inherited thrombophilia and preeclampsia within a multicenter cohort: the Montreal Preeclampsia Study. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2009:200;151-159.
- 86. Kaiser T, Brennecke SP, Moses EK. C677T methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase polymorphism is not a risk factor for pre-eclampsia/eclampsia among Australian women. *Hum Hered* 2001:51;20-22.
- Kaiser T, Grehan M, Brennecke SP, Moses EK. Association of the TNF2 allele with eclampsia. Gynecol Obstet Invest 2004:57;204–209.
- Kamali-Sarvestani E, Kiany S, Gharesi-Fard B, Robati M. Association study of IL-10 and IFN-gamma gene polymorphisms in Iranian women with preeclampsia. J Reprod Immunol 2006;72;118-126.
- Kankova K, Benes P, Unzeitig V, Izakovicova-Holla L, Znojil V, Vacha J. Lack of association between pregnancy-induced hypertension and familial thrombophilia in a Czech population. Prenatal and Neonatal Medicine 2000:5;223-229.
- 90. Karakantza M, Androutsopoulos G, Mougiou A, Sakellaropoulos G, Kourounis G, Decavalas G. Inheritance and perinatal consequences of inherited thrombophilia in Greece. International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics 2008:100;124-129.
- 91. Karimi S, Yavarian M, Azinfar A, Rajaei M, Kootenaee MA. Evaluation the frequency of factor V Leiden mutation in pregnant women with preeclampsia syndrome in an Iranian population. *Iranian Journal of Reproductive Medicine* 2012:10;59-66.
- 92. Kaur R, Jain V, Khuller M, Gupta I, Sherawat BS. Association of angiotensin-converting enzyme gene polymorphism with pregnancy-induced hypertension. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* 2005:84;929-933.
- 93. Keavney B, McKenzie C, Parish S, Palmer A, Clark S, Youngman L, Delepine M, Lathrop M, Peto R, Collins R. Large-scale test of hypothesised associations between the angiotensin-converting-enzyme insertion/deletion polymorphism and myocardial infarction in about 5000 cases and 6000 controls. International Studies of Infarct Survival (ISIS) Collaborators. Lancet 2000:355;434-442.
- Kiechl S, Lorenz E, Reindl M, Wiedermann CJ, Oberhollenzer F, Bonora E, Willeit J, Schwartz DA. Toll-like receptor 4 polymorphisms and atherogenesis. NEnglJMed 2002:347;185-192.
- 95. Kim YJ, Park BH, Park H, Jung SC, Pang MG, Ryu HM, Lee KS, Eom SM, Park HY. No association of the genetic polymorphisms of endothelial nitric oxide synthase, dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase, and vascular endothelial growth factor

with preeclampsia in Korean populations. Twin Res Hum Genet 2008:11;77-83.

- 96. Kim YJ, Park HS, Lee HY, Ha EH, Suh SH, Oh SK, Yoo HS. Reduced L-arginine level and decreased placental eNOS activity in preeclampsia. *Placenta* 2006:27;438-444.
- 97. Kim YJ, Park MH, Park HS, Lee KS, Ha EH, Pang MG. Associations of polymorphisms of the angiotensinogen M235 polymorphism and angiotensin-converting-enzyme intron 16 insertion/deletion polymorphism with preeclampsia in Korean women. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2004:116;48-53.
- Kim YJ, Williamson RA, Chen K, Smith JL, Murray JC, Merrill DC. Lipoprotein lipase gene mutations and the genetic susceptibility of preeclampsia. *Hypertension* 2001:38;992-996.
- 99. Kim YJ, Williamson RA, Murray JC, Andrews J, Pietscher JJ, Peraud PJ, Merrill DC. Genetic susceptibility to preeclampsia: roles of cytosineto-thymine substitution at nucleotide 677 of the gene for methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase, 68-base pair insertion at nucleotide 844 of the gene for cystathionine beta-synthase, and factor V Leiden mutation. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2001:184;1211–1217.
- 100. Klai S, Fekih-Mrissa N, El HS, Kaabechi N, Nsiri B, Rachdi R, Gritli N. Association of MTHFR A1298C polymorphism (but not of MTHFR C677T) with elevated homocysteine levels and placental vasculopathies. Blood CoagulFibrinolysis 2011:22;374-378.
- 101. Knyrim E, Muetze S, Eggermann T, Rudnik-Schoeneborn S, Lindt R, Ortlepp JR, Rath W, Zerres K. Genetic analysis of the angiotensinogen gene in pre-eclampsia: study of german women and review of the literature. *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 2008:66;203-208.
- 102. Kobashi G, Hata A, Shido K, Kato EH, Yamada H, Fujimoto S, Kishi R, Kondo K. Association of a variant of the angiotensinogen gene with pure type of hypertension in pregnancy in the Japanese: implication of a racial difference and significance of an age factor. *Am J Med Genet* 1999:86;232-236.
- 103. Kobashi G, Hata A, Shido K, Ohta K, Yamada H, Kato EH, Minakami H, Tamashiro H, Fujimoto S, Kondo K. Insertion/deletion polymorphism of the angiotensin-converting enzyme gene and preeclampsia in Japanese patients. *Semin Thromb Hemost* 2005:31;346-350.
- 104. Kobashi G, Ohta K, Yamada H, Hata A, Minakami H, Sakuragi N, Tamashiro H, Fujimoto S. 4G/5G variant of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 gene and severe pregnancy-induced hypertension: subgroup analyses of variants of angiotensinogen and endothelial nitric oxide synthase. J Epidemiol 2009:19;275-280.
- 105. Kobashi G, Yamada H, Asano T, Nagano S, Hata A, Kishi R, Fujimoto S, Kondo K. Absence of association between a common mutation in the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene and preeclampsia in Japanese women. Am J Med Genet 2000:93;122-125.
- 106. Kobashi G, Yamada H, Ohta K, Kato E, Ebina Y, Fujimoto S. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene (NOS3) variant and hypertension in pregnancy. *Am J Med Genet* 2001:103;241-244.
- 107. Kosyankova TV, Eremina ER, Puzyrev VP, Salyukov VB. Polymorphism of the angiotensinogen gene T174 variant in Siberian populations. *Russian Journal of Genetics*

2000:36;289-292.

- 108. Kroeger KM, Carville KS, Abraham LJ. The -308 tumor necrosis factor-alpha promoter polymorphism effects transcription. *MolImmunol* 1997:34;391-399.
- 109. Kunz R, Kreutz R, Beige J, Distler A, Sharma AM. Association between the angiotensinogen 235T-variant and essential hypertension in whites: a systematic review and methodological appraisal. *Hypertension* 1997:30;1331-1337.
- Kupferminc MJ, Eldor A, Steinman N, Many A, Bar-Am A, Jaffa A, Fait G, Lessing JB. Increased frequency of genetic thrombophilia in women with complications of pregnancy. N Engl J Med 1999:340;9-13.
- Kupferminc MJ, Fait G, Many A, Gordon D, Eldor A, Lessing JB. Severe preeclampsia and high frequency of genetic thrombophilic mutations. Obstet Gynecol 2000:96;45-49.
- 112. Kupferminc MJ, Peri H, Zwang E, Yaron Y, Wolman I, Eldor A. High prevalence of the prothrombin gene mutation in women with intrauterine growth retardation, abruptio placentae and second trimester loss. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2000:79;963-967.
- 113. Kyrle PA, Mannhalter C, Beguin S, Stumpflen A, Hirschl M, Weltermann A, Stain M, Brenner B, Speiser W, Pabinger I et al. Clinical studies and thrombin generation in patients homozygous or heterozygous for the G20210A mutation in the prothrombin gene. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998:18;1287-1291.
- Laivuori H, Kaaja R, Ylikorkala O, Hiltunen T, Kontula K. 677 C-->T polymorphism of the methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene and preeclampsia. Obstet Gynecol 2000:96;277-280.
- 115. Landau R, Xie HG, Dishy V, Wood AJ, Stein CM, Smiley RM. No association of the Asp298 variant of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene with preeclampsia. Am J Hypertens 2004:17;391-394.
- 116. Larciprete G, Gioia S, Angelucci PA, Brosio F, Barbati G, Angelucci GP, Frigo MG, Baiocco F, Romanini ME, Arduini D et al. Single inherited thrombophilias and adverse pregnancy outcomes. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2007:33;423-430.
- 117. Le W, Yu JD, Lu L, Tao R, You B, Cai X, Cao WJ, Huang W, He RM, Zhu DL et al. Association of the R485K polymorphism of the factor V gene with poor response to activated protein C and increased risk of coronary artery disease in the Chinese population. *Clin Genet* 2000:57;296-303.
- 118. Levesque S, Moutquin JM, Lindsay C, Roy MC, Rousseau F. Implication of an AGT haplotype in a multigene association study with pregnancy hypertension. *Hypertension* 2004:43;71-78.
- 119. Li H, Ma Y, Fu Q, Wang L. Angiotensin-converting enzyme insertion/deletion (ACE I/D) and angiotensin II type 1 receptor (AT1R) gene polymorphism and its association with preeclampsia in Chinese women. Hypertens Pregnancy 2007:26;293-301.
- 120. Lindoff C, Ingemarsson I, Martinsson G, Segelmark M, Thysell H, Astedt B. Preeclampsia is associated with a reduced response to activated protein C. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1997:176;457-460.
- 121. Lindqvist PG, Svensson PJ, Dahlback B, Marsal K. Factor V Q506 mutation (activated

protein C resistance) associated with reduced intrapartum blood loss--a possible evolutionary selection mechanism. *Thromb Haemost* 1998:79;69-73.

- 122. Livingston JC, Barton JR, Park V, Haddad B, Phillips O, Sibai BM. Maternal and fetal inherited thrombophilias are not related to the development of severe preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 2001:185;153–157.
- 123. Makkonen N, Heinonen S, Hiltunen M, Helisalmi S, Mannermaa A, Kirkinen P. Apolipoprotein E alleles in women with pre-eclampsia. J Clin Pathol 2001:54;652-654.
- 124. Malek-Khosravi S, Rahimi Z, Jalilvand F, Parsian A. Thrombophilic mutations and susceptibility to preeclapmsia in Western Iran. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2011.
- 125. Mando C, Antonazzo P, Tabano S, Zanutto S, Pileri P, Somigliana E, Colleoni F, Martinelli A, Zolin A, Benedetto C et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme and adducin-1 polymorphisms in women with preeclampsia and gestational hypertension. *Reprod* Sci 2009:16;819–826.
- 126. Mayret-Mesquiti M, Perez-Mendez O, Rodriguez ME, Fortoul TI, Gorocica P, Bernal-Alcantara D, Montano LF, Alvarado-Vasquez N. Hypertriglyceridemia is linked to reduced nitric oxide synthesis in women with hypertensive disorders of pregnancy. Hypertens Pregnancy 2007:26;423-431.
- 127. McCarthy MI, Abecasis GR, Cardon LR, Goldstein DB, Little J, Ioannidis JP, Hirschhorn JN. Genome-wide association studies for complex traits: consensus, uncertainty and challenges. Nat Rev Genet 2008:9;356-369.
- 128. Mello G, Parretti E, Marozio L, Pizzi C, Lojacono A, Frusca T, Facchinetti F, Benedetto C. Thrombophilia is significantly associated with severe preeclampsia: results of a large-scale, case-controlled study. *Hypertension* 2005:46;1270-1274.
- 129. Mello G, Parretti E, Martini E, Mecacci F, La TP, Cioni R, Lucchetti R, Fedi S, Gori AM, Pepe G et al. Usefulness of screening for congenital or acquired hemostatic abnormalities in women with previous complicated pregnancies. *Haemostasis* 1999:29;197-203.
- 130. Mendilcioglu I, Bilgen T, Arikan Y, Keser I, Simsek M, Timuragaoglu A. The association between inherited thrombophilias and pregnancy-related hypertension recurrence. Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics 2011:284;837-841.
- 131. Mirahmadian M, Kalantar F, Heidari G, Safdarian L, Mansouri R, Amirzargar AA. Association of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-10 gene polymorphisms in Iranian patients with pre-eclampsia. *Am J Reprod Immunol* 2008:60;179-185.
- Miskovic B, Sertic J, Stavljenic-Rukavina A, Stipoljev F. Association of angiotensin-converting enzyme insertion-deletion polymorphism with preeclampsia. Coll Antropol 2008:32;339-343.
- 133. Mislanova C, Martsenyuk O, Huppertz B, Obolenskaya M. Placental markers of folate-related metabolism in preeclampsia. *Reproduction* 2011:142;467-476.
- 134. Molvarec A, Jermendy A, Kovacs M, Prohaszka Z, Rigo J, Jr. Toll-like receptor 4 gene polymorphisms and preeclampsia: lack of association in a Caucasian population. *Hypertens* Res 2008:31;859–864.
- 135. Molvarec A, Jermendy A, Nagy B, Kovacs M, Varkonyi T, Hupuczi P, Prohaszka Z, Rigo J, Jr. Association between tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha G-308A gene polymor-

phism and preeclampsia complicated by severe fetal growth restriction. *Clin Chim* Acta 2008:392;52-57.

- 136. Mooyaart AL, Valk EJ, van Es LA, Bruijn JA, de Heer E, Freedman BI, Dekkers OM, Baelde HJ. Genetic associations in diabetic nephropathy: a meta-analysis. *Diabeto-logia* 2011:54;544-553.
- Morgan L, Crawshaw S, Baker PN, Brookfield JF, Broughton PF, Kalsheker N. Distortion of maternal-fetal angiotensin II type 1 receptor allele transmission in pre-eclampsia. J Med Genet 1998:35;632-636.
- 138. Morgan L, Crawshaw S, Baker PN, Broughton PF, Kalsheker N. Maternal and fetal angiotensinogen gene allele sharing in pre-eclampsia. Br J Obstet Gynaecol 1999:106;244-251.
- 139. Morgan L, Foster F, Hayman R, Crawshaw S, Baker PN, Broughton PF, Kalsheker N. Angiotensin-converting enzyme insertion-deletion polymorphism in normotensive and pre-eclamptic pregnancies. J Hypertens 1999:17;765-768.
- 140. Morrison ER, Miedzybrodzka ZH, Campbell DM, Haites NE, Wilson BJ, Watson MS, Greaves M, Vickers MA. Prothrombotic genotypes are not associated with pre-eclampsia and gestational hypertension: results from a large population-based study and systematic review. Thromb Haemost 2002:87;779-785.
- 141. Mozgovaia EV, Malysheva OV, Ivashchenko TE, Baranov VS. Genetic predisposition to pre-eclampsia: Polymorphism of genes involved in regulation of endothelial functions. Balkan Journal of Medical Genetics 2002:5;19-26.
- 142. Murphy RP, Donoghue C, Nallen RJ, D'Mello M, Regan C, Whitehead AS, Fitzgerald DJ. Prospective evaluation of the risk conferred by factor V Leiden and thermolabile methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase polymorphisms in pregnancy. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000:20;266-270.
- 143. Nagy B, Hupuczi P, Papp Z. High frequency of methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase 677TT genotype in Hungarian HELLP syndrome patients determined by quantitative real-time PCR. *Journal of Human Hypertension* 2007:21;154-158.
- 144. Nagy B, Rigo J, Jr., Fintor L, Karadi I, Toth T. Apolipoprotein E alleles in women with severe pre-eclampsia. J Clin Pathol 1998:51;324-325.
- 145. Nakayama M, Yasue H, Yoshimura M, Shimasaki Y, Kugiyama K, Ogawa H, Motoyama T, Saito Y, Ogawa Y, Miyamoto Y et al. T-786-->C mutation in the 5'-flanking region of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene is associated with coronary spasm. *Circulation* 1999:99;2864-2870.
- 146. Nilsson E, Salonen RH, Cnattingius S, Lichtenstein P. The importance of genetic and environmental effects for pre-eclampsia and gestational hypertension: a family study. BJOG 2004:111;200-206.
- 147. Nishizawa H, Pryor-Koishi K, Suzuki M, Kato T, Sekiya T, Tada S, Kurahashi H, Udagawa Y. Analysis of nitric oxide metabolism as a placental or maternal factor underlying the etiology of pre-eclampsia. *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 2009:68;239-247.
- 148. O'Shaughnessy KM, Fu B, Downing S, Morris NH. Thrombophilic polymorphisms in pre-eclampsia: altered frequency of the functional 98C>T polymorphism of glyco-protein IIIa. J Med Genet 2001:38;775-777.

- 149. O'Shaughnessy KM, Fu B, Ferraro F, Lewis I, Downing S, Morris NH. Factor V Leiden and thermolabile methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene variants in an East Anglian preeclampsia cohort. *Hypertension* 1999:33;1338-1341.
- 150. Ohta K, Kobashi G, Hata A, Yamada H, Minakami H, Fujimoto S, Kondo K, Tamashiro H. Association between a variant of the glutathione S-transferase P1 gene (GSTP1) and hypertension in pregnancy in Japanese: interaction with parity, age, and genetic factors. Semin Thromb Hemost 2003:29;653-659.
- 151. Omar SZ, Qvist R, Khaing SL, Muniandy S, Bhalla S. Thrombophilic mutations in pre-eclampsia and pregnancy-induced hypertension. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2008:34;174-178.
- 152. Ozturk E, Balat O, Pehlivan S, Ugur MG, Ozcan C, Sever T, Kul S. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene polymorphisms in preeclampsia with or without eclampsia in a Turkish population. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2011.
- 153. Papazoglou D, Galazios G, Koukourakis MI, Panagopoulos I, Kontomanolis EN, Papatheodorou K, Maltezos E. Vascular endothelial growth factor gene polymorphisms and pre-eclampsia. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2004:10;321-324.
- 154. Pappa KI, Roubelakis M, Vlachos G, Marinopoulos S, Zissou A, Anagnou NP, Antsaklis A. Variable effects of maternal and paternal-fetal contribution to the risk for preeclampsia combining GSTP1, eNOS, and LPL gene polymorphisms. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2011:24;628-635.
- 155. Pazarbasi A, Kasap M, Guzel AI, Kasap H, Onbasioglu M, Ozbakir B, Demirkazik A, Ozgunen FT, Gurtunc E. Polymorphisms in the tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene in Turkish women with pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. Acta Med Okayama 2007:61;153– 160.
- 156. Pegoraro RJ, Chikosi A, Rom L, Roberts C, Moodley J. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene polymorphisms in black South Africans and the association with preeclampsia. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2004:83;449-454.
- 157. Pegoraro RJ, Hira B, Rom L, Moodley J. Plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 (PAII) and platelet glycoprotein IIIa (PGIIIa) polymorphisms in Black South Africans with pre-eclampsia. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2003:82;313-317.
- 158. Pendeloski KP, Sass N, Torloni MR, Mattar R, Moron AF, Franchim CS, Daher S. Immunoregulatory gene polymorphisms in women with preeclampsia. Hypertens Res 2011:34;384-388.
- 159. Perez-Mutul J, Gonzalez-Herrera L, Sosa-Cabrera T, Martinez-Olivares R. A mutation in the 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene is not associated with preeclampsia in women of southeast Mexico. Arch Med Res 2004:35;231-234.
- 160. Plummer S, Tower C, Alonso P, Morgan L, Baker P, Broughton-Pipkin F, Kalsheker N. Haplotypes of the angiotensin II receptor genes AGTR1 and AGTR2 in women with normotensive pregnancy and women with preeclampsia. *Hum Mutat* 2004:24;14-20.
- 161. Poort SR, Rosendaal FR, Reitsma PH, Bertina RM. A common genetic variation in the 3'-untranslated region of the prothrombin gene is associated with elevated plasma prothrombin levels and an increase in venous thrombosis. Blood 1996:88;3698-3703.
- 162. Powers RW, Minich LA, Lykins DL, Ness RB, Crombleholme WR, Roberts JM. Meth-

ylenetetrahydrofolate reductase polymorphism, folate, and susceptibility to preeclampsia. J Soc Gynecol Investig 1999:6;74-79.

- 163. Prasmusinto D, Skrablin S, Fimmers R, van dV. Ethnic differences in the association of factor V Leiden mutation and the C677T methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene polymorphism with preeclampsia. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol 2004:112;162-169.
- 164. Prasmusinto D, Skrablin S, Hofstaetter C, Fimmers R, van dV. The methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase 677 C-->T polymorphism and preeclampsia in two populations. Obstet Gynecol 2002:99;1085-1092.
- 165. Procopciuc L, Caracostea G, Iordache G, Olteanu I, Stamatian F. Influence of RAS Polymorphisms on the Development and Perinatal Outcome of Preeclampsia. Genetic RAS Evaluation. *Gineco Ro* 2009:5;88-93.
- 166. Procopciuc L, Jebeleanu G, Surcel I, Puscas M. Angiotensinogen gene M235T variant and pre-eclampsia in Romanian pregnant women. J Cell Mol Med 2002:6;383-388.
- 167. Procopciuc LM, Caracostea G, Zaharie G, Puscas M, Iordache G, Olteanu I, Stamatian F. Mutant Maternal and Fetal Thrombophilic Genotypes as a Risk Factor for Preeclampsia. Gineco Ro 2010:6;74-81.
- 168. Procopciuc LM, Hazi GM, Caracostea G, Nemeti G, Olteanu I, Stamatian F. Apolipoprotein E polymorphism - a risk factor in Romanian pregnant women with preeclampsia. *Gineco Ro* 2011:7;134-140.
- 169. Puthothu B, Bierbaum S, Kopp MV, Forster J, Heinze J, Weckmann M, Krueger M, Heinzmann A. Association of TNF-alpha with severe respiratory syncytial virus infection and bronchial asthma. *PediatrAllergy Immunol* 2009:20;157-163.
- 170. Rajkovic A, Mahomed K, Rozen R, Malinow MR, King IB, Williams MA. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase 677 C --> T polymorphism, plasma folate, vitamin B(12) concentrations, and risk of preeclampsia among black African women from Zimbabwe. Mol Genet Metab 2000:69;33-39.
- 171. Rigo J, Jr., Nagy B, Fintor L, Tanyi J, Beke A, Karadi I, Papp Z. Maternal and neonatal outcome of preeclamptic pregnancies: the potential roles of factor V Leiden mutation and 5,10 methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase. *Hypertens Pregnancy* 2000:19;163–172.
- 172. Roberts CB, Rom L, Moodley J, Pegoraro RJ. Hypertension-related gene polymorphisms in pre-eclampsia, eclampsia and gestational hypertension in Black South African women. J Hypertens 2004:22;945–948.
- 173. Rodie VA, Freeman DJ, Sattar N, Greer IA. Pre-eclampsia and cardiovascular disease: metabolic syndrome of pregnancy? *Atherosclerosis* 2004:175;189-202.
- 174. Ruggiero D, Dalmasso C, Nutile T, Sorice R, Dionisi L, Aversano M, Broet P, Leutenegger AL, Bourgain C, Ciullo M. Genetics of VEGF serum variation in human isolated populations of cilento: importance of VEGF polymorphisms. PLoSOne 2011:6;e16982.
- 175. Saarela T, Hiltunen M, Helisalmi S, Heinonen S, Laakso M. Tumour necrosis factor-alpha gene haplotype is associated with pre-eclampsia. Mol Hum Reprod 2005:11;437-440.
- 176. Sagoo GS, Tatt I, Salanti G, Butterworth AS, Sarwar N, van Maarle M, Jukema JW,

Wiman B, Kastelein JJ, Bennet AM et al. Seven lipoprotein lipase gene polymorphisms, lipid fractions, and coronary disease: a HuGE association review and meta-analysis. *Am J Epidemiol* 2008:168;1233–1246.

- 177. Salimi S, Mokhtari M, Yaghmaei M, Jamshidi M, Naghavi A. Association of angiotensin-converting enzyme intron 16 insertion/deletion and angiotensin II type 1 receptor A1166C gene polymorphisms with preeclampsia in South East of Iran. J Biomed Biotechnol 2011:2011;941515.
- 178. Salimi S, Naghavi A, Mokhtari M, Noora M, Yaghmaei M. Lack of relationship between endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene 4b/a and T-786C polymorphisms with preeclampsia in southeast of Iran. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2011.
- 179. Samsami DA, Doroudchi M, Kalantari T, Pezeshki AM, Ghaderi A. Heterozygosity in CTLA-4 gene and severe preeclampsia. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2005:88;19-24.
- Sandrim VC, Palei AC, Cavalli RC, Araujo FM, Ramos ES, Duarte G, Tanus-Santos JE. eNOS haplotypes associated with gestational hypertension or preeclampsia. *Pharmacogenomics* 2008:9;1467-1473.
- 181. Sandrim VC, Palei AC, Sertorio JT, Cavalli RC, Duarte G, Tanus-Santos JE. Effects of eNOS polymorphisms on nitric oxide formation in healthy pregnancy and in pre-eclampsia. Mol Hum Reprod 2010:16;506-510.
- Sayed-Tabatabaei FA, Oostra BA, Isaacs A, van Duijn CM, Witteman JC. ACE polymorphisms. Circ Res 2006:98;1123-1133.
- 183. Seremak-Mrozikiewicz A, Drews K, Barlik M, Sieroszewski P, Grzeskowiak E, Mrozikiewicz P. The significance of -786T > C polymorphism of endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) gene in severe preeclampsia. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2011:24;432-436.
- 184. Seremak-Mrozikiewicz A, Drews K, Wender-Ozegowska E, Mrozikiewicz PM. The significance of genetic polymorphisms of factor V Leiden and prothrombin in the preeclamptic Polish women. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2010:30;97-104.
- 185. Seremak-Mrozikiewicz A, Dubiel M, Drews K, Breborowicz GH, Mrozikiewicz PM. 1166C mutation of angiotensin II type 1 receptor gene is correlated with umbilical blood flow velocimetry in women with preeclampsia. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2005:17;117-121.
- 186. Serrano NC, Casas JP, Diaz LA, Paez C, Mesa CM, Cifuentes R, Monterrosa A, Bautista A, Hawe E, Hingorani AD et al. Endothelial NO synthase genotype and risk of preeclampsia: a multicenter case-control study. *Hypertension* 2004:44;702-707.
- 187. Serrano NC, Diaz LA, Paez MC, Mesa CM, Cifuentes R, Monterrosa A, Gonzalez A, Smeeth L, Hingorani AD, Casas JP. Angiotensin-converting enzyme I/D polymorphism and preeclampsia risk: evidence of small-study bias. PLoS Med 2006:3;e520.
- 188. Sethi AA, Nordestgaard BG, Tybjaerg-Hansen A. Angiotensinogen gene polymorphism, plasma angiotensinogen, and risk of hypertension and ischemic heart disease: a meta-analysis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2003:23;1269-1275.
- Sharma D, Trivedi SS, Bhattacharjee J. Oxidative stress and eNOS (Glu298Asp) gene polymorphism in preeclampsia in Indian population. Mol Cell Biochem 2011:353;189-193.
- 190. Shim JY, Jun JK, Jung BK, Kim SH, Won HS, Lee PR, Kim A. Vascular endothelial

growth factor gene +936 C/T polymorphism is associated with preeclampsia in Korean women. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2007:197;271-274.

- Singh A, Sharma D, Raghunandan C, Bhattacharjee J. Role of inflammatory cytokines and eNOS gene polymorphism in pathophysiology of pre-eclampsia. Am J Reprod Immunol 2010:63;244-251.
- Smith GC, Pell JP, Walsh D. Pregnancy complications and maternal risk of ischaemic heart disease: a retrospective cohort study of 129,290 births. *Lancet* 2001:357;2002– 2006.
- 193. Sofowora G, Dishy V, Xie HG, Imamura H, Nishimi Y, Morales CR, Morrow JD, Kim RB, Stein CM, Wood AJ. In-vivo effects of Glu298Asp endothelial nitric oxide synthase polymorphism. *Pharmacogenetics* 2001:11;809-814.
- 194. Sohda S, Arinami T, Hamada H, Yamada N, Hamaguchi H, Kubo T. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase polymorphism and pre-eclampsia. J Med Genet 1997:34;525– 526.
- 195. Steegers EA, von Dadelszen P, Duvekot JJ, Pijnenborg R. Pre-eclampsia. Lancet 2010:376;631-644.
- 196. Stiefel P, Miranda ML, Bellido LM, Luna J, Jimenez L, Pamies E, de Frutos PG, Villar J. Genotype of the CYBA promoter -930A/G, polymorphism C677T of the MTHFR and APOE genotype in patients with hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: an observational study. *Med Clin* (Barc) 2009:133;657-661.
- 197. Stonek F, Hafner E, Metzenbauer M, Katharina S, Stumpflen I, Schneeberger C, Zeisler H, Husslein P, Philipp K. Absence of an association of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-alpha G308A, interleukin-6 (IL-6) G174C and interleukin-10 (IL-10) G1082A polymorphism in women with preeclampsia. J Reprod Immunol 2008:77;85-90.
- 198. Stonek F, Metzenbauer M, Hafner E, Philipp K, Tempfer C. Interleukin-10 -1082 G/A promoter polymorphism and pregnancy complications: results of a prospective cohort study in 1,616 pregnant women. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2008:87;430-433.
- 199. Sun T, Zhou Y, Yang M, Hu Z, Tan W, Han X, Shi Y, Yao J, Guo Y, Yu D et al. Functional genetic variations in cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen 4 and susceptibility to multiple types of cancer. *Cancer Res* 2008:68;7025-7034.
- 200. Sutherland A, Cooper DW, Howie PW, Liston WA, MacGillivray I. The indicence of severe pre-eclampsia amongst mothers and mothers-in-law of pre-eclamptics and controls. BrJObstetGynaecol 1981:88;785-791.
- 201. Teft WA, Kirchhof MG, Madrenas J. A molecular perspective of CTLA-4 function. Annu Rev Immunol 2006:24;65-97.
- 202. Tempfer CB, Dorman K, Deter RL, O'Brien WE, Gregg AR. An endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene polymorphism is associated with preeclampsia. *Hypertens Pregnancy* 2001:20;107-118.
- 203. Tempfer CB, Jirecek S, Riener EK, Zeisler H, Denschlag D, Hefler L, Husslein PW. Polymorphisms of thrombophilic and vasoactive genes and severe preeclampsia: a pilot study. J Soc Gynecol Investig 2004:11;227-231.
- 204. Turan F, Ilhan N, Kaman D, Ates K, Kafkasli A. Glu298Asp polymorphism of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene and plasma concentrations of asymmetric di-
methylarginine in Turkish pre-eclamptic women without fetal growth retardation. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2010:36;495-501.

- 205. Uma R, Forsyth SJ, Struthers AD, Fraser CG, Godfrey V, Murphy DJ. Polymorphisms of the angiotensin converting enzyme gene in early-onset and late-onset pre-eclampsia. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2010:23;874-879.
- 206. Utermann G. Apolipoprotein E polymorphism in health and disease. AmHeart J 1987:113;433-440.
- 207. van Geel PP, Pinto YM, Voors AA, Buikema H, Oosterga M, Crijns HJ, van Gilst WH. Angiotensin II type 1 receptor A1166C gene polymorphism is associated with an increased response to angiotensin II in human arteries. Hypertension 2000:35;717-721.
- 208. van Pampus MG, Dekker GA, Wolf H, Huijgens PC, Koopman MM, von Blomberg BM, Buller HR. High prevalence of hemostatic abnormalities in women with a history of severe preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* 1999:180;1146-1150.
- 209. van Rijn BB, Franx A, Steegers EA, de Groot CJ, Bertina RM, Pasterkamp G, Voorbij HA, Bruinse HW, Roest M. Maternal TLR4 and NOD2 gene variants, pro-inflammatory phenotype and susceptibility to early-onset preeclampsia and HELLP syndrome. PLoS One 2008:3;e1865.
- 210. Veldman BA, Spiering W, Doevendans PA, Vervoort G, Kroon AA, de Leeuw PW, Smits P. The Glu298Asp polymorphism of the NOS 3 gene as a determinant of the baseline production of nitric oxide. JHypertens 2002:20;2023-2027.
- 211. Velloso EP, Vieira R, Cabral AC, Kalapothakis E, Santos RA. Reduced plasma levels of angiotensin-(1-7) and renin activity in preeclamptic patients are associated with the angiotensin I- converting enzyme deletion/deletion genotype. *Braz J Med Biol* Res 2007:40;583-590.
- 212. von Tempelhoff GF, Heilmann L, Spanuth E, Kunzmann E, Hommel G. Incidence of the factor V Leiden-mutation, coagulation inhibitor deficiency, and elevated antiphospholipid-antibodies in patients with preeclampsia or HELLP-syndrome. Hemolysis, elevated liver-enzymes, low platelets. *Thromb Res* 2000:100;363-365.
- 213. Vural P, Degirmencioglu S, Saral NY, Demirkan A, Akgul C, Yildirim G, Issever H, Eroglu H. Tumor necrosis factor alpha, interleukin-6 and interleukin-10 polymorphisms in preeclampsia. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2010:36;64-71.
- 214. Wang AH, Lam WJ, Han DY, Ding Y, Hu R, Fraser AG, Ferguson LR, Morgan AR. The effect of IL-10 genetic variation and interleukin 10 serum levels on Crohn's disease susceptibility in a New Zealand population. *HumImmunol* 2011:72;431-435.
- 215. Wang L, Feng Y, Zhang Y, Zhou H, Jiang S, Niu T, Wei LJ, Xu X, Wang X. Prolylcarboxypeptidase gene, chronic hypertension, and risk of preeclampsia. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2006:195;162–171.
- 216. Wang XL, Wang J. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene sequence variations and vascular disease. *MolGenetMetab* 2000:70;241-251.
- Ward K, Hata A, Jeunemaitre X, Helin C, Nelson L, Namikawa C, Farrington PF, Ogasawara M, Suzumori K, Tomoda S. A molecular variant of angiotensinogen associated with preeclampsia. Nat Genet 1993:4;59-61.
- 218. Watanabe H, Hamada H, Yamakawa-Kobayashi K, Yoshikawa H, Arinami T. Evidence

for an association of the R485K polymorphism in the coagulation factor V gene with severe preeclampsia from screening 35 polymorphisms in 27 candidate genes. *Thromb Haemost* 2001:86;1594-1595.

- 219. Williams MA, Sanchez SE, Zhang C, Bazul V. Methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase 677 C-->T polymorphism and plasma folate in relation to pre-eclampsia risk among Peruvian women. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2004:15;337-344.
- 220. Xie F, Hu Y, Speert DP, Turvey SE, Peng G, Money DM, Magee LA, von DP. Toll-like receptor gene polymorphisms and preeclampsia risk: a case-control study and data synthesis. *Hypertens Pregnancy* 2010:29;390–398.
- 221. Yaghmaei M, Salimi S, Mokhtari M, Naghavi A, Saravani M, Farajian-Mashhadi F. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene Glu298Asp polymorphism and risk of preeclampsia in South East of Iran. African Journal of Biotechnology 2011:10;10712-10717.
- 222. Yalinkaya A, Erdemoglu M, Akdeniz N, Kale A, Kale E. The relationship between thrombophilic mutations and preeclampsia: a prospective case-control study. *Ann Saudi Med* 2006:26;105-109.
- 223. Yamada N, Arinami T, Yamakawa-Kobayashi K, Watanabe H, Sohda S, Hamada H, Kubo T, Hamaguchi H. The 4G/5G polymorphism of the plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 gene is associated with severe preeclampsia. J Hum Genet 2000:45;138-141.
- 224. Ye S, Green FR, Scarabin PY, Nicaud V, Bara L, Dawson SJ, Humphries SE, Evans A, Luc G, Cambou JP. The 4G/5G genetic polymorphism in the promoter of the plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) gene is associated with differences in plasma PAI-1 activity but not with risk of myocardial infarction in the ECTIM study. Etude CasTemoins de l'nfarctus du Mycocarde. Thromb Haemost 1995:74;837-841.
- 225. Ye Z, Liu EH, Higgins JP, Keavney BD, Lowe GD, Collins R, Danesh J. Seven haemostatic gene polymorphisms in coronary disease: meta-analysis of 66,155 cases and 91,307 controls. *Lancet* 2006:367;651-658.
- 226. Yilmaz H, Unlucerci Y, Gurdol F, Isbilen E, Isbir T. Association of pre-eclampsia with hyperhomocysteinaemia and methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase gene C677T polymorphism in a Turkish population. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2004:44;423-427.
- 227. Yoshida A, Miura K, Nakayama D, Masuzaki H. Correlation between preeclampsia and prevalence of polymorphism of angiotensinogen, methyleneteterahydrofolate reductase and factor V, prothrombin genes among Japanese women. Acta Medica Nagasakiensia 2008:53;37-41.
- 228. Yoshimura T, Chowdhury FA, Yoshimura M, Okamura H. Genetic and environmental contributions to severe preeclampsia: lack of association with the endothelial nitric oxide synthase Glu298Asp variant in a developing country. *Gynecol Obstet Invest* 2003:56;10-13.
- 229. Yoshimura T, Yoshimura M, Tabata A, Shimasaki Y, Nakayama M, Miyamoto Y, Saito Y, Nakao K, Yasue H, Okamura H. Association of the missense Glu298Asp variant of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase gene with severe preeclampsia. J Soc Gynecol Investig 2000:7;238-241.
- 230. Zdoukopoulos N, Doxani C, Messinis IE, Stefanidis I, Zintzaras E. Polymorphisms of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase (NOS3) gene in preeclampsia: a candi-

date-gene association study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2011:11;89.

- 231. Zhang C, Austin MA, Edwards KL, Farin FM, Li N, Hsu L, Srinouanprachanh SL, Williams MA. Functional variants of the lipoprotein lipase gene and the risk of preeclampsia among non-Hispanic Caucasian women. *Clin Genet* 2006:69;33-39.
- 232. Zhang XQ, Varner M, Dizon-Townson D, Song F, Ward K. A molecular variant of angiotensinogen is associated with idiopathic intrauterine growth restriction. *Obstet Gynecol* 2003:101;237-242.
- 233. Zusterzeel PL, Visser W, Peters WH, Merkus HW, Nelen WL, Steegers EA. Polymorphism in the glutathione S-transferase P1 gene and risk for preeclampsia. Obstet Gynecol 2000:96;50-54.

# TABLES

# Table I. Random-effects meta-analysis of reproduced variants for preeclampsia

Variant by gene	Minor allele	Studies (n)	Cases (n)	Control subjects (n)	OR (95% CI)	I <sup>2</sup> (%)	p value for funnel plot asymmetry*	Location	Function/ conse- quence
ACE rs4646994	Deletion	20	2855	4582	1.20 (1.08-1.34)	47	0.044	In an in- tron	Higher serum ACE lev- els (Sayed-Tabatabaei et al., 2006)
AGT rs699	U	21	2104	4530	1.23 (0.98-1.54)	81	0.116	In the gene	Higher plasma an- giotensinogen levels (Jeunemaitre et al.,1992)
rs4762	F	IJ	497	1395	1.25 (0.67-2.30)	80	0.327	In the gene	Conflicting data(Bal- am-Ortiz et al.,2011 ; Jeunemaitre et al., 1992)
APOE rs429358 rs7412	E2	2	554	712	0.86 (0.66-1.13)	0	0.881	In the gene	Hyperlipoproteinemia (Utermann,1987)
AT1R rs5186	U	S	886	1230	1.13 (0.95-1.33)	0	0.022	In the 3' untrans- lated re- gion	Increased response to angiotensin II (van Geel et al., 2000)

-se-	ctivation on rates 8)	rombin c al.,1996)	to acti- C (Le et	to acti- C (Berti-
Function/ con quence	Higher T-cell a and proliferati (Sun et al., 200	Elevated proth levels (Poort et	Poor response vated protein al, 2000)	Poor response vated protein na et al.,1994)
Location	In the gene	In the 3' untrans- lated re- gion	In the gene	In the gene
p value for funnel plot asymmetry*	1	0.133	0.317	0.456
I <sup>2</sup> (%)	с	×	60	34
OR (95% CI)	1.24 (1.01-1.52)	1.95 (1.43-2.66)	1.94 (1.05-3.60)	1.95 (1.56-2.45)
Control subjects (n)	536	4878	336	6446
Cases (n)	353	3329	266	4373
Studies (n)	4	30	N	40
Minor allele	U	A	A	A
Variant by gene	CTLA4 rs231775	F2 rs1799963	FV rs6020	rs6025

7	. 1
1	4

ation Function/ conse- quence	e Lower serum IL-10 lev- totor els (Wang et al, 2011) n	e Lower serum IL-10 lev- totor els (Wang et al, 2011) an es (Vang et al, 2011) an files (Sagoo et al, 2008) tre-	e gene Adverse lipid profiles (Sagoo et al, 2008)	
Loca	In the prom regio	In the prom regio In the untra	gion In the	In the
p value for funnel plot asymmetry*	0.621	0.621	1	0.531
I <sup>2</sup> (%)	64	64	21	45
OR (95% CI)	0.91 (0.74-1.12)	0.91 (0.74-1.12) 2.27 (0.62-8.24)	2.42 (1.25-4.68)	1.06 (0.97-1.16)
Control subjects (n)	1360	1360	933	7271
Cases (n)	1075	395	530	5418
Studies (n)	ø	00 CO	4	45
Minor allele	Ċ	U U	Ċ	F
Variant by gene	IL-10 rs1800896	IL-10 rs1800896 LPL rs1800590	rs268	MTHFR rs1801133

Variant by gene	Minor allele	Studies (n)	Cases (n)	Control subjects (n)	OR (95% CI)	I <sup>2</sup> (%)	p value for funnel plot asymmetry*	Location	Function/ conse- quence
NOS3									
27bp re- peat	4a	14	1593	2239	1.14 (0.90-1.43)	63	0.071	In an in- tron	Altered nitrite and ni- trate levels (Wang and Wang, 2000)
rs2070744	U	11	1571	2202	1.08 (0.95-1.23)	28	0.484	In the promotor region	Reduced eNOS gene promotor activity (Na- kayama et al., 1999)
rs1799983	F	24	2825	4048	1.19 (1.00-1.42)	68	0.960	In the gene	Reduced nitrate, nitrite and nitric oxide pro- duction (Sofowora et al, 2001; Veldman et al, 2002)
SERPINE1 rs1799889	4G	11	1283	1661	1.17 (1.03-1.33)	10	0.102	In the promotor region	Higher PAI-1 levels (Lin et al, 2009; Rallidis et al, 2010; Ye et al, 1995)

Genetic variants in preeclampsia

7	0
- 1	n
'	0

Variant by	Minor	Studies	Cases	Control	OR (95% CI)	I <sup>2</sup> (%)	p value for	Location	Function/ conse-
gene	allele	(u)	(u)	subjects			funnel plot		quence
				(II)			asymmetry		
TLR4									
rs4986790	Ċ	4	723	614	1.07 (0.48-2.40)	78	0.497	In the gene	Dampened inflammato- ry response (Kiechi et al, 2002)
rs4986791	E-	n	614	461	1.20 (0.45-3.20)	79	0.602	In the gene	Dampened inflammato- ry response (Kiechi et al, 2002)
TNF-alpha									
rs1800629	A	12	1592	1837	1.17 (0.91-1.49)	23	0.237	In the gene	Higher TNF-alpha gene expression (Kroeger et al, 1997)
rs1799724	H	က	390	385	0.66 (0.33-1.31)	85	0.602	Near the gene	Higher TNF-alpha se- rum levels (Puthotu et al, 2009)
VEGF									
rs3025039	F	n	377	514	1.36 (0.64-2.91)	88	0.602	In the gene	Lower VEGF levels (Al-Habboubi et al, 2011; Ruggiero et al, 2011)
* Begg test fo	or funnel	plot asymr	metry, wi	hich is sugg	gestive of publicat	tion bias			

Variant by gene	
ACE	
rs4646994	Aggarwal et al., (2010) Aggarwal et al., (2011) Benedetto et al., (2007) Bouba et al., (2003) Choi et al., (2004) Galao et al., (2004) Gurdol et al., (2004) Heiskanen et al., (2001) Kaur et al., (2005) Kobashi et al., (2005) Li et al., (2007) Mando et al., (2009) Miskovic et al., (2008) Morgan et al., (1999) Procopciuc et al., (2009) Roberts et al., (2004) Salimi et al., (2011) Serrano et al., (2006)2006 Serrano et al., (2006), Uma et al., (2010) Wang et al., (2006)
AGT	
rs699	Aggarwal et al., (2010) Aggarwal et al., (2011) Bashford et al., (2001) Benedetto et al., (2007) Bouba et al., (2003) Choi et al., (2004) Dissanayake et al., (2009) Guo et al., (1997)** Jenkins et al., (2008) Knyrim et al., (2008) Kobashi et al., (1999) Morgan et al., (1999) Procopciuc et al., (2009) Roberts et al., (2004) Tempfer et al., (2004) Wang et al., (2006) Ward et al., (1993) Yoshida et al., (2008) Zhang et al., (2003)
rs4762	Choi et al., (2004) Dissanayake et al., (2009) Knyrim et al., (2008) Procopciuc et al., (2009) Wang et al., (2006)
APOE rs429358, rs7412	Belo et al., (2004) Bernard et al., (2007) Chikosi et al., (2000) Francoual et al., (2002) Nagy et al., (1998) Procopciuc et al., (2011) Stiefel et al., (2009)
AT1R rs5186	Akbar et al., (2009) Benedetto et al., (2007) Bouba et al., (2003) Li et al., (2007) Morgan et al., (1998) Plummer et al., (2004) Procopciuc et al., (2009) Salimi et al., (2011) Seremak-Mrozikiewicz et al., (2005)
CTLA4 rs231775	Best et al., (2011) Jaaskelainen et al., (2008) Pendeloski et al., (2011) Samsami et al., (2005)

# Table II. References of the included articles, per genetic variant

Genetic variants in preeclampsia

78

F2	
rs1799963	Agorastos et al., (2002) Alfirevic et al., (2001) Benedetto et al., (2002) Best et al., (2009) Dalmaz et al., (2006) de Groot et al., (1999) Demir et al., (2006) Dogan et al., (2011) Dusse et al., (2007) Fabbro et al., (2003) Gerhardt et al., (2005) Grandone et al., (1999) Higgins et al., (2000) Hiltunen et al., (2009) Jarvenpaa et al., (2006) Kankova et al., (2000) Karakantza et al., (2008) Kupferminc et al., (1999) Kupferminc et al., (2000) † Kupferminc et al., (2000) Tarvenpaa et al., (2000) † Kupferminc et al., (2000) Larciprete et al., (2007) Livingston et al., (2001) Malek-Khosravi et al., (2011) Mello et al., (2005) Mendilcioglu et al., (2011) Morrison et al., (2002) O'Shaughnessy et al., (2001) 2001) Seremak-Mrozikiewicz et al., (2010) Tempfer et al., (2004) Yalinkaya et al., (2006)
FV	
rs6020	Faisel et al., (2004) Watanabe et al., (2001)
rs6025	Aggarwal et al., (2011) Agorastos et al., (2002) Alfirevic et al., (2001) Benedetto et al., (2002) Best et al., (2009) Currie et al., (2002) Dalmaz et al., (2006) Davalos et al., (2005) de Groot et al., (1999) Demir et al., (2006) Dizon-Townson et al., (1996) Dogan et al., (2011) Fabbro et al., (2003) Faisel et al., (2004) Gerhardt et al., (2005) Grandone et al., (1999) Hiltunen et al., (2009) Jarvenpaa et al., (2006) Kankova et al., (2000) Karakantza et al., (2007) Lindoff et al., (1997) Livingston et al., (2001) Malek-Khosravi et al., (2001) Mello et al., (1999) Mello et al., (2008) Constructed et al., (2001) Mello et al., (2000) Nagy et al., (2003) Tindoff et al., (2010) Tempfer et al., (2011) Morrison et al., (2002) Murphy et al., (2000) Nagy et al., (1999) Mello et al., (2008) Costore et al., (2000) Tempfer et al., (2001) Tempfer et al., (2001) Tempfer et al., (2001) Tempfer et al., (2002) Murphy et al., (2000) Nagy et al., (2000) Seremak-Mrozikiewicz et al., (2000) Tempfer et al., (2004) Non Tempelhoff et al., (2000) Yalinkaya et al., (2000) Seremak-Mrozikiewicz et al., (2010) Tempfer et al., (2004) Non Tempelhoff et al., (2000) Yalinkaya et al., (2006) Seremak-Mrozikiewicz et al., (2010) Tempfer et al., (2004) Non Tempelhoff et al., (2000) Yalinkaya et al., (2006) Seremak-Mrozikiewicz et al., (2010) Tempfer et al., (2004) Non Tempelhoff et al., (2000) Yalinkaya et al., (2006) Seremak-Mrozikiewicz et al., (2010) Tempfer et al., (2004) Non Tempelhoff et al., (2000) Yalinkaya et al., (2006) Seremak-Mrozikiewicz et al., (2010) Tempfer et al., (2004) Non Tempelhoff et al., (2000) Yalinkaya et al., (2006) Seremak-Mrozikiewicz et al., (2010) Tempfer et al., (2004) Non Tempelhoff et al., (2000) Yalinkaya et al., (2006)
IL-10	
rs1800896	Daher et al., (2006) de Groot et al., (2004) de Lima et al., (2009) Haggerty et al., (2005) Kamali-Sarves- tani et al., (2006) Mirahmadian et al., (2008) Stonek et al., (2008) Vural et al., (2010)

LPL	
rs1800590	Hubel et al., (1999) Kim et al., (2001) Pappa et al., (2011)
rs268	Bernard et al., (2007) Hubel et al., (1999) Kim et al., (2001) Zhang et al., (2006)
MTHFR	
rs1801133	Aggarwal et al. (2011), Also-Rallo et al. (2005), Canto et al. (2008), Chikosi et al. (1999), Dalmaz et al.
	(2006), Davalos et al. (2005), De Maat et al. (2004), Demir et al. (2006), Dogan et al. (2011), Dusse et al.
	(2007), Fabbro et al. (2003), Gerhardt et al. (2005), Grandone et al. (1999), Hill et al. (2011), Hiltunen et
	al. (2009), Jaaskelainen et al. (2006), Jarvenpaa et al. (2006), Kaiseret al. (2001), Kankova et al. (2000),
	Kim et al. (2001), Klai et al. (2011), Kobashi et al. (2000), Laivuori et al. (2000), Larciprete et al. (2007),
	Livingston et al.(2001), Mendilcioglu et al.(2011), Morrison et al. (2002), Murphy et al. (2000), Nagy et al.
	(2007) , O'Shaughnessy et al. (1999), Pegoraro et al. (2004), Perez-Mutul et al. (2004), Powers et al. (1999),
	Prasmusinto et al. (2002)***, Procopciuc et al. (2010), Rajkovic et al. (2000), Rigo et al. (2000), Sohda et
	al. (1997), Stiefel et al. (2009), Watanabe et al. (2001), Williams et al.(2004), Yilmaz et al. (2004), Yoshida
	et al. (2008).
NOS3	
27bp repeat	Aggarwal et al., (2010) Bashford et al., (2001) Benedetto et al., (2007) Chen et al., (2007) Diaz-Olguin et
	al., (2011) Fatini et al., (2006) Grandone et al., (2003) Ozturk et al., (2011) Salimi et al., (2011) Sandrim et
	al., (2008) Sandrim et al., (2010) Serrano et al., (2004) Tempfer et al., (2001) Zdoukopoulos et al., (2011)
rs2070744	Aggarwal et al., (2010) Diaz-Olguin et al., (2011) Fatini et al., (2006) Kim et al., (2008) Salimi et al., (2011)
	Sandrim et al., (2008) Sandrim et al., (2010) Seremak-Mrozikiewicz et al., (2011) Serrano et al., (2004)
	Tempfer et al., (2004) Zdoukopoulos et al., (2011)

Variant by gene

80

rsl799983	Aggarwal et al., (2010) Best et al., (2010) Chen et al., (2007) Diaz-Olguin et al., (2011) Fatini et al., (2006) Hakli et al., (2003) Kim et al., (2006) Kim et al., (2008) Kobashi et al., (2001) Landau et al., (2004) Nishi- zawa et al., (2009) Ozturk et al., (2011) Pappa et al., (2011) Sandrim et al., (2008) Sandrim et al., (2010) Serrano et al., (2004) Sharma et al., (2011) Singh et al., (2010) Tempfer et al., (2004) Turan et al., (2010) Yaghmaei et al., (2011) Yoshimura et al., (2000) Yoshimura et al., (2003) Zdoukopoulos et al., (2011)
SERPINE1 rs1799889	Dalmaz et al., (2006) De Maat et al., (2004) Fabbro et al., (2003) Gerhardt et al., (2005) Hakli et al., (2003) Kankova et al., (2000) Larciprete et al., (2007) Morrison et al., (2002) Pegoraro et al., (2003) Tempfer et al., (2004) Yamada et al., (2000)
TLR4 rs4986790 rs4986791	Franchim et al., (2011) Molvarec et al., (2008) van Rijn et al., (2008) Xie et al., (2010) Molvarec et al. (2008) van Rijn et al. (2008) Yie et al. (2010)
TNF-alpha rs1800629	Canto-Cetina et al., (2007) Chen et al., (1996) Daher et al., (2006) de Lima et al., (2009) Dizon-Townson et al., (1998) Freeman et al., (2004) Haggerty et al., (2005) Kaiser et al., (2004) Levesque et al., (2004) Mirahmadian et al., (2008) Molvarec et al., (2008) Pazarbasi et al., (2007) Saarela et al., (2005) Stonek et al., (2008) Vural et al., (2010)
rs1799724	Canto-Cetina et al., (2007) Heiskanen et al., (2002) Pazarbasi et al., (2007)
VEGF rs3025039	Kim et al., (2008) Papazoglou et al., (2004) Shim et al., (2007)
** Two datasets. †Similar control g are considered to	***Three datasets. roup to another article (Kupferminc et al., 2000); this and the subsequent citation (Kupferminc et al., 2000) be one dataset

# FIGURES & LEGENDS

Figure 1. Flow chart illustrating how the studies were selected for the meta-analysis.



Figure 2. Odds ratios (with 95% confidence intervals) for the genetic variants that were reproducibly associated with preeclampsia.



A. All genetic variants that were reproduced in an independent study and significantly associated with preeclampsia following the meta-analysis.B. All genetic variants that were reproduced in an independent study, but were not significantly associated with preeclampsia following the meta-analysis.

# **Chapter 3**

Loss of Thrombomodulin in Placental Dysfunction in Preeclampsia

RJ Turner, KWM Bloemenkamp, JA Bruijn, JJ Baelde

Published in Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis and Vascular Biology

## ABSTRACT

## Objective

Preeclampsia is a pregnancy-specific syndrome characterized by placental dysfunction and an angiogenic imbalance. Systemically, levels of thrombomodulin, an endothelium- and syncytiotrophoblast-bound protein that regulates coagulation, inflammation, apoptosis, and tissue remodeling, are increased. We aimed to investigate placental thrombomodulin dysregulation and consequent downstream effects in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia.

### **Approach and Results**

Placentas from 28 preeclampsia pregnancies, 30 uncomplicated pregnancies and 21 pregnancies complicated by growth restriction as extra controls were included. Immunohistochemical staining of thrombomodulin, caspase-3, and fibrin was performed. Placental mRNA expression of thrombomodulin, inflammatory markers, matrix metalloproteinases 2 and 9, and soluble Flt-1 were measured with qPCR. Thrombomodulin mRNA expression was determined in vascular endothelial growth factor-transfected trophoblast cell lines.

Thrombomodulin protein and mRNA expression were decreased in preeclampsia as compared to both control groups (P=0.001). Thrombomodulin mRNA expression correlated with maternal body mass index (P< 0.01), and diastolic blood pressure (P<0.05) in preeclampsia. An increase in placental apoptotic cells was associated with preeclampsia (P<0.001). Thrombomodulin expression correlated positively with matrix metalloproteinase expression (P<0.01) in preeclampsia, but not with fibrin deposits or inflammatory markers Placental soluble Flt-1 expression correlated with decreased thrombomodulin expression. Vascular endothelial growth factor induced upregulation of thrombomodulin expression in trophoblast cells.

## Conclusions

Decreased thrombomodulin expression in preeclampsia may play a role in placental dysfunction in preeclampsia and is possibly caused by an angiogenic imbalance. Hypertension and obesity are associated with thrombomodulin downregulation. These results set the stage for further basic and clinical research on thrombomodulin in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia and other syndromes characterized by endothelial dysfunction.

## NONSTANDARD ABBREVIATIONS

sFlt-1, soluble Flt-1 APC, activated protein C IUGR, intra-uterine growth restriction VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor MMP, matrix metalloproteinase

## INTRODUCTION

Preeclampsia complicates 2–8% of all pregnancies and is a leading cause of maternal and fetal morbidity and mortality.<sup>1, 2</sup> The exact etiology of the syndrome is unknown, but impaired placentation plays a key role in its pathogenesis.<sup>3</sup> In preeclampsia, placental production of anti-angiogenic factors such as soluble Flt-1 (sFlt-1) and soluble endoglin is increased, which results in deprivation of essential survival factors in the endothelium and syncytiotrophoblast.<sup>3</sup> This contributes to the development of endothelial dysfunction, causing increased systemic vascular resistance, high blood pressure, and hypercoagulability. <sup>3</sup> Further, a hyper-inflammatory state develops, characterized for example by complement deposits in the kidneys and in the placenta. <sup>4,5</sup>

Thrombomodulin is essential for the maintenance of endothelium; it is a transmembrane glycoprotein found on the endothelium of arteries, venules, and capillaries, and on the syncytiotrophoblast in the placenta.<sup>6</sup> Inflammation results in the release of thrombomodulin from endothelial cells into the circulation, leading to decreased expression of thrombomodulin on the endothelial surface.<sup>7</sup> Whether this cleaved form of thrombomodulin is functional remains unclear, but soluble thrombomodulin concentrations can be used to monitor inflammatory conditions.<sup>8</sup> In women with preeclampsia, maternal serum levels of cleaved soluble thrombomodulin in serum are elevated.<sup>9-11</sup> The placenta is a possible source of this soluble thrombomodulin, which could result in decreased available thrombomodulin on the syncytiotrophoblast.<sup>12</sup> Vascular endothelial growth factor stimulates thrombomodulin expression,<sup>8</sup> so the angiogenic imbalance in the placenta in preeclampsia could lead to a decrease in placental thrombomodulin expression.

One of the pathways through which thrombomodulin exerts its protective effects on endothelium is by activating protein C. In mice, loss of thrombomodulin from the endothelium results in disruption of the activated protein C (APC) pathway, which leads to lethal massive thrombosis.<sup>13</sup> APC has an anticoagulant function by cleaving activated cofactors FV and FVIII. In addition to its anticoagulant effects, APC has an important cytoprotective function for endothelium through the endothelial protein C receptor: namely, direct anti-inflammatory and anti-apoptotic effects on endothelial cells.<sup>14</sup> In an experimental mouse model, this anti-apoptotic effect protected against diabetic nephropathy by inhibiting endothelial apoptosis.<sup>15</sup> Furthermore, APC plays a role in tissue remodeling by activating matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) 2 and 9, which are involved in placental development and are dysregulated in preeclampsia.<sup>16-18</sup>

We set out to investigate whether placental thrombomodulin dysregulation plays a role in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. Therefore, we measured thrombomodulin expression in placentas from women with preeclampsia and compared this with thrombomodulin expression in placentas from control subjects with uncomplicated pregnancies, and in placentas from control subjects with pregnancies complicated by intra-uterine growth restriction (IUGR) to confirm that our findings were preeclampsia-specific rather than a consequence of lower gestational age or birth weight in our case group. Further, we investigated whether thrombomodulin expression in the placenta is correlated with its downstream effects; fibrin depositions, cell survival, inflammation, and MMP expression in the placenta, and if the angiogenic imbalance of preeclampsia is associated with a decrease in thrombomodulin expression.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Samples

We studied 79 placentas obtained from women who delivered at the Leiden University Medical Center Department of Obstetrics between 2002 and 2011. After delivery all placentas were macroscopically examined and samples from pre-defined locations on the placenta and fetal membranes were taken according to a standard protocol. For this study, tissue samples from lateral sites of the basal plate of the placenta were selected to study mature and terminal villi. The placentas were divided between a case group of 28 placentas obtained from women with mild or severe preeclampsia and a healthy control group of 30 placentas obtained from women with uncomplicated pregnancies that resulted in term livebirths. Preeclampsia were diagnosed according to ISSHP guidelines, with severe preeclampsia being defined as the presence of diastolic blood pressure >110 mmHg, proteinuria > 3 g / 24H, or HELLP syndrome. Because the majority of women with preeclampsia delivers by caesarean section, we aimed to collect control placentas from women who delivered by caesarean section as well. A second control group consisting of 21 placentas from pregnancies complicated by IUGR (defined as birth weight below fifth percentile for gestational age), but not by preeclampsia or hypertension, was included to confirm that our findings on thrombomodulin expression were preeclampsia-specific rather than a consequence of lower gestational age or birth weight in our case group. Paraffin-embedded samples were available for immunohistochemical staining from 11 patients in this control group; from the remaining ten patients, frozen samples were available for RNA isolation and PCR. This study was approved by the ethics committee of the Leiden University Medical Centre (P13.084) and subjects gave informed consent.

## Histology

Specimens were stained with hematoxylin and eosin. 27 control samples and 21 preeclampsia samples were examined by a single pathologist blinded for cases and controls. The presence, extent, chronicity and composition of villous- and intervillous infiltrates were determined.

## Immunohistochemistry

To investigate the placental protein expression of thrombomodulin and to investigate apoptosis and coagulation in the placentas, we performed immunohistochemical staining for thrombomodulin, caspase-3, and fibrin. Sections were deparaffinized, and antigen retrieval was performed. Sections were incubated with an anti-thrombomodulin mouse monoclonal antibody (1:200; Leica Biosystems, Danvers, MA, USA) or an anti-fibrin mouse monoclonal antibody (1:200, Immunotech, Prague, Czech Republic) for 1 hour, or with an anti-cleaved caspase-3 rabbit antibody (1:300; Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA, USA) overnight at room temperature. Binding of the primary antibody was visualized with labelled anti-mouse IgG polymer or with labelled anti-rabbit IgG polymer (DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark) and diaminobenzidine as a chromogen.

### Scoring of staining patterns

Slides were scored by two observers blinded with respect to cases and controls. The presence of thrombomodulin at the surface of viable syncytiotrophoblast was scored semiquantitatively as absent (present on <10% of viable syncytiotrophoblast), focal (present on 10–50% of viable syncytiotrophoblast), or overall (present on >50% of viable syncytiotrophoblast). Positivity for caspase-3 was scored quantitatively as the number of apoptotic cells per mm<sup>2</sup>. Fibrin deposits were scored quantitatively as the number of villi with fibrin deposits divided by the total number of villi in ten 0.28 mm<sup>2</sup> sections per sample.

#### PCR

Quantitative PCR was performed to quantify placental mRNA expression of thrombomodulin, MMP 2 and 9, tumor necrosis factor alpha, intercellular adhesion molecule 1 and sFlt-1. RNA isolation was performed with TRIzol® (Lifetechnologies, San Francisco, CA, USA). Synthesis of cDNA was performed with AMV reverse transcriptase (Roche, Basel, Switzerland), and SYBR Green quantitative PCR was performed according to the manufacturer's protocol (Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc, Hercules, CA, USA). Primer sequences are described in Supplementary Table 1. Expression was measured by the comparative threshold cycle method and normalized to hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase and GAPDH expression. A melting curve analysis was performed to verify the specificity of amplification.

#### In vitro experiments

Trophoblast cell lines BeWo (CCL-98, ATCC, Manassas, VA, USA) and Jeg-3 (HTB-36, ATCC, Manassas, VA, USA) were grown on 6-Multiwell plates. After 24 h, cells were transfected with a VEGF plasmid (pHIPPY-PGL3-VEGF). For transfection, plasmid DNA was diluted into growth medium at a concentration

of 1 g/L and X-tremeGene HP DNA Transfection Reagent (Roche, Basel, Switzerland) was added at a 3:1 ratio. 48 hours after transfection, RNA was isolated with TRIzol® (Lifetechnologies, San Francisco, CA, USA). cDNA synthesis was performed and expression of thrombomodulin, hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase and GAPDH was determined with PCR as described above. The experiments were repeated three times.

## Statistical analysis

Mean differences in normalized mRNA expression levels between two groups were analyzed with the unpaired t-test for normally distributed data or with the Mann–Whitney U test for skewed distributions. The distributions of staining patterns of thrombomodulin and histological scores in the preeclampsia and control groups were analyzed with the chi-square test or Fisher's exact test. Correlations between thrombomodulin mRNA levels, clinical parameters or mRNA levels of other proteins were calculated with the Pearson test or Spearman test. A P value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Mean differences in fibrin deposits and in caspase-3 positive cells between more than two groups were analyzed with the one-way ANOVA. Posthoc tests, Bonferroni and LSD, were subsequently performed to investigate differences between the preeclampsia group and the control groups. Standard deviations depict variance in the figures. All analyses were performed with the IBM SPSS statistics software package (version 20; IBM, Armonk, NY, USA).

## RESULTS

## **Patient characteristics**

Diastolic blood pressure and proteinuria were significantly higher in the preeclampsia group as compared to both control groups. The mean gestational age in healthy control subjects was 39 weeks and 4 days; in IUGR control subjects and in preeclampsia patients the mean gestational ages were was 33 weeks and 2 days and 30 weeks and 4 days, respectively, which were both significantly lower as compared to healthy control subjects. The mean birth weight in the healthy control group was 3609 g. Mean birth weights in the IUGR control group and in the preeclampsia group were 1521 g and 1167 g, respectively, which were both significantly lower compared to the mean birth weight in the healthy control group. The mean placenta weight was significantly lower in preeclampsia patients and in growth-restricted control subjects as compared to healthy control subjects. Patient characteristics are illustrated in Table 1.

#### Immunohistochemical staining for thrombomodulin

In 29 of 30 placentas from healthy controls, thrombomodulin was observed in an overall staining pattern, with thrombomodulin present on the syncytiotrophoblast of >50% of villi, and in 1 control placenta a focal staining pattern was observed, with thrombomodulin being present on the syncytiotrophoblast of <50% of villi. In the IUGR group, thrombomodulin was present on the syncytiotrophoblast of >50% of villi in all 11 cases. In 12 of 28 placentas from patients with preeclampsia, thrombomodulin protein expression was decreased. In ten cases, we found a focal staining pattern, with thrombomodulin present on the syncytiotrophoblast of <50% of villi, and in two cases, thrombomodulin was nearly absent (present on the syncytiotrophoblast of <10% of villi). In the remaining 16 placentas from the preeclampsia group, thrombomodulin staining was present in an overall staining pattern. These findings are illustrated in Figure 1. Chi-square analysis indicated a strong association between decreased thrombomodulin expression and preeclampsia (P = 0.001). Thrombomodulin staining on fetal vessel endothelium was present in a similar pattern in preeclampsia and control groups .Supplemental Figure I shows thrombomodulin staining on fetal vessel endothelium in placentas from preeclampsia and control cases with most reduced thrombomodulin staining on the syncytiotrophoblast; fetal vessel thrombomodulin staining was present in these samples and consequently serves as an internal control for the adequacy of the staining procedure.

#### Placental mRNA expression of thrombomodulin

Placental mRNA levels of thrombomodulin were on average 3-fold lower in preeclamptic women compared to control subjects (P = 0.001), whereas in women with IUGR, the relative mRNA expression of thrombomodulin was not significantly different compared to healthy control placentas. These results are illustrated in Figure 2. In placenta samples where thrombomodulin protein expression was absent, thrombomodulin mRNA levels were 4-fold lower than

in placentas with a focal or overall staining pattern for thrombomodulin at the syncytiotrophoblast in the preeclampsia group (Supplemental Figure II).

# Placental mRNA expression of thrombomodulin and clinical parameters in preeclampsia

Placental thrombomodulin mRNA levels were significantly lower in patients with mild preeclampsia and in patients with severe preeclampsia compared to healthy control subjects; levels were not significantly different between patients with mild and severe preeclampsia. Placental thrombomodulin mRNA levels were negatively correlated with maternal diastolic blood pressure and maternal body mass index in patients with preeclampsia. In controls, this correlation was not present. There were no correlations between gestational age or placental weight and thrombomodulin mRNA levels. These correlations are illustrated in Figure 2. Thrombomodulin mRNA levels were not associated with parity (P>0.05). When exclusively primiparous cases were analyzed, thrombomodulin mRNA levels were still significantly lower in preeclampsia cases compared to placentas from control cases.

## **Fibrin depositions**

In placentas from healthy control subjects, villous fibrin deposits were present on 13 percent of the villi, and in IUGR control placentas on 7 percent. In pregnancies complicated by preeclampsia, fibrin depositions were present on 17 percent of villi, on average. One-way ANOVA analyses indicated an association between increased fibrin deposits and preeclampsia, but post-hoc analyses did not reveal any significant differences between pre-eclampsia cases and healthy or growth-restricted control cases. These data are shown in Figure 3. There was no significant association between fibrin deposits and thrombomodulin mRNA, or between fibrin deposits and the thrombomodulin protein staining pattern.

## Immunohistochemical staining of cleaved caspase-3

In placentas from healthy subjects and IUGR control subjects, there were four and three apoptotic cells per mm<sup>2</sup>, on average. In placentas from preeclamptic patients, there were on average 16 apoptotic cells per mm<sup>2</sup>, which was significantly different from both control groups. These data are shown in Figure 3. There was no significant association between thrombomodulin mRNA and the amount of apoptotic cells and a focal or absent thrombomodulin staining pattern was not associated with an increase in apoptotic cells.

#### **Placental inflammation**

Villitis was present in 14.8% of the control placentas and in 42.9% of the preeclampsia cases; this difference was significant (P<0.05). In all villitis cases, the infiltrate was multifocal and composed of mononuclear cells. Intervillositis occurred in 7.4% of control placentas and in 19% of preeclampsia placentas; the infiltrate consisted of histiocytes in the majority of cases. Neither villitis nor intervillositis was associated with a decreased thrombomodulin staining pattern or with decreased thrombomodulin mRNA expression. Placental mRNA levels of tumor necrosis factor alpha and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 were lower in placentas from preeclampsia patients as compared to healthy controls (P < 0.001 for both, Figure 3). There was no correlation between thrombomodulin mRNA expression and tumor necrosis factor alpha or intercellular adhesion molecule 1 expression in placentas from preeclamptic patients (Supplemental Figure III).

#### Placental mRNA expression of MMPs

On average, MMP2 mRNA levels were 2-fold lower in placentas from preeclamptic women compared to placentas from both control groups (P < 0.01). MMP9 mRNA levels were 5-fold lower in placentas from preeclamptic women compared to control subjects (P < 0.01). In IUGR control placentas, MMP2 and MMP9 mRNA levels were not significantly different compared to control placentas. In preeclamptic patients, MMP2 expression was positively correlated with thrombomodulin mRNA expression. The correlation between MMP9 and thrombomodulin did not reach statistical significance (P = 0.095). These findings are illustrated in Figure 3.

### Placental expression of sFlt-1 and thrombomodulin

An inverse correlation between thrombomodulin protein expression and sFlt-1 expression was observed; in placentas from preeclampsia patients with a focal syncytiotrophoblast thrombomodulin staining pattern, mRNA expression of sFlt-1 was 3-fold higher compared to the expression in placentas with an overall thrombomodulin staining pattern at the syncytiotrophoblast (P < 0.05, Figure 4). This inverse correlation was not observed between thrombomodulin mRNA and sFlt-1 mRNA.

## In vitro experiments

In BeWo cells, vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) transfection resulted in a 1.5-fold upregulation of thrombomodulin mRNA expression. This increase was significant (P<0.05) compared to untreated control cells and control cells that had received the transfection reagent without plasmid DNA. In Jeg-3 cells, VEGF transfection was associated with a 1.3-fold upregulation of thrombomodulin mRNA expression, but this was not significantly different compared to both control cell groups. These results are illustrated in Figure 5.

## DISCUSSION

Increasing evidence suggests that preeclampsia is caused by deprivation of factors essential for the placenta and endothelium, with consequent placental and endothelial dysfunction. This study demonstrates that thrombomodulin mRNA and protein expression are decreased in placentas of mildly and severely preeclamptic patients, and that this decrease correlates negatively with maternal body mass index and diastolic blood pressure. Additionally, thrombomodulin mRNA expression correlates directly with placental expression of MMPs and the decrease in placental thrombomodulin is accompanied by impaired villous cell survival.

In the preeclampsia group, parity, birth weight, placenta weight and duration of pregnancy were significantly different compared to the term control group. Therefore, we added an extra control group to our study, consisting of placentas from pregnancies complicated by growth restriction and not by hypertensive disorders. In this group, parity, birth weight, placenta weight and duration of pregnancy were comparable to the preeclampsia group. Thrombomodulin expression in the growth-restriction control group was not different from the expression in the term control group; therefore, we conclude that our findings on placental thrombomodulin loss in the preeclampsia group cannot be explained by, for example, the lower gestational age in the preeclampsia group.

A significant correlation was present between placental thrombomodulin expression and diastolic blood pressure in preeclampsia cases. This indicates that thrombomodulin expression is connected to the degree of endothelial dysfunction in preeclampsia, which could be upstream, in the pathogenesis of endothelial dysfunction, or downstream, as a consequence of endothelial dysfunction. However, thrombomodulin expression was not significantly different between mild and severe preeclampsia cases, so placental loss of thrombomodulin alone does not seem to be a major contributor to the development of end-organ involvement in preeclampsia.

If thrombomodulin is involved in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia, one would expect mutations in the thrombomodulin gene to be associated with the syndrome. For example, hemolytic uremic syndrome, a disease also characterized by endothelial dysfunction and complement activation, is associated with mutations in the thrombomodulin gene.<sup>19</sup> However, a recent meta-analysis of genetic variants in preeclampsia revealed that thrombomodulin mutations are not associated with preeclampsia.<sup>20</sup> Our study shows that a decreased thrombomodulin protein expression pattern in the placenta is accompanied by an increase in placental expression of sFlt-1, and that VEGF transfection is associated with thrombomodulin upregulation in trophoblast cells in vitro. These results strengthen the hypothesis that the angiogenic imbalance of preeclampsia could cause the decreased thrombomodulin expression in the placenta that we found in our cohort. The decreased thrombomodulin expression in the placenta in preeclampsia could have unfavorable downstream effects on the placenta through at least four pathways, which are illustrated in a hypothetical scheme in Figure 6. First, thrombomodulin inhibits coagulation through the APC pathway. Systemically, increased levels of the thrombin-antithrombin complex in the presence of increased thrombomodulin cleavage product have been reported in preeclampsia, <sup>21</sup> but we did not find an increase in placental fibrin deposits in preeclampsia or a correlation between thrombomodulin expression and placental villous fibrin deposits in our study; apparently, the placental decrease in thrombomodulin we observed in our cohort did not lead to increased fibrin at the fetomaternal interface. Second, we found that decreased placental thrombomodulin expression was accompanied by impaired placental cell survival in preeclampsia; these changes could also contribute to the impaired placentation seen in preeclampsia. However, a direct correlation between the amount of apoptotic cells detected with immunohistochemical staining and thrombomodulin expression was not present, possibly caused by sampling error due to the heterogeneous

nature of placental lesions. In vitro studies investigating the effects of thrombomodulin depletion on trophoblast cells would shed some light on this area. Third, although preeclampsia itself is associated with a hyperinflammatory state,<sup>4,5</sup> we found no increased mRNA expression of ICAM1 and TNFA in placentas from preeclamptic patients, and there was no correlation between thrombomodulin expression and these parameters. Further, thrombomodulin expression was not associated with villous- or intervillous infiltrates. Last, we found a positive correlation between thrombomodulin expression and expression of MMP2 and MMP9. These results indicate that thrombomodulin expression could lead to decreased MMP2 and MMP9 activity in the placenta, which is associated with impaired trophoblast invasion and preeclampsia.<sup>22</sup> Since our cohort contained exclusively thirdtrimester placentas obtained after delivery, early stages of placental development, and trophoblast invasion, were not studied. Further studies on thrombomodulin expression in the placenta at earlier stages of placental development are warranted.

In our cohort, we found a negative correlation between body mass index and placental thrombomodulin expression. Obesity is associated with endothelial dysfunction and increased levels of circulating thrombomodulin, suggestive for loss of endothelial thrombomodulin.<sup>23</sup> Obese pregnant women show increased levels of circulating markers of endothelial dysfunction and have an increased risk of developing preeclampsia. <sup>24</sup> Possibly, the highly inflammatory and hypoxic vascular environment of obesity leads to decreased expression of vasculoprotective factors, such as thrombomodulin, both on the fetomaternal interface and in the systemic vasculature, and contributes to the development of systemic endothelial dysfunction and preeclampsia. However, obesity in healthy control pregnancies was not associated with thrombomodulin loss. Apparently additional endothelial- or syncytiotrophoblast damaging factors are needed to cause placental thrombomodulin loss in preeclampsia. Thrombomodulin has raised interest as a possible target in the treatment of preeclampsia; it could act beneficially by reducing both endothelial and placental dysfunction. Recently, administration of recombinant thrombomodulin was shown to rescue fetal tissue oxygenation and growth in a rat model of preeclampsia.<sup>25</sup> However, in rats, thrombomodulin did not improve the maternal systemic symptoms of preeclampsia such as hypertension. This could indicate that thrombomodulin administration

rescues fetal growth by attenuating placental dysfunction. Our findings, which link decreased thrombomodulin expression to impaired placental cell function, support this hypothesis. Further research exploring the safety and efficacy of thrombomodulin as a target for the prevention and treatment of preeclampsia are of interest.

To conclude, preeclampsia is characterized by placental and endothelial dysfunction, but the exact etiology is not completely understood. Our study shows that thrombomodulin is a new candidate role-player in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia that is associated with both clinical parameters and dysregulation of factors essential for placental function. These insights set the stage for further basic and clinical research on placental development, the development of placental pathology and on thrombomodulin as a target for the prevention and treatment of preeclampsia.

## SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL

Supplemental material is available online at http://atvb.ahajournals.org/.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Malu Zandbergen, Kimberley Veraar, Carin van der Keur and Godelieve Swings for their excellent technical assistance and help with data collection. We thank Manon Bos for assisting with the cell culture experiments.

## REFERENCES

- Duley L. The global impact of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. Semin Perinatol. 2009; 33: 130-137.
- Say L, Chou D, Gemmill A, Tuncalp O, Moller AB, Daniels J, Gulmezoglu AM, Temmerman M, Alkema L. Global causes of maternal death: A who systematic analysis. Lancet Glob Health. 2014; 2: e323-333.
- Steegers EA, von Dadelszen P, Duvekot JJ, Pijnenborg R. Pre-eclampsia. Lancet. 2010; 376: 631-644.
- Penning M, Chua JS, van Kooten C, Zandbergen M, Buurma A, Schutte J, Bruijn JA, Khankin EV, Bloemenkamp K, Karumanchi SA, Baelde H. Classical complement pathway activation in the kidneys of women with preeclampsia. Hypertension. 2015; 66: 117-125.
- Buurma A, Cohen D, Veraar K, Schonkeren D, Claas FH, Bruijn JA, Bloemenkamp KW, Baelde HJ. Preeclampsia is characterized by placental complement dysregulation. Hypertension. 2012; 60: 1332-1337.
- Maruyama I, Bell CE, Majerus PW. Thrombomodulin is found on endothelium of arteries, veins, capillaries, and lymphatics, and on syncytiotrophoblast of human placenta. J Cell Biol. 1985; 101: 363-371.
- 7. Boehme MW, Deng Y, Raeth U, Bierhaus A, Ziegler R, Stremmel W, Nawroth PP. Release of thrombomodulin from endothelial cells by concerted action of tnf-alpha and neutrophils: In vivo and in vitro studies. Immunology. 1996; 87: 134-140.
- Conway EM. Thrombomodulin and its role in inflammation. Semin Immunopathol. 2012; 34: 107-125.
- 9. Minakami H, Takahashi T, Izumi A, Tamada T. Increased levels of plasma thrombomodulin in preeclampsia. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 1993; 36: 208-210.
- 10. Dusse LM, Alpoim PN, Lwaleed BA, de Sousa LP, Carvalho M, Gomes KB. Is there a link between endothelial dysfunction, coagulation activation and nitric oxide synthesis in preeclampsia? Clin Chim Acta. 2013; 415: 226-229.
- Strijbos MH, Snijder CA, Kraan J, Lamers CH, Gratama JW, Duvekot JJ. Levels of circulating endothelial cells in normotensive and severe preeclamptic pregnancies. Cytometry B Clin Cytom. 2010; 78: 382–386.
- 12. Dusse L, Godoi L, Kazmi RS, Alpoim P, Petterson J, Lwaleed BA, Carvalho M. Sources of thrombomodulin in pre-eclampsia: Renal dysfunction or endothelial damage? Semin Thromb Hemost. 2011; 37: 153-157.
- Isermann B, Hendrickson SB, Zogg M, Wing M, Cummiskey M, Kisanuki YY, Yanagisawa M, Weiler H. Endothelium-specific loss of murine thrombomodulin disrupts the protein c anticoagulant pathway and causes juvenile-onset thrombosis. J Clin Invest. 2001; 108: 537-546.
- Mosnier LO, Zlokovic BV, Griffin JH. The cytoprotective protein c pathway. Blood. 2007; 109: 3161-3172.
- 15. Isermann B, Vinnikov IA, Madhusudhan T, et al. Activated protein c protects against diabetic nephropathy by inhibiting endothelial and podocyte apoptosis.

Nat Med. 2007; 13: 1349-1358.

- Jackson MT, Moradi B, Smith MM, Jackson CJ, Little CB. Activation of matrix metalloproteinases 2, 9, and 13 by activated protein c in human osteoarthritic cartilage chondrocytes. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2014; 66: 1525-1536.
- Anteby EY, Greenfield C, Natanson-Yaron S, Goldman-Wohl D, Hamani Y, Khudyak V, Ariel I, Yagel S. Vascular endothelial growth factor, epidermal growth factor and fibroblast growth factor-4 and -10 stimulate trophoblast plasminogen activator system and metalloproteinase-9. Mol Hum Reprod. 2004; 10: 229-235.
- Qiao C, Wang CH, Shang T, Lin QD. [clinical significance of kiss-1 and matrix metalloproteinase-9 expression in trophoblasts of women with preeclampsia and their relation to perinatal outcome of neonates]. Zhonghua Fu Chan Ke Za Zhi. 2005; 40: 585-590.
- Maga TK, Nishimura CJ, Weaver AE, Frees KL, Smith RJ. Mutations in alternative pathway complement proteins in american patients with atypical hemolytic uremic syndrome. Hum Mutat. 2010; 31: E1445-1460.
- Buurma AJ, Turner RJ, Driessen JH, Mooyaart AL, Schoones JW, Bruijn JA, Bloemenkamp KW, Dekkers OM, Baelde HJ. Genetic variants in pre-eclampsia: A meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update. 2013; 19: 289–303.
- 21. Hayashi M, Inoue T, Hoshimoto K, Negishi H, Ohkura T, Inaba N. Characterization of five marker levels of the hemostatic system and endothelial status in normotensive pregnancy and pre-eclampsia. Eur J Haematol. 2002; 69: 297-302.
- 22. Li W, Mata KM, Mazzuca MQ, Khalil RA. Altered matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 expression/activity links placental ischemia and anti-angiogenic sflt-1 to uteroplacental and vascular remodeling and collagen deposition in hypertensive pregnancy. Biochem Pharmacol. 2014; 89: 370-385.
- 23. Wei Y, Liu GL, Yang JY, Zheng RX, Jiang LH, Li YP, Gao FF. Association between metabolic syndrome and vascular endothelium dysfunction in children and adolescents. Genet Mol Res. 2014; 13: 8671-8678.
- Jeyabalan A. Epidemiology of preeclampsia: Impact of obesity. Nutr Rev. 2013; 71 Suppl 1: S18-25.
- 25. Shin M, Hino H, Tamura M, Ishizuka B, Tanaka M, Suzuki N, Tateda T. Thrombomodulin improves maternal and fetal conditions in an experimental pre-eclampsia rat model. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2014; 40: 1226-1234.

## FIGURES



Figure 1 Placental thrombomodulin protein expression

Results of immunohistochemical and histological staining of placentas from preeclamptic patients and control subjects **A** Abundance of thrombomodulin protein expression in placentas from 30 placentas from healthy controls, from 11 control pregnancies complicated by IUGR and from 28 preeclampsia patients. (P = 0.001, Controls (H), healthy control subjects; Controls (IUGR), control subjects with pregnancies complicated by intra-uterine growth restriction). **B** Example of an overall staining pattern of thrombomodulin on the syncytiotrophoblast in control placenta. **C** Example of a focal staining pattern of thrombomodulin in a placenta from the preeclampsia group.



Figure 2 Placental mRNA expression of thrombomodulin

A Relative normalized placental mRNA expression of thrombomodulin in preeclampsia cases and controls; \*, P = 0.001 Mann-Whitney U test comparing preeclampsia and growth-restricted or healthy control placentas. **B** Normalized placental thrombomodulin mRNA expression in healthy control subjects and patients with mild or severe preeclampsia. Expression was significantly lower in patients with mild or severe preeclampsia compared to healthy control placentas. Expression was not significantly different between patients with mild and severe preeclampsia (p>0.05, Mann-Whitney U test). \*, P < 0.05; \*\*, P < 0.01, calculated with Mann-Whitney U testing. **C** Maternal BMI and normalized placental thrombomodulin mRNA levels in the preeclampsia group; Spearman's rho=-0.671, p<0.01. **D** Diastolic blood pressure and normalized placental thrombomodulin mRNA levels in the preeclampsia group; Spearman's rho=-0.431, P < 0.05. **E** Gestational age and normalized placental thrombomodulin mRNA levels in the preeclampsia group; Spearman's rho=0.361, P > 0.05. **F** Placenta weight and normalized placental thrombomodulin mRNA levels in the preeclampsia group; Spearman's rho=0.0361, P > 0.05.

TM, thrombomodulin; Controls (H), healthy controls; Controls (IUGR), control subjects with pregnancies complicated by intra-uterine growth restriction; PE, preeclampsia.



Figure 3 Downstream effects of thrombomodulin in placentas

**A** Percentage of villi with fibrin deposits as detected with immunohistological fibrin staining in placentas from preeclamptic patients compared to control subjects; P = 0.01, One-way ANOVA. **B** Placenta from a preeclamptic patient with

fibrin deposits. Asterisks indicate villous fibrin deposits. **C** Average number of apoptotic cells per mm<sup>2</sup> in placentas from preeclamptic patients and control subjects. \*, P < 0.001. **D** Example of caspase-3 staining in a placenta from a patient with preeclampsia. Arrows indicate cells positive for caspase-3. **E** Relative mRNA expression of tumor necrosis factor alpha and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 in placentas from preeclamptic patients and control subjects. \*, P < 0.001; n.s., not significant. **F** Relative mRNA expression of MMP2 and MMP9 in placentas from preeclamptic patients and control subjects; \*, P < 0.01, Mann-Whitney U tests. **G** Correlation between thrombomodulin and MMP2 expression in placentas from the preeclampsia group; Spearman's rho=0.500, P < 0.01. **H** Correlation between thrombomodulin and placentas from the preeclampsia group; Spearman's rho=0.342, P = 0.095.

Controls (H), healthy controls; Controls (IUGR), control subjects with pregnancies complicated by intra-uterine growth restriction; TNFA, tumor necrosis factor alpha; TM, thrombomodulin; ICAM1, intercellular adhesion molecule 1; MMP, matrix metalloproteinase.

# Figure 4 Placental sFlt-1 expression in preeclampsia cases with and without decreased thrombomodulin expression



Relative mRNA expression levels of sFlt-1 in placenta samples from the preeclampsia group with decreased thrombomodulin protein expression (TM<50%) or without decreased thrombomodulin protein expression (TM>50%) are depicted. \*, P < 0.05, Mann-Whitney U test.





**A** Normalized relative thrombomodulin mRNA expression in BeWo control cells, cells treated with transfection reagent and cells treated with VEGF plasmid DNA. Thrombomodulin expression was significantly higher in the VEGF-transfected cells compared to both control groups (P < 0.05). **B** Normalized relative thrombomodulin mRNA expression in Jeg-3 control cells, cells treated with transfection reagent and cells treated with VEGF plasmid DNA. There were no significant differences between the three groups.

T-control, control cells treated with transfection reagent; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; \*, P < 0.05; n.s., not significant.


#### Figure 6 Hypothetical scheme of thrombomodulin in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia

This figure shows the hypothetical role of thrombomodulin in the placenta in preeclampsia. Anti-angiogenic and possibly other (genetic) factors lead to thrombomodulin downregulation in the placenta, both on mRNA and protein levels. Since thrombomodulin inhibits coagulation, this downregulation could lead to increased fibrin deposition. Further, downregulation could increase apoptosis and inflammatory processes in endothelial cells and/ or syncytiotrophoblast. Lastly, thrombomodulin plays a role in activating matrix metalloproteinases, so its downregulation could result in impaired trophoblast invasion.

# TABLES

# Table 1 Patient characteristics

	Healthy controls	IUGR controls	Preeclampsia
Characteristics	n=30	n=21	n=28
Mean maternal age in years (SD)	33.9 (4.0)	31.4 (6.0)	31.6 (7.2)
Mean maternal BMI (SD)**	25.3 (4.2)	n.a.	26.9 (7.2)
Mean gravidity (SD)	2.9 (1.2)	1.9 (0.8)*	2.1 (1.9)*
Mean parity (SD)	1.3 (1.0)	0.5 (0.7)*	0.8 (1.2)*
Highest diastole (mmHg) (SD)	76.4 (5.1)	81.0 (8.3)*	107.5 (13.9)*†
Proteinuria (g/24h) (SD)	0.0 (0.0)	0.0 (0.0)	5.2 (5.1) <b>*</b> <sup>†</sup>
Severe preeclampsia (%)‡	0 (0)	0 (0)	19 (67.9)
Birth weight (g) (SD)	3608.5 (429.5)	1520.7 (854.0)*	1167.0 (320.0)*
Placenta weight (g) (SD)	645.7 (137.3)	302.4 (118.1)*	261.9 (90.2)*
Mode of delivery <sup>‡</sup>			
Caesarean section (%)	19 (63.3)	14 (66.7)	28 (100)
Vaginal delivery (%)	11 (36.7)	7 (33.3)	0 (0)
Gestational age at delivery	39 + 4 (9)	33 + 2 (35)*	30 + 4 (12)*
(weeks + days; SD in days)			

\*, P < 0.05 compared to healthy controls; †, P < 0.05 compared to IUGR controls, ‡, P < 0.05 for overall comparison with Chi-square testing, \*\*, data were available from 15 patients from the preeclampsia group.

# **Chapter 4**

Thrombomodulin expression in the kidney is regulated by anti-angiogenic factors, *in vitro* and *in vivo* 

RJ Turner<sup>1</sup>, M Bos<sup>1</sup>, ME Penning<sup>1</sup>, APJ de Vries<sup>2</sup>, M Scharpfenecker<sup>1</sup>, LJ Hawinkels<sup>3</sup>, JA Bruijn<sup>1</sup>, KWM Bloemenkamp<sup>4</sup>, JJ Baelde<sup>1</sup>

1: Department of Pathology, Leiden University Medical Center, the Netherlands

2: Department of Nephrology, Leiden University Medical Center, the Netherlands

3: Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Leiden University Medical Center, the Netherlands

4: Department of Obstetrics, Wilhelmina Children Hospital, Division Woman and Baby, University Medical Center Utrecht, the Netherlands

# ABSTRACT

#### Background

Levels of soluble thrombomodulin are increased in preeclampsia. Whether this increase reflects a change in functional thrombomodulin on the glomerular endothelium, and if these changes affect anti-coagulative and cytoprotective signaling is unknown. Hence, we investigated thrombomodulin signaling and regulation in preeclampsia patients and experimental models of endothelial dysfunction.

## Methods

Kidney tissue from eleven preeclampsia patients and 22 pregnant women was collected. Kidneys from five pigs with metabolic syndrome after a high-fat diet, five pigs with diabetes after streptozotocin injection and five control pigs and from twelve mice treated with endoglin or vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) receptor inhibiting antibodies were collected. Human umbilical vein endothelial cells were treated with VEGF-A or a soluble VEGF-receptor (sFlt-1). Gene expression of thrombomodulin, endothelial protein C receptor and tissue factor was investigated with qPCR. Thrombomodulin protein expression was investigated with immunohistochemistry.

#### Results

In preeclampsia, kidney thrombomodulin was increased compared to pregnant control subjects and this increase was correlated with podocyte nephrin expression (P<0.01). Glomerular thrombomodulin was increased in diabetic pigs and in mice treated with anti-angiogenic compounds. In diabetic pigs, mRNA expression of thrombomodulin, endothelial protein C receptor, and VEGF-A increased (all P<0,05). sFlt-1 decreased endothelial thrombomodulin mRNA in vitro.

# Conclusions

Renal endothelial thrombomodulin expression is increased during antiangiogenic conditions, in vitro and in vivo. Increased thrombomodulin expression is accompanied by increased podocyte nephrin expression, indicative of a protective effect on the glomerulus. These results indicate an attempt of glomerular endothelial cells to maintain cytoprotection; investigating pathways through which thrombomodulin expression is increased in endothelial cells could reveal clues to restore or prevent endothelial kidney damage.

# ABBREVIATIONS

APC	Activated protein C
VEGF-A	Vascular endothelial growth factor A
VEGFR-2	Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2
soluble Flt-1	sFlt-1
DN	Diabetic nephropathy
HUVEC	Human umbilical vein endothelial cell

# INTRODUCTION

Preeclampsia is a syndrome of pregnancy characterized by hypertension and proteinuria, with systemic endothelial dysfunction as the final common pathway leading to symptomatic disease.<sup>1</sup> Thrombomodulin is a transmembrane glycoprotein found on the endothelium of arteries, venules and capillaries.<sup>2</sup> It regulates endothelial cell survival, coagulation and endothelial activation through signaling via activated protein C (APC) and the endothelial protein C receptor (EPCR).<sup>2, 3</sup> Thrombomodulin is cleaved from the endothelial surface under inflammatory conditions, releasing a truncated, supposedly nonfunctional soluble thrombomodulin protein.<sup>3, 4</sup> In preeclampsia placental abundance of thrombomodulin is decreased.<sup>5</sup> This is accompanied by increased levels of cleaved thrombomodulin in the circulation.<sup>6</sup> One of the first maternal organs symptomatically affected in preeclampsia is the kidney; proteinuria is one of the first symptoms of preeclampsia and microalbuminuria during early pregnancy is a predictor of the development of preeclampsia.1 Kidney changes in preeclampsia are distinct; endothelial cells lose their fenestrations and become swollen, this is known as endotheliosis, and podocyte foot process effacement and podocyte loss in urine is observed.7

In preeclampsia, the placenta produces excessive levels of the anti-angiogenic factors soluble Flt-1 (sFlt-1) and soluble endoglin.<sup>8,9</sup> sFlt-1 and soluble endoglin are soluble receptors, binding to vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) and transforming growth factor beta, respectively, giving rise to an angiogenic imbalance when in excess.<sup>10</sup> VEGF-A and soluble endoglin play a pivotal role in maintaining an intact glomerular filtration barrier in the

kidney. Animal models with overexpression of sFlt-1 and soluble endoglin develop renal changes somewhat similar to those in preeclampsia, for example with glomerular endothelial cell swelling and podocyte changes.<sup>11-13</sup> Likewise, deviations in VEGF-A availability to the glomerulus are associated with a variety of kidney diseases in humans.<sup>14-16</sup> Patients treated with VEGF-A inhibitors develop similar renal lesions as in preeclampsia, including endothelial cell swelling, renal thrombi and proteinuria.<sup>17, 18</sup> The angiogenic imbalance of preeclampsia might (partially) contribute to the renal lesions in preeclampsia through impairing glomerular thrombomodulin signaling; thrombomodulin is a mediator of glomerular endothelial homeostasis during endothelial dysfunction. In a mouse model for diabetic nephropathy, thrombomodulin-dependent APC signaling was decreased and impairment of APC signaling resulted in glomerular endothelial apoptosis.<sup>19</sup> VEGF-A increases thrombomodulin expression in endothelial cells *in vitro*.<sup>20</sup> Also, in preeclampsia, increased sFlt-1 production in the placenta is associated

with placental loss of thrombomodulin.<sup>5</sup>

In summary, decreased thrombomodulin signaling and expression appear to be associated with renal endothelial dysfunction and preeclampsia. However, if thrombomodulin abundance changes in the kidney in preeclampsia, and if this is associated with the glomerular lesions of preeclampsia is unknown. We set out to investigate if kidney thrombomodulin expression is changed in preeclampsia, and if this change could be caused by the angiogenic imbalance of preeclampsia. Therefore, thrombomodulin abundance was studied in kidney tissue from human patients with preeclampsia and pregnant controls. Further, thrombomodulin expression and abundance were studied in disease models for endothelial dysfunction: porcine models for diabetes and metabolic syndrome and mice treated with anti-angiogenic compounds. Lastly, thrombomodulin expression was studied in an in-vitro model for glomerular endothelial cells under anti-angiogenic conditions.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Patient samples**

To collect renal tissue from women who died from the consequences of preeclampsia and control subjects, a nationwide search of the Dutch Pathology Registry was conducted. This is a network of all pathology laboratories in the Netherlands. The pathology data were linked with the records of the National Maternal Mortality Committee of the Dutch Society of Obstetrics. Preeclampsia was defined according to the definition of the International Society for the Study of Hypertension in Pregnancy (ISSHP).<sup>8</sup> Two control groups were included; the first group consisted of pregnant women without a hypertensive disorder prior to or during pregnancy, who died from a cause unrelated to hypertension, and the second group consisted of non-pregnant women with a history of chronic hypertension. Paraffin-embedded kidney samples from 11 women with preeclampsia, 22 normotensive pregnant controls and 14 non-pregnant hypertensive controls were available for this study. The patient characteristics of these groups have been described before.<sup>21</sup> This study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of the Leiden University Medical Center (P12.107).

#### Porcine models for metabolic syndrome and diabetes

To further study the association between endothelial dysfunction, angiogenic imbalance and thrombomodulin expression and abundance, samples from porcine models for metabolic syndrome and diabetes were collected. The control group of five pigs received a diet consisting primarily of barley, wheat and soy bean oil. The metabolic syndrome group of ten pigs received a cafeteria diet with a high content of lard, fructose, sucrose and added cholesterol. Five of the cafeteria diet fed pigs were additionally treated with low-dose streptozotocin (STZ) after five months, with the dose of STZ being adjusted individually to induce non-insulin dependent diabetes to model type two diabetes. After seven months, paraffin and snap-frozen kidney tissue was collected as described by Jonker et al.<sup>22</sup>

#### sFLt-1/ endoglin mouse model

To study the effect of anti-angiogenic conditions on endothelial thrombomodulin expression in vivo, six C57/Bl6 mice were treated two times per week with VEGF-receptor inhibiting antibodies (10 mg/kg, DC101, BioXcell) or anti-endoglin antibodies (M1043, kindly provided by Tracon Pharmaceuticals, San Diego USA) or with a combination for five weeks. Six mice were treated with appropriate IgG control antibodies for five weeks. Afterwards, mice were sacrificed and kidney tissue was collected, processed and stained for thrombomodulin expression as described below. Animal experiments were approved by the animal ethics committee of the Leiden University Medical Center, the Netherlands.

#### Histology and immunohistochemistry

Human renal sections were scored by a renal pathologist blinded with respect to cases and control subjects to evaluate histological changes, e.g. endotheliosis, glomerulosclerosis, podocyte count and parietal cell activation in human renal samples, as described before.<sup>21</sup> For immunohistochemistry, sections were deparaffinized, antigen retrieval was performed with citrate (for the thrombomodulin antibodies) or with Tris EDTA (for the fibrin antibody), and peroxidase was blocked by incubating the sections in a hydrogen peroxide solution for 20 minutes. Kidney samples from humans and pigs were incubated with a mouse monoclonal thrombomodulin antibody (1:200, Leica Biosystems, Danvers), a nephrin antibody, or a fibrin antibody (1:200) for one hour, and kidney samples from mice were incubated with a rabbit polyclonal thrombomodulin antibody (1:200 Santa Cruz) for one hour. Binding of the primary antibody was visualized with labeled anti-mouse or labeled anti-rabbit polymer (DAKO, Belgium) and diaminobenzidine as a chromogen. As positive and negative controls, human placenta and mouse skin samples were used.

#### Quantification of immunohistochemistry

In human patients and in mouse specimen, thrombomodulin, nephrin and fibrin staining were scored as being either present, when more than 10% of the capillary walls in the glomeruli were stained positively, or absent, when less than 10% of the capillary walls in the glomeruli was stained positively.

#### PCR

Quantitative PCR was performed to quantify placental mRNA expression of thrombomodulin, VEGF-A, Flt-1, tissue factor and endothelial protein C receptor. RNA was isolated with TRIzol® (Lifetechnologies, San Francisco, CA, USA). Synthesis of cDNA was performed with AMV reverse transcriptase (Roche, Basel, Switzerland), and SYBR Green quantitative PCR was performed according to the manufacturer's protocol (Bio-Rad Laboratories Inc, Hercules, CA, USA). Primer sequences are described in Supplementary Table 1. Expression was measured by the comparative threshold cycle method and normalized to hypoxanthine phosphoribosyl transferase and GAPDH expression. A melting curve analysis was performed to verify the specificity of amplification.

#### Glomerular endothelial cell and podocyte cell culture experiments

Human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) that were confluent for two days were incubated with VEGF-A (20 ng/ml; R&D Systems) for two, four, six and eight hours. To determine the effect of sFLT-1 on VEGF-A-induced endothelial activation, HUVECs were incubated for four hours with sFLT-1 (0, 10, 100 or 1000 ng/ml; R&D Systems) in the presence of VEGF-A (20 ng/ml). These experiments were performed three times. Cell lines were negative for mycoplasma contamination. <sup>23</sup> RNA isolation and PCR were performed as described above.

#### Statistical analyses

Categorical data were analyzed using the chi-square test. Mean differences in normalized mRNA expression levels between two groups were analyzed with the unpaired t-test for normally distributed data or with the Mann–Whitney U test for skewed distributions. A p-value below 0.05 was considered significant. All analyses were performed using the SPSS statistics software (IBM, version 20).

# RESULTS

#### Thrombomodulin immunohistochemistry in human samples

Thrombomodulin abundance in glomeruli was studied in 11 kidney specimens from women with preeclampsia, from 22 pregnant control subjects and from 14 non-pregnant hypertensive control subjects. Thrombomodulin was present in 9 out of 11 (82%) kidney samples from preeclampsia patients and in 9 out of 22 (41%) kidney samples from the pregnant control subjects. In non-pregnant hypertensive control subjects, thrombomodulin was present in 3 out of 14 (21%) kidney samples. The staining pattern was significantly more frequently positive in preeclampsia patients as compared to pregnant controls (P = 0.026) and as compared to non-pregnant hypertensive controls (P = 0.003). These results are illustrated in Figure 1.

#### Thrombomodulin expression and renal lesions of preeclampsia

Thrombomodulin protein abundance was compared with the histopathological changes and fibrin- and nephrin abundance in the kidney specimen, as markers of excessive coagulation and podocyte viability, respectively. Thrombomodulin expression correlated with activation of parietal epithelial cells (P = 0.023), but not with endotheliosis, podocyte count or endothelial fibrin deposits (P > 0.05). Further, glomerular thrombomodulin expression correlated with podocyte nephrin expression (P < 0.01). Fibrin deposits were observed in similar quantities in specimen from patients with preeclampsia and from controls.

#### Thrombomodulin expression in endothelial dysfunction porcine model

Thrombomodulin protein abundance and mRNA expression were studied in porcine models for diabetes and metabolic syndrome, and controls; thrombomodulin protein abundance was increased in the diabetes model; staining in glomeruli was observed in 40% of control pigs, in 40% of pigs with metabolic syndrome and in 80% of pigs with diabetes (P<0.05). Examples of staining in glomeruli and negative glomeruli are depicted in figure 2. Kidney thrombomodulin mRNA expression was increased approximately 2-fold in pigs with metabolic syndrome (P < 0.05) and in pigs with diabetes mellitus as compared to control pigs. This increase was accompanied by an increase in mRNA expression of the co-receptor EPCR in the metabolic syndrome pigs (P < 0.05) and diabetes mellitus pigs as compared to controls. Tissue factor expression was not different between case and control groups. sFlt-1 mRNA was increased in kidneys from pigs with metabolic syndrome and diabetes mellitus as compared to controls (both P < 0.05), but VEGF-A mRNA was increased as well in the case groups and there was no difference between cases and controls with respect to the VEGF-A/sFlt-1 ratio. These results are illustrated in Figure 3.

# Thrombomodulin immunohistochemistry in mice treated with anti-angiogenic compounds

Thrombomodulin abundance was investigated in kidney tissue from mice treated with VEGF-receptor inhibiting antibodies and anti-endoglin antibodies and control mice (Figure 4). Thrombomodulin expression was present in a diffuse and overall staining pattern among glomeruli in 50% of treated mice and in 20% of control mice (P > 0.05). Thrombomodulin staining in peritubular capillaries was present in all treated and control mice.

## In vitro experiments

To investigate the possible effect of the angiogenic imbalance on thrombomodulin expression in vitro, HUVEC cells were incubated with VEGF-A and sFlt-1. Adding sFlt-1 to HUVEC cells cultured in VEGF-enriched medium decreased thrombomodulin mRNA expression approximately twofold (Figure 5).

# DISCUSSION

Soluble thrombomodulin is cleaved from the endothelial surface, e.g. by matrix metalloproteinases, under inflammatory conditions.<sup>3</sup> We have now shown that this increased thrombomodulin cleaving in preeclampsia and diabetes does not lead to decreased thrombomodulin abundance on the endothelium. Instead, increased thrombomodulin abundance was observed under these conditions, implicating a 'rescue-mechanism' initiated by endothelial cells to compensate for the pro-inflammatory, procoagulant environment. However, this 'rescue-mechanism' is not sufficient to prevent kidney damage. The above described mechanism has been proposed before in glomerulonephritis.<sup>24</sup>

Angiogenic factors play a substantial role in maintaining the glomerular filtration barrier. This study underlines that angiogenic factors regulate renal thrombomodulin expression, *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In vitro, sFlt-1 transfection of human umbilical vein endothelial cells resulted in downregulation of thrombomodulin expression. Contrastingly, glomerular thrombomodulin abundance increased in mice treated with anti-angiogenic compounds, and in pigs with diabetes and metabolic syndrome. Moreover, kidney thrombomodulin abundance was increased significantly in preeclampsia patients compared to pregnant controls.

Our results raise the question why sFlt-1 decreases thrombomodulin *in vitro*, but why thrombomodulin expression is increased under antiangiogenic circumstances *in vivo*. Because thrombomodulin is known to be downregulated by hyperfiltration and shear stress, transforming growth factor beta and endotoxins, which are all increased in preeclampsia and diabetes, one would expect a decrease in glomerular endothelial thrombomodulin expression, but our study revealed the opposite.<sup>9</sup> A possible explanation could be that one of the major isoforms of VEGF-A, VEGF-A 165, can be stored in the glomerular basement membrane through binding to heparin sulphate proteoglycans, so local levels of VEGF-A might even be increased under the endothelium despite increased levels of circulating sFlt-1.<sup>25</sup>

Interestingly, VEGF-A and sFlt-1 mRNA expression increased in diabetic pigs, resulting in a net unchanged VEGF-A/sFlt-1 ratio, implicating unchanged levels of freely circulating VEGF-A. However, thrombomodulin expression was still increased in these cases. Recently, sFlt-1 was revealed to have an effect on podocytes independent of VEGF-A.<sup>26</sup> sFlt-1 binds to lipid rafts on the podocyte cell surface and initiates nephrin phosphorylation and cytoskeleton changes.<sup>26</sup> We propose that the changes observed in preeclamptic and diabetic nephropathy do not merely result from decreased VEGF-A availability, but from independent sFlt-1 signalling to pericytes and podocytes as well. Glomerular endothelial thrombomodulin expression is associated with increased expression of nephrin in podocytes and parietal epithelial cell activation in our study. This implies cross-talk across the glomerular basement membrane, between endothelial cells and podocytes. Known players in glomerular cross-talk are VEGF-A and endothelin-1.10 VEGF-A produced in podocytes reaches the endothelial cells either through diffusion or transport through heparin sulphate proteoglycans, where it binds to the VEGFR-2 on the endothelium and stimulates survival and cell structure maintenance.<sup>25</sup> Lack of podocyte VEGF-A results in endothelial cell abnormalities. Endothelial cells become activated and produce endothelin-1, which binds to receptors on the podocyte's cell surface, resulting in podocyte damage. Thrombomodulin is a strong inhibitor of endothelial activation; enhanced thrombomodulin signaling under anti-angiogenic conditions could therefore suppress endothelin-1 expression and interfere with the glomerular damage loop.

Soluble thrombomodulin has been applied as therapy in humans during sepsis and results in decreased mortality.<sup>27</sup> Perhaps treatment with soluble thrombomodulin could have a beneficial effect on glomerular endothelium, and subsequently on glomerular cross talk and endothelin expression, under anti-angiogenic conditions as well. Illustrative, soluble thrombomodulin administration appears to be a promising way to restoring glomerular

function in mouse models of inflammatory kidney disease.<sup>28</sup> However, since thrombomodulin expression is already elevated in preeclampsia and diabetic nephropathy, it might not be the rate-limiting step in controlling the glomerular damage loop; effects of a further increase of thrombomodulin signaling in these pathologies still have to be investigated.

In sum, this research provides evidence for the hypothesis that angiogenic factors regulate renal endothelial thrombomodulin expression, *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Further, we illustrated that increased soluble thrombomodulin levels under inflammatory conditions are accompanied by increased endothelial thrombomodulin expression, and not by thrombomodulin loss. Investigating pathways through which thrombomodulin expression is increased in endothelial cells could reveal clues to restore or prevent endothelial damage in the kidney.

# REFERENCES

- Mol BW, Roberts CT, Thangaratinam S, Magee LA, de Groot CJ, Hofmeyr GJ. Pre-eclampsia. Lancet. 2016; 387: 999-1011.
- Maruyama I, Bell CE, Majerus PW. Thrombomodulin is found on endothelium of arteries, veins, capillaries, and lymphatics, and on syncytiotrophoblast of human placenta. J Cell Biol. 1985; 101: 363–371.
- Conway EM. Thrombomodulin and its role in inflammation. Semin Immunopathol. 2012; 34: 107-125.
- 4. Wei Y, Liu GL, Yang JY, Zheng RX, Jiang LH, Li YP, Gao FF. Association between metabolic syndrome and vascular endothelium dysfunction in children and adolescents. Genet Mol Res. 2014; 13: 8671-8678.
- Turner RJ, Bloemenkamp KW, Bruijn JA, Baelde HJ. Loss of thrombomodulin in placental dysfunction in preeclampsia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2016; 36: 728-735.
- 6. Minakami H, Takahashi T, Izumi A, Tamada T. Increased levels of plasma thrombomodulin in preeclampsia. Gynecol Obstet Invest. 1993; 36: 208-210.
- Turner RJ, Bloemenkamp KW, Penning ME, Bruijn JA, Baelde HJ. From glomerular endothelium to podocyte pathobiology in preeclampsia: A paradigm shift. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2015; 17: 54.
- Brown MA, Lindheimer MD, de Swiet M, Van Assche A, Moutquin JM. The classification and diagnosis of the hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: Statement from the international society for the study of hypertension in pregnancy (isshp). Hypertens Pregnancy. 2001; 20: Ix-xiv.
- 9. Steegers EA, von Dadelszen P, Duvekot JJ, Pijnenborg R. Pre-eclampsia. Lancet. 2010; 376: 631-644.
- Henao DE, Saleem MA. Proteinuria in preeclampsia from a podocyte injury perspective. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2013; 15: 600-605.
- 11. Venkatesha S, Toporsian M, Lam C, et al. Soluble endoglin contributes to the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. Nat Med. 2006; 12: 642-649.
- 12. Eremina V, Baelde HJ, Quaggin SE. Role of the vegf-a signaling pathway in the glomerulus: Evidence for crosstalk between components of the glomerular filtration barrier. Nephron Physiol. 2007; 106: p32–37.
- 13. Eremina V, Quaggin SE. The role of vegf-a in glomerular development and function. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2004; 13: 9-15.
- Baelde HJ, Eikmans M, Lappin DW, Doran PP, Hohenadel D, Brinkkoetter PT, van der Woude FJ, Waldherr R, Rabelink TJ, de Heer E, Bruijn JA. Reduction of vegf-a and ctgf expression in diabetic nephropathy is associated with podocyte loss. Kidney Int. 2007; 71: 637-645.
- Avihingsanon Y, Benjachat T, Tassanarong A, Sodsai P, Kittikovit V, Hirankarn N. Decreased renal expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in lupus nephritis is associated with worse prognosis. Kidney Int. 2009; 75: 1340-1348.
- 16. Rintala SE, Savikko J, Rintala JM, von WE. Vascular endothelial growth factor

(vegf) ligand and receptor induction in rat renal allograft rejection. Transplant Proc. 2006; 38: 3236-3238.

- Usui J, Glezerman IG, Salvatore SP, Chandran CB, Flombaum CD, Seshan SV. Clinicopathological spectrum of kidney diseases in cancer patients treated with vascular endothelial growth factor inhibitors: A report of 5 cases and review of literature. Hum Pathol. 2014; 45: 1918-1927.
- Vigneau C, Lorcy N, Dolley-Hitze T, Jouan F, Arlot-Bonnemains Y, Laguerre B, Verhoest G, Goujon JM, Belaud-Rotureau MA, Rioux-Leclercq N. All anti-vascular endothelial growth factor drugs can induce 'pre-eclampsia-like syndrome': A rare study. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2014; 29: 325-332.
- Isermann B, Vinnikov IA, Madhusudhan T, et al. Activated protein c protects against diabetic nephropathy by inhibiting endothelial and podocyte apoptosis. Nat Med. 2007; 13: 1349-1358.
- 20. Calnek DS, Grinnell BW. Thrombomodulin-dependent anticoagulant activity is regulated by vascular endothelial growth factor. Exp Cell Res. 1998; 238: 294-298.
- Penning ME, Bloemenkamp KW, van der Zon T, Zandbergen M, Schutte JM, Bruijn JA, Bajema IM, Baelde HJ. Association of preeclampsia with podocyte turnover. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014; 9: 1377-1385.
- 22. Jonker JT, de Heer P, Engelse MA, et al. Metabolic imaging of fatty kidney in diabesity: Validation and dietary intervention. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2017:
- 23. Bus P, Scharpfenecker M, Van Der Wilk P, Wolterbeek R, Bruijn JA, Baelde HJ. The vegf-a inhibitor sflt-1 improves renal function by reducing endothelial activation and inflammation in a mouse model of type 1 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2017:
- 24. Mizutani M, Yuzawa Y, Maruyama I, Sakamoto N, Matsuo S. Glomerular localization of thrombomodulin in human glomerulonephritis. Lab Invest. 1993; 69: 193-202.
- 25. Turner RJ, Eikmans M, Bajema IM, Bruijn JA, Baelde HJ. Stability and species specificity of renal vegf-a splicing patterns in kidney disease. PLoS One. 2016; 11: e0162166.
- 26. Jin J, Sison K, Li C, et al. Soluble flt1 binds lipid microdomains in podocytes to control cell morphology and glomerular barrier function. Cell. 2012; 151: 384-399.
- 27. Yamakawa K, Umemura Y, Hayakawa M, Kudo D, Sanui M, Takahashi H, Yoshikawa Y, Hamasaki T, Fujimi S. Benefit profile of anticoagulant therapy in sepsis: A nationwide multicentre registry in japan. Crit Care. 2016; 20: 229.
- 28. Rajashekhar G, Gupta A, Marin A, Friedrich J, Willuweit A, Berg DT, Cramer MS, Sandusky GE, Sutton TA, Basile DP, Grinnell BW, Clauss M. Soluble thrombomodulin reduces inflammation and prevents microalbuminuria induced by chronic endothelial activation in transgenic mice. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2012; 302: F703-712.

## **FIGURES & LEGENDS**

Figure 1 thrombomodulin expression in kidney samples from human preeclampsia

patients and controls



Pregnant controls Hypertensive controls Preeclampsia



A) shows the percentage of kidney samples where thrombomodulin was absent or present in pregnant controls, hypertensive controls and preeclampsia patients.

B) shows a control kidney sample stained for thrombomodulin; there is no positive staining.

C) shows a preeclamptic kidney sample stained for thrombomodulin, there is positive staining along the capillary walls in the glomerulus and in the peritubular capillaries.



Figure 2 Thrombomodulin staining in porcine kidneys

A) glomerulus from diabetic pig, immunohistochemically stained for thrombomodulin, with a positive staining pattern.B) glomerulus from control pig, immunohistochemically stained for thrombomodulin, with a negative staining pattern.



Figure 3 mRNA expression in pig kidney tissue

A) relative normalized thrombomodulin mRNA expression in cases and controls. B) relative normalized EPCR expression in cases and controls. C relative normalized tissue factor mRNA expression in cases and controls. D relative normalized Flt-1 mRNA expression in cases and controls. E relative normalized VEGF-A mRNA expression in cases and controls. F VEGF-A/Flt-1 mRNA ratio in cases and controls. C) control group; Mb: metabolic syndrome group; STZ: streptozotocin-treated group;\*: P<0.05; n.s.: not significant; TM: thrombomodulin; TF: tissue factor. Figure 4 Thrombomodulin expression in kidneys from mice treated with VEGF-receptor inhibiting antibodies and anti-endoglin antibodies



A) and B) thrombomodulin staining in big vessels of a mouse treated with antiangiogenic compounds

C) thrombomodulin staining in parietal epithelial cells in a mouse treated with anti-angiogenic compounds.

D-F) HE-staining of the same regions as in A-C.





Thrombomodulin relative mRNA expression in HUVEC cells incubated with VEGF, or with VEGF and sFlt-1.\*: P<0,05  $\,$ 

Renal thrombomodulin expression in preeclampsia

# Chapter 5

From glomerular endothelium to podocyte pathobiology in preeclampsia: a paradigm shift

RJ Turner, KWM Bloemenkamp, ME Penning, JA Bruijn, JJ Baelde

Published in Current Hypertension Reports

# ABSTRACT

Preeclampsia is a pregnancy-specific syndrome characterized by renal dysfunction and high blood pressure. When evaluated with light microscopy, the renal lesion of preeclampsia is marked by endothelial cell swelling and the appearance of bloodless glomeruli. However, regarding the pathobiology of renal damage in preeclampsia, attention recently has shifted from the glomerular endothelial cells to the podocytes. The angiogenic imbalance in preeclampsia plays a key role in the development of both podocyte and endothelial damage in the glomerular filtration barrier. Here we review the latest studies on the role of podocytes in the development of renal damage in preeclampsia and on podocytes as potential targets for diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of long-term complications of preeclampsia.

# INTRODUCTION

Preeclampsia is a pregnancy-specific syndrome that complicates at least 2% of all pregnancies and contributes to up to 15% of maternal morbidity and mortality worldwide.<sup>1,2</sup> The condition is diagnosed by the presence of gestational hypertension (systolic blood pressure ≥140 mmHg and/ or diastolic blood pressure ≥90 mmHg) and proteinuria.<sup>3</sup> These symptoms are accompanied by underlying systemic endothelial dysfunction, inflammation, and vascular defects, which can lead to complications in different organ systems. The role of endothelial and vascular dysfunction in preeclampsia is illustrated further by the fact that women with pre-existing diabetes or hypertension are at greater risk of developing preeclampsia.<sup>4</sup> The organ mainly affected in preeclampsia is the kidney. In a normal pregnancy, the renal blood flow and glomerular filtration rate increase significantly, but in preeclampsia, the glomerular filtration rate decreases.<sup>5</sup> Histologically, the renal lesion characteristic of preeclampsia is glomerular endothelial cell swelling with obliteration of the capillary lumen, a manifestation known as endotheliosis.6 This endothelial involvement in the preeclamptic renal lesion is consistent with the systemic endothelial dysfunction, and endotheliosis thus has been viewed for decades as the characteristic lesion of preeclampsia.7 However, electron microscopy evaluation of preeclamptic kidneys also reveals lesions in podocytes, the visceral epithelial cells of the glomerulus, in which the cell structure is disrupted and foot processes appear to be fused.8

In this review, we show that glomerular endothelial dysfunction alone does not explain renal pathology in preeclampsia. Rather, the podocyte is essential in the development of glomerular lesions and long-term renal damage in preeclampsia. In addition, we present the latest research on podocytes as promising targets for diagnostic tools and treatment in preeclampsia.

#### AN ANGIOGENIC IMBALANCE CAUSES RENAL DAMAGE IN PREECLAMPSIA

The exact etiology of preeclampsia and the development of renal lesions is still unknown, but the placenta plays an important role in the cause and maintenance of the syndrome. In preeclampsia, placental ischemia and ischemia reperfusion injury lead to the placental release of anti-angiogenic factors. Moreover, the placenta in preeclampsia sheds syncytial knots into the circulation, which are transcriptionally active for anti-angiogenic factors.9 Specifically, the placental production of the anti-angiogenic factor soluble Flt-1 (sFlt-1) is increased.<sup>10</sup> sFlt-1 is the soluble splicing variant of Flt1, also known as vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1 (VEGFR-1). This soluble form lacks a cytoplasmic domain and acts as a decoy receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF) and placental growth factor. Therefore, the increased production of sFlt-1 is associated with less freely available VEGF and placental growth factor in preeclampsia, an 'angiogenic imbalance'. Also, in preeclampsia, serum levels of a placenta-derived soluble transforming growth factor-beta co-receptor, soluble endoglin, are increased,<sup>11</sup> leading to impaired transforming growth factor-beta signaling and consequently altered vascular regulation.

This angiogenic imbalance is likely the cause of the renal pathology in preeclampsia. In vivo experiments of VEGF depletion in mice show renal lesions and symptoms similar to those in preeclampsia.<sup>12,13</sup> Mice injected with sFlt-1 or VEGF antibodies develop proteinuria, glomerular endothelial cell swelling, and loss of slit diaphragms, the cell junctions between podocytal foot processes that are required for physiological glomerular barrier function. Furthermore, patients treated with VEGF ablation therapy can develop a preeclampsia-like syndrome with high blood pressure, proteinuria, and renal lesions similar to those seen in preeclampsia.<sup>14,15,16</sup> These patients also show endothelial cell swelling and foot process effacement.

#### **VEGF AND THE GLOMERULAR FILTRATION BARRIER**

As the above-described findings illustrate, VEGF is important in maintaining healthy glomeruli and preventing development of preeclampsia-like renal lesions. Podocytes are the main source of VEGF in the glomerulus and contribute in this way to the maintenance of the glomerular filtration barrier. Several studies have shown that podocyte-specific VEGF knockout mice show glomerular endothelial cell swelling and podocyte foot process effacement.<sup>17,18</sup> Podocyte-derived VEGF regulates this maintenance of the glomerular filtration barrier in two ways: first through paracrine interaction with glomerular endothelial cells, and second through autocrine interaction with podocytes.

The paracrine interaction of VEGF in the glomerulus probably occurs through podocyte-derived VEGF that crosses the glomerular basement membrane in the opposite direction of the primary filtrate. It then binds to glomerular endothelial cells, where the potent VEGFR-2 is expressed at high levels.<sup>19</sup> Maintenance of fenestrations and the permeability of glomerular endothelial cells is VEGF-dependent, indicating that paracrine VEGF signaling by podocytes is essential for maintaining the normal glomerular endothelium.<sup>20,21</sup> Podocytes also promote survival of glomerular endothelial cells through VEGF signaling via VEGFR-2.<sup>22</sup>

Results regarding the autocrine VEGF loop in podocytes are contradictory. In detail, there are two transmembrane VEGF receptors. One of the two transmembrane receptors, VEGFR-1, has weak tyrosine kinase activity and acts as a decoy receptor; the other, VEGFR-2, is necessary for a normal biological response to VEGF. Sison et al. showed in a mouse model that VEGFR-2 expression levels are relatively low in podocytes and that podocytespecific deletion of VEGFR-2 has no effect on glomerular development.<sup>19</sup> However, other studies using mouse models have shown that VEGFR-2 is expressed and active on podocytes.<sup>23,24</sup> In addition, VEGFR-2 is expressed in human podocytes, and changes in this VEGFR-2 expression are associated with renal pathology.<sup>25,26</sup>

Furthermore, different studies show autocrine effects of VEGF on podocytes. Therefore, the presence of an autocrine loop is generally accepted. For example, in vitro, VEGF regulates podocyte actin cytoskeleton rearrangement and foot process structure through a VEGFR-2–nephrin complex on podocytes;<sup>27</sup> nephrin is an essential component of slit diaphragms and regulates foot process structure. Mutations in the nephrin gene result in proteinuria.<sup>28</sup> In diabetic nephropathy, VEGF production is also decreased and correlates with decreased nephrin and podocin levels and with podocyte numbers.<sup>29</sup> In addition, VEGF regulates TRP6 channels in podocytes, channels that co-localize with nephrin and play a role in maintaining slit diaphragm and foot process structure.<sup>30</sup> Furthermore, VEGF regulates matrix metalloproteinase secretion in podocytes, <sup>31</sup> and podocytal over- or under expression of matrix metalloproteinases causes disturbances in podocyte structure and function, leading to proteinuria. Apart from regulating podocyte structure, VEGF inhibits podocyte apoptosis directly through VEGFR-2 and Galpha-interacting vesicle-associated protein, independent of nephrin.<sup>32</sup>

In addition to the autocrine VEGF loop, an sFlt-1–mediated autocrine loop was also recently discovered in podocytes in a mouse model.<sup>33</sup> This study shows that deletion of the VEGF receptor Flt1 from podocytes causes cytoskeleton reorganization and proteinuria. Expression of a form of Flt1 lacking the cytoplasmic domain and thereby preserving sFlt-1 production rescues this phenotype, indicating that the podocyte damage is caused by loss of sFlt-1 rather than the lack of intracellular signaling through Flt1. Further research into this autocrine loop in the context of preeclampsia is of great interest because the existence of this loop indicates that high levels of sFlt-1 could lead to podocyte changes independent of VEGF.

# DYSFUNCTION OF THE GLOMERULAR FILTRATION BARRIER IN PREECLAMP-SIA

As these studies show, maintaining a balance between angiogenic and anti-angiogenic factors is essential for the maintenance of the glomerular filtration barrier. In preeclampsia the podocyte barrier-forming capacity is impaired because of this imbalance. Garovich et al. were the first to show that the podocytal foot process proteins nephrin and synaptopodin are downregulated in preeclampsia.<sup>34</sup> This downregulation correlates with an increase in sFlt-1 levels, with a decrease in VEGF levels and with proteinuria. Zhao et al. also found an altered expression of nephrin in podocytes from women with preeclampsia,<sup>35</sup> and this altered expression correlates with changes in polarity proteins.<sup>36</sup> Henao et al. further reported that sera from preeclamptic women induced changes in important podocyte proteins such as podocin and CD2AP in cultured podocytes.<sup>37</sup> Also, they showed that preeclamptic sera disturb podocyte barrier formation in vitro and that VEGF supplementation restores this.<sup>38</sup>

Changes in podocyte slit diaphragm and foot process structure are associated with detachment and loss of podocytes.<sup>39</sup> As noted, less available podocytal VEGF in the glomerulus leads to glomerular endothelial cell damage, which in turn can result in further podocytal barrier disruption in preeclampsia. Collino et al. showed that endothelin-1 released from damaged glomerular endothelial cells incubated in preeclamptic sera leads to nephrin shedding by podocytes.<sup>40</sup> Also, endothelial cells under inflammatory conditions release microparticles that interfere with albumin endocytosis in podocytes.<sup>41</sup>

These findings indicate the existence of a damage loop, starting with damaged and detaching podocytes in preeclampsia, leading to glomerular endothelial cell damage through VEGF depletion and giving rise to more podocyte damage through endothelin.<sup>42</sup> The pathways leading to renal damage in preeclampsia are illustrated in Figure 1.

The native immune system is also dysregulated in preeclampsia, which may influence the angiogenic imbalance. As an example, activation of the complement system, part of the innate immune system, is increased in both placental tissue and the circulation in preeclampsia.<sup>43,44</sup> In the kidney, there is an association with activation of the classical complement pathway in preeclampsia.<sup>45</sup> Furthermore, Burwick et al. recently showed that complement products are elevated in urine from women with severe preeclampsia and that complement markers correlate with kidney-injury marker 1.<sup>46,47</sup> Wang et al. reported increased renal complement deposition of C3 in an auto-antibody-induced preeclampsia mouse model.<sup>48</sup> In the same study, complement receptor C3a inhibition improved hypertension and proteinuria and also lowered placental sFlt-1 production, indicating that complement inhibition might restore the angiogenic balance. However, whether complement activation is a cause or a consequence of preeclampsia remains elusive.

#### PODOCYTURIA

Podocyte detachment from the glomerular basement membrane leads in preeclampsia to the presence of both living podocytes and podocyte-specific proteins in urine, known as podocyturia. The increase in anti-angiogenic factors in preeclampsia probably causes this podocyturia, as patients treated with bevacizumab, an anti-VEGF antibody, also develop podocyturia, and bevacizumab treatment and podocyturia show a dose-response relationship.<sup>49</sup> Currently, proteinuria and the protein:creatinine ratio are used as markers of renal injury in preeclampsia in clinical practice.<sup>50</sup> However, these markers reflect late stages of renal damage, and markers in the subclinical stage that predict preeclampsia are still lacking.<sup>51</sup> Because podocyturia is a more specific marker of ongoing glomerular damage, it might well be an interesting new diagnostic tool in preeclampsia.<sup>52</sup>

Garovic et al. in 2007 first described podocyturia as a marker for preeclampsia.<sup>53</sup> Since then, many studies have evaluated the detection of podocyturia as a predictive or diagnostic tool for preeclampsia, and an overview of this body of work has been published.<sup>51</sup> These studies all use different techniques to detect living podocytes as well as podocyte-specific proteins such as nephrin, and the specificity for diagnosing and predicting preeclampsia varies among them. For example, Garovic et al. found that all preeclampsia cases were associated with positive staining for podocin and all normal pregnant cases were negative.<sup>53</sup> Craici et al. performed a prospective study, detecting podocytes in urine samples by podocin staining to predict preeclampsia. All women who developed preeclampsia or gestational hypertension had podocyturia at the end of the second trimester.<sup>54</sup> In contrast, Kelder et al. found podocytal mRNA coding for nephrin, podocin, and VEGF in urine from normal pregnancy cases, although mRNA levels of these markers were significantly higher in preeclampsia cases.<sup>55</sup> Metaanalysis, validation, cost-effectiveness, and implementation studies on a larger scale should be conducted to determine which technique predicts preeclampsia most accurately and if podocyturia measurement is applicable in daily clinical practice.

#### THE ANGIOGENIC IMBALANCE AS A TARGET FOR THERAPY

As these findings suggest, screening for podocyturia could offer a diagnostic tool to detect preeclampsia and podocyte damage at earlier stages, which also creates possibilities for developing treatments for renal targets affected at an early stage of the syndrome. Ideally, to prevent renal damage in preeclampsia, the angiogenic imbalance originating from the placenta should be prevented or restored. However, as explained above, the autocrine and paracrine VEGF and sFlt-1 system in the kidney is very complex. VEGF levels must be kept within very small boundaries to avoid inducing severe glomerular damage.<sup>56</sup> Also, VEGF levels must be regulated tightly for adequate placental development.<sup>57</sup> Thus, simply providing VEGF or anti-sFlt-1 therapy in preeclampsia is currently not possible.

Another interesting target in the treatment of preeclampsia would be the complement system; as mentioned above, complement inhibition can decrease placental sFlt-1 production in mice and improves hypertension and proteinuria. Further studies on the safety of complement-inhibitory drugs in pregnancy are needed.

#### TARGETING PODOCYTES IN PREECLAMPSIA

Another possible solution for preventing renal damage in preeclampsia is to target podocytes directly. Current preeclampsia guidelines recommend only symptomatic treatment for high blood pressure and eclampsia, but therapeutic options directly targeting podocytes in preeclampsia are lacking.<sup>3</sup> Therapeutic targeting of podocytes could prevent renal dysfunction in at least two ways. First, dysfunction of slit diaphragm molecules causes dysfunction of the glomerular filtration barrier and subsequently leads to proteinuria in preeclampsia. Second, damage to podocytes causes further damage to glomerular endothelial cells and gives rise to preeclampsia-like lesions in vivo. Some already available therapeutic drugs have been discovered to have previously unknown effects on podocytes.<sup>58</sup> For example, dexamethasone, a glucocorticoid, prevents apoptosis in podocytes and enhances intracellular trafficking of nephrin.<sup>59, 60</sup> Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors also prevent and even restore podocyte damage, but cannot be used during pregnancy because of the risk of congenital abnormalities.<sup>61, 62</sup> Another widely-used group of drugs, the statins, protect podocytes by restoring podocytal slit diaphragm proteins and decreasing proteinuria in a model of HIV-associated nephropathy.63 Statins recently also became of interest in preeclampsia because they suppress sFlt-1 and soluble endoglin release and are associated with anti-apoptotic and anti-inflammatory properties.<sup>64</sup> A recent case report described a patient with anti-phospholipid syndrome who presented with early preeclampsia at 23 weeks of pregnancy. After one month of treatment with pravastatin, her proteinuria and blood pressure returned to normal levels.<sup>65</sup> Further studies to assess the safety of statins in pregnancy

and their effectiveness during preeclampsia are needed and awaited.<sup>64</sup> Although there is no evidence that statins increase the risk of congenital abnormalities, thorough studies on this topic are lacking.66 In addition to using existing drugs for targeting podocyte-mediated renal diseases, developing new drugs specifically targeting podocytes has gained interest.<sup>67</sup> In recent decades, several new proteins in the podocytal slit diaphragm have been discovered, including nephrin, podocin, synaptopodin, CD2AP, NEPH1 and TRP6.68 In preeclampsia and other proteinuric diseases, downregulation of these molecules and consequent disruption of the slit diaphragm structure contribute to the development of renal damage and proteinuria. Therefore, new drugs targeting these slit diaphragm molecules could perhaps prevent podocyte and glomerular filtration barrier damage in these conditions. Hinting at this possibility are results showing that inhibition of NEPH1 signaling with a transduction model in vitro and in zebrafish ameliorates podocytal damage in a model for minimal change glomerulonephritis.69

Because of their specific mode of action, an advantage of podocyte-specific drugs in comparison to currently-used drugs for renal diseases could be fewer side effects. However, thorough studies to explore the possibilities of slit diaphragm proteins as a target in renal diseases and their applicability in clinical practice still have to be conducted.

# LONG-TERM EFFECTS OF RENAL DAMAGE IN PREECLAMPSIA

Women with a history of preeclampsia are at greater risk of developing renal pathology later in life. In 2010, a systematic review and meta-analysis showed that at 7.1 years postpartum, 31% of women who had preeclampsia had developed micro-albuminuria, a four-fold increased risk compared to women with uncomplicated pregnancies.<sup>70</sup> Furthermore, a large study from Wang et al. in 2013 showed that for women who had preeclampsia, the hazard ratio for developing end-stage renal disease is 14.0 compared to women who had normal pregnancies.<sup>71</sup> Studies using the Medical Birth Registry in Norway showed that preeclampsia itself, and not familial aggregation of common risk factors, leads to a relative risk of up to 15.5 for the development of end-stage renal disease.<sup>72,73</sup>

The cause of this increased risk of renal disease after preeclampsia could be podocyte loss and damage. Podocytes are terminally differentiated cells that

do not replicate;<sup>74</sup> therefore, critical podocytal loss can lead to permanent renal injury. For example, podocyte loss is associated with the development of focal glomerular sclerosis, as is preeclampsia.<sup>75,76</sup> As described above, podocyturia is a key marker of preeclampsia. Recently, White et al. showed that podocyturia persists in women who had preeclampsia after delivery, whereas proteinuria normalizes.<sup>77</sup> This indicates ongoing, subclinical renal damage even after clinical symptoms of preeclampsia have resolved. Although podocytes cannot replicate, the parietal epithelial cells (PEC) in the glomerulus can be recruited to replace lost podocytes.<sup>78</sup> Recently, interesting findings by Hakroush et al. showed that these PECs migrate to the glomerular basement membrane after extensive podocyte loss, but do not express VEGF, which results in impaired vascularization in the glomerulus and subsequent hypoxic cell death.<sup>79</sup> Activated PECs are even associated with the development of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis.<sup>80</sup> Penning et al. recently showed that in preeclampsia, activated PECs are increased compared to normal pregnant women and healthy controls and replace lost podocytes.<sup>81</sup> They also found a significant correlation between cellular bridges that connect the glomerular tuft and Bowman's capsule and focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. Although this is an observational study, these findings may indicate that podocyte loss and subsequent PEC activation contribute to the risk of developing focal segmental glomerulosclerosis after preeclampsia.

# FUTURE STUDIES: PERSONALIZED MEDICINE

The emerging possibilities for early detection and treatment suggest opportunities for the development of personalized medicine in renal involvement in preeclampsia. Personalized medicine is defined as a strategy that seeks to improve stratification and timing of health care by utilizing biological information and biomarkers at the level of molecular disease pathways, genetics, proteomics, and metabolomics.<sup>82</sup> Recently, tests using both proteomics and metabolomics for the prediction and early detection of preeclampsia were developed,<sup>83, 84</sup> and a multi-center trial is ongoing to assess their clinical applicability.<sup>85</sup> However, these tests do not involve specific markers for renal involvement in preeclampsia.

As noted above, preeclampsia is associated with increased podocyte turnover, focal segmental glomerulosclerosis, and end-stage renal disease later in life. The rise of personalized medicine to detect patients at risk for developing unresolvable renal damage in preeclampsia could possibly prevent serious renal complications. Biomarkers such as podocyturia and proteins indicative of podocyte damage open an interesting new field of research into predicting renal damage in preeclampsia more precisely. Currently, only patient characteristics such as nulliparity, pre-existing hypertension, and diabetes mellitus that put the mother into a high-risk group for the development of preeclampsia are taken into account in guidelines.<sup>3</sup>

# CONCLUSION

In research on the pathobiology of renal damage in preeclampsia, attention has shifted from the endothelium to the podocytes. High levels of antiangiogenic factors and VEGF depletion in preeclampsia cause podocyte damage and loss of slit diaphragm proteins, which in turn leads to loss of podocytes and podocyturia, a possible diagnostic tool in preeclampsia. Further research should explore podocyte-specific treatment options to prevent podocyte loss and subsequent permanent renal lesions.

#### REFERENCES

- von Schmidt auf Altenstadt JF, Hukkelhoven CW, van Roosmalen J, Bloemenkamp KW. Pre-eclampsia increases the risk of postpartum haemorrhage: a nationwide cohort study in the Netherlands. PLoS One. 2013;8(12):e81959. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0081959.
- Khan KS, Wojdyla D, Say L, Gulmezoglu AM, Van Look PF. WHO analysis of causes of maternal death: a systematic review. Lancet. 2006;367(9516):1066-74.
- Gillon TE, Pels A, von Dadelszen P, MacDonell K, Magee LA. Hypertensive disorders of pregnancy: a systematic review of international clinical practice guidelines. PLoS One. 2014;9(12):e113715. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0113715.
- Myers JE, Kenny LC, McCowan LM, Chan EH, Dekker GA, Poston L et al. Angiogenic factors combined with clinical risk factors to predict preterm pre-eclampsia in nulliparous women: a predictive test accuracy study. Bjog. 2013;120(10):1215–23.
- Hussein W, Lafayette RA. Renal function in normal and disordered pregnancy. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2014;23(1):46-53.
- 6. Spargo B, McCartney CP, Winemiller R. Glomerular capillary endotheliosis in toxemia of pregnancy. Arch Pathol. 1959;68:593–9.
- Gartner HV, Sammoun A, Wehrmann M, Grossmann T, Junghans R, Weihing C. Preeclamptic nephropathy – an endothelial lesion. A morphological study with a review of the literature. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1998;77(1):11-27.
- Cagnoli L, Casanova S, Pasquali S. Correlations between glomerular epithelial changes and proteinuria in different glomerular diseases. [Italian]. Minerva Nefrologica. 1980;27(1):155-8.
- 9. Buurma AJ, Penning ME, Prins F, Schutte JM, Bruijn JA, Wilhelmus S et al. Preeclampsia is associated with the presence of transcriptionally active placental fragments in the maternal lung. Hypertension. 2013;62(3):608-13.
- Maynard SE, Min JY, Merchan J, Lim KH, Li J, Mondal S et al. Excess placental soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (sFlt1) may contribute to endothelial dysfunction, hypertension, and proteinuria in preeclampsia. J Clin Invest. 2003;111(5):649–58.
- 11. Venkatesha S, Toporsian M, Lam C, Hanai J, Mammoto T, Kim YM et al. Soluble endoglin contributes to the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. Nat Med. 2006;12(6):642-9.
- Sugimoto H, Hamano Y, Charytan D, Cosgrove D, Kieran M, Sudhakar A et al. Neutralization of circulating vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) by anti-VEGF antibodies and soluble VEGF receptor 1 (sFlt-1) induces proteinuria. J Biol Chem. 2003;278(15):12605-8.
- Eremina V, Sood M, Haigh J, Nagy A, Lajoie G, Ferrara N et al. Glomerular-specific alterations of VEGF-A expression lead to distinct congenital and acquired renal diseases. J Clin Invest. 2003;111(5):707-16.
- 14. Vigneau C, Lorcy N, Dolley-Hitze T, Jouan F, Arlot-Bonnemains Y, Laguerre B et al. All anti-vascular endothelial growth factor drugs can induce 'pre-eclampsia-like syndrome': a RARe study. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2014;29(2):325-32.
- 15. Muller-Deile J, Schiffer M. Renal involvement in preeclampsia: similarities to VEGF
ablation therapy. J Pregnancy. 2011;2011:176973. doi: 10.1155/2011/.

- 16. Usui J, Glezerman IG, Salvatore SP, Chandran CB, Flombaum CD, Seshan SV. Clinicopathological spectrum of kidney diseases in cancer patients treated with vascular endothelial growth factor inhibitors: a report of 5 cases and review of Literature. Hum Pathol. 2014;45(9):1918-27.
- Eremina V, Jefferson JA, Kowalewska J, Hochster H, Haas M, Weisstuch J et al. VEGF inhibition and renal thrombotic microangiopathy. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(11):1129-36.
- Veron D, Villegas G, Aggarwal PK, Bertuccio C, Jimenez J, Velazquez H et al. Acute podocyte vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF-A) knockdown disrupts alphaVbeta3 integrin signaling in the glomerulus. PLoS One. 2012;7(7):e40589.doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0040589.
- Sison K, Eremina V, Baelde H, Min W, Hirashima M, Fantus IG et al. Glomerular structure and function require paracrine, not autocrine, VEGF-VEGFR-2 signaling. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2010;21(10):1691-701.
- 20. Kamba T, Tam BY, Hashizume H, Haskell A, Sennino B, Mancuso MR et al. VEGF-dependent plasticity of fenestrated capillaries in the normal adult microvasculature. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006;290(2):H560-76.
- 21. Zhao J, Liu H, Du H, Qiao F, Li Y, Shi X et al. Upregulation of sFlt-1 by trophoblasts induces the barrier dysfunction of glomerular endothelial cells. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technolog Med Sci. 2011;31(6):815-8.
- 22. Wang L, Zhang T, Fang M, Shen N, Wang D, Teng J et al. Podocytes protect glomerular endothelial cells from hypoxic injury via deSUMOylation of HIF-1alpha signaling. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2015;58:17-27.
- Veron D, Reidy KJ, Bertuccio C, Teichman J, Villegas G, Jimenez J et al. Overexpression of VEGF-A in podocytes of adult mice causes glomerular disease. Kidney Int. 2010;77(11):989-99.
- 24. Ku CH, White KE, Dei Cas A, Hayward A, Webster Z, Bilous R et al. Inducible overexpression of sFlt-1 in podocytes ameliorates glomerulopathy in diabetic mice. Diabetes. 2008;57(10):2824-33.
- Ostalska-Nowicka D, Malinska A, Zabel M, Witkiewicz W, Nowicki M. Nephrotic syndrome unfavorable course correlates with downregulation of podocyte vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR)-2. Folia Histochem Cytobiol. 2011;49(3):472-8.
- 26. Hohenstein B, Colin M, Foellmer C, Amann KU, Brekken RA, Daniel C et al. Autocrine VEGF-VEGF-R loop on podocytes during glomerulonephritis in humans. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2010;25(10):3170-80.
- 27. Bertuccio C, Veron D, Aggarwal PK, Holzman L, Tufro A. Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 direct interaction with nephrin links VEGF-A signals to actin in kidney podocytes. J Biol Chem. 2011;286(46):39933-44.
- Kestila M, Lenkkeri U, Mannikko M, Lamerdin J, McCready P, Putaala H et al. Positionally cloned gene for a novel glomerular protein-nephrin-is mutated in congenital nephrotic syndrome. Mol Cell. 1998;1(4):575-82.

- 29. Baelde HJ, Eikmans M, Lappin DW, Doran PP, Hohenadel D, Brinkkoetter PT et al. Reduction of VEGF-A and CTGF expression in diabetic nephropathy is associated with podocyte loss. Kidney Int. 2007;71(7):637-45.
- 30. Thilo F, Liu Y, Loddenkemper C, Schuelein R, Schmidt A, Yan Z et al. VEGF regulates TRPC6 channels in podocytes. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2012;27(3):921-9.
- Li SY, Huang PH, Yang AH, Tarng DC, Yang WC, Lin CC et al. Matrix metalloproteinase-9 deficiency attenuates diabetic nephropathy by modulation of podocyte functions and dedifferentiation. Kidney Int. 2014;86(2):358–69.
- 32. Wang H, Misaki T, Taupin V, Eguchi A, Ghosh P, Farquhar MG. GIV/girdin links vascular endothelial growth factor signaling to Akt survival signaling in podocytes independent of nephrin. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015;26(2):314-27.
- Jin J, Sison K, Li C, Tian R, Wnuk M, Sung HK et al. Soluble FLT1 binds lipid microdomains in podocytes to control cell morphology and glomerular barrier function. Cell. 2012;151(2):384-99.
- 34. Garovic VD, Wagner SJ, Petrovic LM, Gray CE, Hall P, Sugimoto H et al. Glomerular expression of nephrin and synaptopodin, but not podocin, is decreased in kidney sections from women with preeclampsia. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2007;22(4):1136-43.
- 35. Zhao S, Gu X, Groome LJ, Wang Y. Decreased nephrin and GLEPP-1, but increased VEGF, Flt-1, and nitrotyrosine, expressions in kidney tissue sections from women with preeclampsia. Reprod Sci. 2009;16(10):970-9.
- 36. Zhao S, Gu Y, Coates G, Groome LJ, Saleem MA, Mathieson PW et al. Altered nephrin and podoplanin distribution is associated with disturbed polarity protein PARD-3 and PARD-6 expressions in podocytes from preeclampsia. Reprod Sci. 2011;18(8):772-80.
- 37. Henao DE, Arias LF, Mathieson PW, Ni L, Welsh GI, Bueno JC et al. Preeclamptic sera directly induce slit-diaphragm protein redistribution and alter podocyte barrier-forming capacity. Nephron Exp Nephrol. 2008;110(3):e73-81.
- 38. Henao DE, Cadavid AP, Saleem MA. Exogenous vascular endothelial growth factor supplementation can restore the podocyte barrier-forming capacity disrupted by sera of preeclamptic women. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. 2013;39(1):46-52.
- Kriz W, Shirato I, Nagata M, LeHir M, Lemley KV. The podocyte's response to stress: the enigma of foot process effacement. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2013;304(4):F333-47.
- 40. Collino F, Bussolati B, Gerbaudo E, Marozio L, Pelissetto S, Benedetto C et al. Preeclamptic sera induce nephrin shedding from podocytes through endothelin-1 release by endothelial glomerular cells. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2008;294(5):F1185-94.
- Eyre J, Burton JO, Saleem MA, Mathieson PW, Topham PS, Brunskill NJ. Monocyteand endothelial-derived microparticles induce an inflammatory phenotype in human podocytes. Nephron Exp Nephrol. 2011;119(3):e58-66.
- Henao DE, Saleem MA. Proteinuria in preeclampsia from a podocyte injury perspective. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2013;15(6):600-5.

- Buurma A, Cohen D, Veraar K, Schonkeren D, Claas FH, Bruijn JA et al. Preeclampsia is characterized by placental complement dysregulation. Hypertension. 2012;60(5):1332-7.
- Lynch AM, Murphy JR, Byers T, Gibbs RS, Neville MC, Giclas PC et al. Alternative complement pathway activation fragment Bb in early pregnancy as a predictor of preeclampsia. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2008;198(4):385.e1-9.
- 45. Penning ME, Chua JS, van Kooten C, Zandbergen M, Buurma A, Schutte JM et al. Classical complement pathway activation in the kidneys of women with preeclampsia. Hypertension. 2015:Accepted for publication.
- 46. Burwick RM, Easter SR, Dawood HY, Yamamoto HS, Fichorova RN, Feinberg BB. Complement activation and kidney injury molecule-1-associated proximal tubule injury in severe preeclampsia. Hypertension. 2014;64(4):833-8.
- Burwick RM, Fichorova RN, Dawood HY, Yamamoto HS, Feinberg BB. Urinary excretion of C5b-9 in severe preeclampsia: tipping the balance of complement activation in pregnancy. Hypertension. 2013;62(6):1040-5.
- 48. Wang W, Irani RA, Zhang Y, Ramin SM, Blackwell SC, Tao L et al. Autoantibody-mediated complement C3a receptor activation contributes to the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. Hypertension. 2012;60(3):712-21.
- 49. Hayman SR, Calle JC, Jatoi A, Craici IM, Wagner SJ, Weaver AL et al. Urinary podocyte excretion and proteinuria in patients treated with antivascular endothelial growth factor therapy for solid tumor malignancies. Oncology. 2014;86(5-6):271-8.
- 50. Bhide A, Rana R, Dhavilkar M, Amodio-Hernandez M, Deshpande D, Caric V. The value of the urinary protein: creatinine ratio for the detection of significant proteinuria in women with suspected preeclampsia. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 2015:doi: 10.1111/aogs.12624.
- 51. Garovic VD. The role of the podocyte in preeclampsia. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014;9(8):1337-40.
- 52. Yu D, Petermann A, Kunter U, Rong S, Shankland SJ, Floege J. Urinary podocyte loss is a more specific marker of ongoing glomerular damage than proteinuria. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2005;16(6):1733-41.
- Garovic VD, Wagner SJ, Turner ST, Rosenthal DW, Watson WJ, Brost BC et al. Urinary podocyte excretion as a marker for preeclampsia. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2007;196(4):320 e1-7.
- Craici IM, Wagner SJ, Bailey KR, Fitz-Gibbon PD, Wood-Wentz CM, Turner ST et al. Podocyturia predates proteinuria and clinical features of preeclampsia: longitudinal prospective study. Hypertension. 2013;61(6):1289–96.
- 55. Kelder TP, Penning ME, Uh HW, Cohen D, Bloemenkamp KW, Bruijn JA et al. Quantitative polymerase chain reaction-based analysis of podocyturia is a feasible diagnostic tool in preeclampsia. Hypertension. 2012;60(6):1538-44.
- Eremina V, Baelde HJ, Quaggin SE. Role of the VEGF-A signaling pathway in the glomerulus: evidence for crosstalk between components of the glomerular filtration barrier. Nephron Physiol. 2007;106(2):p32-7.
- 57. Chen DB, Zheng J. Regulation of placental angiogenesis. Microcirculation. 2014;21(1):15-

25.

- 58. Mathieson PW. The podocyte as a target for therapies-new and old. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2012;8(1):52–6.
- 59. Wada T, Pippin JW, Marshall CB, Griffin SV, Shankland SJ. Dexamethasone prevents podocyte apoptosis induced by puromycin aminonucleoside: role of p53 and Bcl-2-related family proteins. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2005;16(9):2615-25.
- 60. Fujii Y, Khoshnoodi J, Takenaka H, Hosoyamada M, Nakajo A, Bessho F et al. The effect of dexamethasone on defective nephrin transport caused by ER stress: a potential mechanism for the therapeutic action of glucocorticoids in the acquired glomerular diseases. Kidney Int. 2006;69(8):1350–9.
- Macconi D, Sangalli F, Bonomelli M, Conti S, Condorelli L, Gagliardini E et al. Podocyte repopulation contributes to regression of glomerular injury induced by ACE inhibition. Am J Pathol. 2009;174(3):797-807.
- 62. Friedman JM. ACE inhibitors and congenital anomalies. N Engl J Med. 2006;354(23):2498-500.
- 63. Sakurai N, Kuroiwa T, Ikeuchi H, Hiramatsu N, Takeuchi S, Tomioka M et al. Fluvastatin prevents podocyte injury in a murine model of HIV-associated nephropathy. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2009;24(8):2378-83.
- 64. Ramma W, Ahmed A. Therapeutic potential of statins and the induction of heme oxygenase-1 in preeclampsia. J Reprod Immunol. 2014;101-102:153-60.
- 65. Lefkou E, Mamopoulos A, Fragakis N, Dagklis T, Vosnakis C, Nounopoulos E et al. Clinical improvement and successful pregnancy in a preeclamptic patient with antiphospholipid syndrome treated with pravastatin. Hypertension. 2014;63(5):e118-9.
- 66. Morton S, Thangaratinam S. Statins in pregnancy. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. 2013;25(6):433-40.
- Fukusumi Y, Miyauchi N, Hashimoto T, Saito A, Kawachi H. Therapeutic target for nephrotic syndrome: Identification of novel slit diaphragm associated molecules. World J Nephrol. 2014;3(3):77-84.
- He FF, Chen S, Su H, Meng XF, Zhang C. Actin-associated Proteins in the Pathogenesis of Podocyte Injury. Curr Genomics. 2013;14(7):477-84.
- 69. Arif E, Rathore YS, Kumari B, Ashish F, Wong HN, Holzman LB et al. Slit diaphragm protein Neph1 and its signaling: a novel therapeutic target for protection of podocytes against glomerular injury. J Biol Chem. 2014;289(14):9502-18.
- McDonald SD, Han Z, Walsh MW, Gerstein HC, Devereaux PJ. Kidney disease after preeclampsia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Kidney Dis. 2010;55(6):1026-39.
- 71. Wang IK, Muo CH, Chang YC, Liang CC, Chang CT, Lin SY et al. Association between hypertensive disorders during pregnancy and end-stage renal disease: a population-based study. Cmaj. 2013;185(3):207-13.
- 72. Vikse BE, Irgens LM, Karumanchi SA, Thadhani R, Reisaeter AV, Skjaerven R. Familial factors in the association between preeclampsia and later ESRD. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2012;7(11):1819–26.

- 73. Vikse BE, Irgens LM, Leivestad T, Skjaerven R, Iversen BM. Preeclampsia and the risk of end-stage renal disease. N Engl J Med. 2008;359(8):800-9.
- Mundel P, Shankland SJ. Podocyte biology and response to injury. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2002;13(12):3005-15.
- Hara M, Yanagihara T, Kihara I. Urinary podocytes in primary focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. Nephron. 2001;89(3):342-7.
- 76. Vikse BE, Hallan S, Bostad L, Leivestad T, Iversen BM. Previous preeclampsia and risk for progression of biopsy-verified kidney disease to end-stage renal disease. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2010;25(10):3289–96.
- 77. White WM, Garrett AT, Craici IM, Wagner SJ, Fitz-Gibbon PD, Butters KA et al. Persistent urinary podocyte loss following preeclampsia may reflect subclinical renal injury. PLoS One. 2014;9(3):e92693. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0092693.
- Appel D, Kershaw DB, Smeets B, Yuan G, Fuss A, Frye B et al. Recruitment of podocytes from glomerular parietal epithelial cells. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;20(2):333-43.
- Hakroush S, Cebulla A, Schaldecker T, Behr D, Mundel P, Weins A. Extensive podocyte loss triggers a rapid parietal epithelial cell response. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014;25(5):927-38.
- 80. Smeets B, Kuppe C, Sicking EM, Fuss A, Jirak P, van Kuppevelt TH et al. Parietal epithelial cells participate in the formation of sclerotic lesions in focal segmental glomerulosclerosis. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011;22(7):1262-74.
- Penning ME, Bloemenkamp KW, van der Zon T, Zandbergen M, Schutte JM, Bruijn JA et al. Association of preeclampsia with podocyte turnover. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014;9(8):1377-85.
- Schleidgen S, Klingler C, Bertram T, Rogowski WH, Marckmann G. What is personalized medicine: sharpening a vague term based on a systematic literature review. BMC Med Ethics. 2013;14:55.
- Kenny LC, Broadhurst DI, Dunn W, Brown M, North RA, McCowan L et al. Robust early pregnancy prediction of later preeclampsia using metabolomic biomarkers. Hypertension. 2010;56(4):741-9.
- Myers JE, Tuytten R, Thomas G, Laroy W, Kas K, Vanpoucke G et al. Integrated proteomics pipeline yields novel biomarkers for predicting preeclampsia. Hypertension. 2013;61(6):1281–8.
- 85. Navaratnam K, Alfirevic Z, Baker PN, Gluud C, Gruttner B, Kublickiene K et al. A multi-centre phase IIa clinical study of predictive testing for preeclampsia: improved pregnancy outcomes via early detection (IMPROvED). BMC Pregnancy Childbirth. 2013;13:226.

## **FIGURE & LEGEND**

#### Figure 1 Overview of the pathways leading to renal damage in preeclampsia



GBM = glomerular basement membrane

The angiogenic imbalance in preeclampsia leads to damage to both glomerular endothelial cells and podocytes in the kidney. The damage to podocytes leads to podocyte loss and the presence of podocytes in urine (podocyturia). Crosstalk between podocytes and glomerular endothelial cells is essential for the maintenance of the glomerular filtration barrier. Therefore, podocyte damage leads to further glomerular endothelial cell damage and vice versa, resulting in renal dysfunction and even long-term renal damage in the form of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis.

Podocyte pathobiology in preeclampsia

Stability and Species Specificity of Renal VEGF-A Splicing Patterns in Kidney Disease

R.J. Turner, M. Eikmans, I.M. Bajema, J.A. Bruijn, H.J. Baelde

Published in PLOS ONE

#### ABSTRACT

Vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) is essential for maintaining the glomerular filtration barrier. Absolute renal levels of VEGF-A change in patients with diabetic nephropathy and inflammatory kidney diseases, but whether changes in the renal splicing patterns of VEGF-A play a role remains unclear. In this study, we investigated mRNA splicing patterns of pro-angiogenic isoforms of VEGF-A in glomeruli and whole kidney samples from human patients with kidney disease and from mouse models of kidney disease. Kidney biopsies were obtained from patients with acute rejection following kidney transplantation, patients with diabetic nephropathy, and control subjects. In addition, kidney samples were obtained from mice with lupus nephritis, mice with diabetes mellitus, and control mice. The relative expression of each VEGF-A splice variant was measured using RT-PCR followed by quantitative fragment analysis. The pattern of renal VEGF-A splice variants was unchanged in diabetic nephropathy and lupus nephritis and was stable throughout disease progression in acute transplant rejection and diabetic nephropathy; these results suggest renal VEGF-A splicing stability during kidney disease. The splicing patterns were species-specific; in the control human kidney samples, VEGF-A 121 was the dominant isoform, whereas VEGF-A 164 was the dominant isoform measured in the mouse kidney samples.

#### INTRODUCTION

Vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) is a pro-angiogenic glycoprotein in the platelet-derived growth factor family. VEGF-A is essential for the survival, proliferation, and differentiation of endothelial cells.<sup>1,2</sup> In the kidney, VEGF-A is produced by visceral epithelial cells (podocytes) and transported across the glomerular basement membrane, ultimately reaching the glomerular endothelial cells, where VEGF-A plays a pivotal role in maintaining the glomerular filtration barrier by regulating the survival and structure of the endothelial cells.<sup>3,4</sup> VEGF-A also regulates the structure and survival of podocytes via an autocrine loop.<sup>5,6</sup> Many studies have highlighted the importance of VEGF-A under a variety of conditions; for example, in mice, both downregulation and upregulation of VEGF-A expression in developing glomeruli can result in severe glomerular abnormalities.<sup>7</sup> Moreover, overexpressing VEGF-A in the podocytes of adult mice causes proteinuria and structural changes in the glomeruli.<sup>8</sup> Conversely, inhibiting VEGF-A expression in adult mice causes severe thrombotic glomerular injury.<sup>9</sup> Together, these results provide compelling evidence that VEGF-A expression must be tightly regulated in order to maintain the integrity of the glomerular filtration barrier.

In patients with kidney disease, renal levels of VEGF-A change during disease progression, particularly in patients with diabetic nephropathy (DN), in which a reduction in renal VEGF-A production is correlated with disease progression.<sup>10</sup> Also, changes in renal VEGF-A levels are seen in inflammatorybased renal diseases; patients with lupus nephritis have increased plasma levels of VEGF-A, but renal VEGF-A mRNA levels are decreased and correlate with deterioration of renal function.<sup>11,12</sup> During acute rejection of kidney allografts, the renal expression of VEGF-A and its receptors is increased.13 As these studies show, quantitative VEGF-A levels change in kidney diseases. However, qualitative changes in VEGF-A expression-specifically, changes in mRNA splicing patterns-can also play a role in pathophysiology, for example in the placenta in preeclampsia.<sup>14</sup> Changes in the splicing of antiangiogenic splicing variants of VEGF-A, the VEGF-A, variants, are involved in the development of kidney damage; however, whether changes in the proangiogenic splice variants of VEGF-A occur during kidney disease is currently unknown.15

The VEGF-A gene contains eight exons that are alternatively spliced, yielding at least seven distinct pro-angiogenic splice variants. The splice variants VEGF-A 121, 165, and 189 are the most abundantly expressed isoforms in humans. The same isoforms are expressed in mice, but the murine splice variants yield isoforms that are one amino acid shorter (i.e., VEGF-A 120, 164, and 188, respectively). The proteins encoded by these three splice variants differ with respect to their transport, storage, and signaling efficacy. For example, only the longer isoforms (i.e., VEGF-A 165 and 189) contain exons 6 and 7, which encode a heparin-binding site that enables VEGF-A to bind with the extracellular matrix.<sup>16</sup> These two isoforms–but not the VEGF-A 121 isoform–are also essential for embryonic development, as they inhibit epithelial cell apoptosis.<sup>17</sup> In addition, the VEGF-A 165 isoform includes the portion of exon 7 that encodes a binding site for neurophilin, a co-receptor for VEGF-A that enhances intracellular signaling.<sup>18</sup>

Based on the studies discussed above, the various pro-angiogenic isoforms

of VEGF-A have distinct properties. Although total renal VEGF-A levels are altered in kidney disease, the role of each isoform is not currently known. To address this issue, we investigated qualitative changes in VEGF-A splicing patterns in a range of renal pathologies, including DN, acute renal transplant rejection, and lupus nephritis, with capillary electrophoresis. In addition, because the distribution of VEGF-A isoforms in the kidneys of healthy humans and rodents has not been examined with this method before, we also investigated VEGF-A splicing patterns in kidney samples obtained from healthy mice and humans.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Samples

VEGF-A splice variants were measured in kidney tissues obtained from 14 human donor kidneys.<sup>10</sup> Laser microdissection was used to isolate the glomeruli for assessing the glomeruli-specific splicing patterns of VEGF-A. Kidney biopsies were collected from 28 patients with both diabetes type 2 and DN and used to measure the renal splicing pattern of VEGF-A. The clinical characteristics of this patient cohort have been described previously.<sup>10</sup> Laser microdissection was used to isolate the glomeruli. In addition, five kidney samples were obtained from mice with streptozotocin-induced diabetes (five weeks after induction), and five kidney samples were obtained from agematched control mice; these samples were used to examine VEGF-A isoform expression in an early stage of DN.<sup>19</sup>

Kidney biopsies were obtained from 123 patients with acute rejection of a transplanted kidney;<sup>20</sup> these samples were used to investigate the renal splicing pattern of VEGF-A and were evaluated for acute and chronic lesions in accordance with the Banff classification system.<sup>21</sup>

Kidney samples were obtained from five healthy control mice and were used to examine the renal splicing pattern of VEGF-A. To assess the splicing patterns of VEGF-A in various organs, the lungs, lymph nodes, and spleens were obtained. Furthermore, kidney samples were obtained from a lupus nephritis mice model described and used to measure VEGF-A isoform expression at various time points. <sup>22</sup>

#### Ethics

Human samples were obtained from archived patient material from biopsies performed for routine clinical procedures. None of the transplant donors were from a vulnerable population and all donors or next of kin provided informed consent that was freely given; patients visiting Dutch hospitals are actively informed of the 'opt-out' system regarding research with their archived material, this 'Code of conduct for responsible use of residual material' applies to all studies in the Netherlands using archived patient material. Only biopsies from patients who did not opt-out have been included in this study. Samples were collected and processed anonymously and according to the medical ethics committee of the Leiden University Medical Center and the 'Code of conduct for responsible use of residual material'; approval from the institutional ethics board "Commissie Medische Ethiek LUMC" is given automatically to all studies following this code and correct adherence to the code is checked on a regular basis by national health care inspection.

Animal studies were approved by the DEC (Animal Experiments Committee) of the Leiden University Medical Center; the project code of this study is 13163. The care and use of all mice in this study was carried out in accordance with the Dutch law on animal testing. To ameliorate suffering, mice were anesthetized with isoflurane and sacrificed before collecting the kidneys.

#### Primer design

We designed primers that amplify all VEGF-A isoforms. The human and mouse primer sets were designed to anneal to exon 3 and exon 8, which are present in all VEGF-A mRNA isoforms. When amplified using these primers, each isoform produces a unique-length PCR product. The primer sequences are given in S1 Table.

#### PCR and capillary electrophoresis

RNA was isolated from the samples using Trizol (Life Technologies, San Francisco, CA). cDNA was synthesized using AMV reverse transcriptase (Roche, Basel, Switzerland). For PCR, FAM-labeled forward primers were used. The PCR products were subjected to capillary electrophoresis using an ABI 3100 fragment analyzer (Life Technologies). The ROX 500 dye was used as a size standard. The results were analyzed using GeneMapper, and the relative

level of each VEGF-A isoform was calculated by dividing the peak height of the isoform of interest by the total sum of all isoform peaks. An example of a GeneMapper analysis is shown in S1 Fig.

#### cDNA synthesis using specific primers

To test for a possible replication bias towards synthesizing cDNA from shorter isoform templates, we performed a one-step PCR using specific primers and mRNA isolated from glomerular samples obtained from three healthy humans. We also performed a serial dilution series of the resulting cDNAs.

#### Western blot analysis

Lysates from prepared from two human control kidney samples and from a HEK293 cell line. Sample buffer containing 2-mercaptoethanol was added to the lysates, and the samples were loaded on a 12.5% polyacrylamide gel. Electrophoresis was performed at 100 V for 1.5 hours. The gel was transferred to a membrane following semi-dry blotting overnight. VEGF-A was visualized on the membrane using a rabbit polyclonal anti-VEGF antibody (SC-152; Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX) and the Odyssey red anti-rabbit antibody (Li-Cor Biotechnology, Lincoln, NE).

#### Statistical analyses

Differences between groups were compared using either the unpaired t-test (for normally distributed data) or the Mann-Whitney U test (for data that were not distributed normally). Differences between >2 groups were analyzed using the one-way ANOVA. Differences with a *p*-value <0.05 were considered statistically significant. All analyses were performed using the SPSS statistics software package (version 20; IBM, Armonk, NY).

#### RESULTS

**VEGF-A splicing patterns in healthy human glomeruli and whole kidney samples** We found that VEGF-A 121, 165, and 189 isoforms were all expressed in the kidneys and glomeruli of healthy human controls, and VEGF-A 121 was the most abundant isoform (Fig 1). Specifically, in the glomeruli, VEGF-A 121, 165, and 189 comprised 70%, 24%, and 5%, respectively, of the total VEGF-A pool; in the whole kidney tissue samples, VEGF-A 121, 165, and 189 comprised 75%, 22%, and 3%, respectively (Fig 1). In some samples, the 181 isoform represented <1% of the total VEGF-A pool.

#### VEGF-A splicing patterns in kidney disease

We next examined the VEGF-A splicing patterns in whole kidney tissue samples and microdissected glomeruli obtained from patients with moderate and advanced stages of DN. In these samples, we found a similar VEGF-A splicing pattern as in the healthy control samples. Specifically, VEGF-A 121, 165, and 189 comprised 78%, 20%, and 2%, respectively, of the VEGF-A pool in the whole kidney samples, and 72%, 22%, and 5%, respectively, of the VEGF-A pool in the glomeruli. As in the healthy samples, in a few of the disease samples, VEGF-A 181 represented <1% of the total VEGF-A pool. These patterns of VEGF-A splice variants were relatively stable, regardless of creatinine levels, proteinuria, or renal fibrosis.

Compared to healthy controls, the renal VEGF-A splicing patterns were slightly different in the renal transplant patients with acute rejection; in these patients, VEGF-A 121, 165, and 189 comprised 64%, 30%, and 5%, respectively, of the total VEGF-A pool (p<0.01 versus control for all three isoforms). In addition, the VEGF-A 145 and 181 isoforms were also detected in the patient samples, although both isoforms were present in extremely low levels (i.e., <1% of the total VEGF-A pool). The VEGF-A splicing patterns were stable in these patients, regardless of the Banff criteria or the degree of interstitial fibrosis. The distribution of the three principal VEGF isoforms in the kidneys of healthy controls, patients with DN, and patients with acute rejection is summarized in Fig 2.

#### VEGF-A isoform distribution in mouse kidney tissues

Next, we measured the VEGF-A splicing patterns in mouse kidney samples. Interestingly, we found that the renal splicing pattern in mice was significantly different than the pattern seen in human samples. In mice, VEGF-A 164 was the most abundant isoform, comprising approximately 48% of the total VEGF-A pool (*p*<0.001 versus human). The relative proportions of VEGF-A 120, 144, and 188 were 44% (*p*<0.001), <1%, and 7% (*p*<0.001), respectively (Fig 3). In kidney samples obtained from mice with diabetes, the VEGF-A splicing pattern was similar to healthy, age-matched control mice (Fig 4). The VEGF-A splicing pattern was similar in mice with lupus nephritis, and the pattern did not change over time (Fig 4).

#### cDNA synthesis using specific primers

Similar splicing patterns were obtained using specific primers in a one-step PCR compared to the experiments with random primers, and serial dilution of the cDNA had no effect on the VEGF-A splicing pattern (S2 Fig).

#### Distribution of VEGF-A isoforms in various mouse organs

We found different VEGF-A splicing patterns in tissue samples obtained from different organs from the same mouse (S3 Fig). For example, in lung tissue, VEGF-A 120, 164, and 188 comprised 53%, 28%, and 18%, respectively, of the total VEGF-A pool. In the thymus of the same mouse, these isoforms comprised 58%, 29%, and 13%, respectively, of the total VEGF-A pool.

#### Western blot analysis

Next, to confirm expression of the VEGF 121, 165, and 189 isoforms, we performed a western blot analysis using kidney samples obtained from two healthy human controls (S4 Fig). Both samples contained three bands that corresponded with the predicted molecular weight of the three VEGF-A isoforms. In addition, we performed a western blot analysis on HEK293 cell lysate and found bands corresponding to the VEGF-A 121 and 165 isoforms; VEGF 189 was not detected in the cell lysate (S4 Fig).

#### DISCUSSION

We demonstrate stability of the renal VEGF-A splicing pattern in renal pathology; specifically, splicing patterns were stable regardless of several histopathological parameters of disease progression in human patients with DN and acute renal transplant rejection, as well as in a mouse model of lupus nephritis. We also found that the pattern of VEGF-A splicing in the kidney is species-specific; notably, the VEGF-A 121 splice variant is the most abundant isoform in the human kidney, whereas the VEGF-A 164 splice variant is the most abundant isoform in mice.

In our study, we focused on the splicing pattern of VEGF-A in kidney disease. Changes in the splicing patterns of other alternatively spliced genes play a role in the development of kidney disease. For example, changes in the splicing pattern of fibronectin can play a role in the pathogenesis of glomerulosclerosis and tubulointerstitial fibrosis by modulating the immune response and scar formation.<sup>23</sup> Further, Oltean et al. recently discovered that changes in splicing of anti-angiogenic VEGF-A isoforms are involved in the progression of diabetic nephropathy. Because the renal splicing pattern of pro-angiogenic VEGF-A remains stable irrespective of disease progression of DN or during acute transplant rejection, it is unlikely that a disruption in the distribution of pro-angiogenic VEGF-A isoforms plays a major role in the development of kidney disease.

On the other hand, changes in the distribution of these isoforms in the kidney could serve a protective role with respect to renal pathology. The kidney's inability to modify the distribution of VEGF-A isoforms to a pattern that protects endothelial cells under inflammatory conditions could facilitate the progression of kidney disease. For example, an upregulation of the VEGF-A 165 and VEGF-A 189 isoforms confers a robust, prolonged protective effect in glomerular endothelial cells.<sup>18</sup> However, because the pattern of VEGF-A isoforms does not appear to change in kidney disease, VEGF-A 121–which has relatively weak intracellular signaling strength–remains the predominant isoform, regardless of the underlying pathology.<sup>18</sup> Therefore, an increase in total VEGF-A production might not provide the sufficient conditions to rescue glomerular endothelial cells during renal pathology.

In our study, we quantified the pattern of VEGF-A splicing at the mRNA level. However, it is possible that the pathological changes in DN are not related to changes in VEGF-A mRNA expression and/or splicing, but may be related to post-translational modifications of VEGF-A. For example, the levels of plasmin-activator inhibitor are increased in patients with diabetes type 2; thus, plasmin-mediated post-translational cleavage of the VEGF-A 189 isoform could be dysregulated in the kidneys of patients with DN.<sup>24,25</sup> This dysregulation would lead to a decrease in the cleavage products of VEGF-A 189, which may play a role during disease phases with decreased angiogenic potential.<sup>18</sup>

Our findings in healthy human kidney tissue are comparable to previous findings by Whittle et al. and Simon et al., who detected VEGF-A 121 and 165 as the main isoforms expressed in kidney tissue with PCR and gel electrophoresis.<sup>26,27</sup> Our findings contradict the findings of a previous study by Bortoloso et al., in which a correlation was observed between albumin

excretion, histological changes in the glomerulus, and the levels of VEGF-A 121 and 165 levels in patients with DN.<sup>28</sup> This discrepancy might be due to the differences in methods used between the two studies; for example, Bortoloso et al. used PAGE followed by silver staining to quantify the various VEGF isoforms, whereas we used capillary electrophoresis. However, two lines of evidence suggest that our approach is both sensitive and robust. First, we synthesized cDNA using specific primers in order to exclude any bias for replicating the shorter isoforms. We found no difference in cDNA that was synthesized using specific primers or random primers. Second, we found distinct patterns of VEGF-A isoforms in different organs obtained from one mouse, demonstrating that our approach is sufficiently sensitive to detect differences in the VEGF-A splicing pattern. Based on these results, we conclude that regulation of VEGF-A splicing is tissue-specific, but is not altered under the pathological conditions investigated in our study. In mouse kidney, VEGF-A 164 is the predominant VEGF-A isoform. Given the difference in splicing patterns between humans and mice, these species might differ with respect to the regulation of VEGF-A expression in the kidney. Therefore, the pathogenesis of VEGF-A-related diseases may differ between patients and mouse models. Mouse models that overexpress the VEGF-A 164 isoform have often been used to investigate kidney diseases;<sup>8,29,30</sup> however, because VEGF-A 121 is the predominant renal VEGF-A isoform in humans, these models may not fully represent the clinical situation in patients. The results of our study may create opportunities to study the transport of VEGF-A in the kidney. In the kidney, VEGF-A is produced by podocytes, and it must cross the glomerular basement membrane in order to reach the glomerular endothelial cells. The glomerular basement membrane is comprised primarily of heparan sulfate proteoglycans, to which the longer VEGF-A isoforms (i.e., 165 and 189) can bind.<sup>18,31</sup> Therefore, these heparan sulfate proteoglycans may play a role in the storage of VEGF-A in the kidney and in the transport of VEGF-A across the glomerular basement membrane. However, because VEGF-A 121 does not bind to heparan sulfate proteoglycans, it is freely diffusible.<sup>18</sup> Therefore, the transport of VEGF-A across the glomerular basement membrane and the storage of VEGF-A in the human kidney may be regulated by other mechanisms.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Pascal Bus for his help with the animal experiments. We thank the Dutch National Science Academy (KNAW) for awarding this study the Van Walree award for presentation on an international scientific conference.

## SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURES AND TABLES

Supplemental material can be found at http://journals.plos.org/plosone/.

#### REFERENCES

- Ferrara N. Role of vascular endothelial growth factor in regulation of physiological angiogenesis. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2001;280: C1358-66. PMID: 11350730.
- Roberts WG, Palade GE. Increased microvascular permeability and endothelial fenestration induced by vascular endothelial growth factor. J Cell Sci. 1995;108 (Pt 6): 2369-79. PMID: 7673356.
- Wang L, Zhang T, Fang M, Shen N, Wang D, Teng J, et al. Podocytes protect glomerular endothelial cells from hypoxic injury via deSUMOylation of HIF-1alpha signaling. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2015;58: 17-27. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2014.10.030. PMID: 25448415.
- Kamba T, Tam BY, Hashizume H, Haskell A, Sennino B, Mancuso MR, et al. VEGF-dependent plasticity of fenestrated capillaries in the normal adult microvasculature. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2006;290: H560-76. doi: 10.1152/ ajpheart.00133.2005. PMID: 16172168.
- Bertuccio C, Veron D, Aggarwal PK, Holzman L, Tufro A. Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 direct interaction with nephrin links VEGF-A signals to actin in kidney podocytes. J Biol Chem. 2011;286: 39933-44. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M111.241620. PMID: 21937443.
- Wang H, Misaki T, Taupin V, Eguchi A, Ghosh P, Farquhar MG. GIV/girdin links vascular endothelial growth factor signaling to Akt survival signaling in podocytes independent of nephrin. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015;26: 314-27. doi: 10.1681/ ASN.2013090985. PMID: 25012178.
- Eremina V, Sood M, Haigh J, Nagy A, Lajoie G, Ferrara N, et al. Glomerular-specific alterations of VEGF-A expression lead to distinct congenital and acquired renal diseases. J Clin Invest. 2003;111: 707-16. doi: 10.1172/jci17423. PMID: 12618525.
- Veron D, Reidy KJ, Bertuccio C, Teichman J, Villegas G, Jimenez J, et al. Overexpression of VEGF-A in podocytes of adult mice causes glomerular disease. Kidney Int. 2010;77: 989-99. doi: 10.1038/ki.2010.64. PMID: 20375978.
- Eremina V, Jefferson JA, Kowalewska J, Hochster H, Haas M, Weisstuch J, et al. VEGF inhibition and renal thrombotic microangiopathy. N Engl J Med. 2008;358: 1129-36. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0707330. PMID: 18337603.
- Baelde HJ, Eikmans M, Lappin DW, Doran PP, Hohenadel D, Brinkkoetter PT, et al. Reduction of VEGF-A and CTGF expression in diabetic nephropathy is associated with podocyte loss. Kidney Int. 2007;71: 637-45. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.5002101. PMID: 17264876.
- Avihingsanon Y, Benjachat T, Tassanarong A, Sodsai P, Kittikovit V, Hirankarn N. Decreased renal expression of vascular endothelial growth factor in lupus nephritis is associated with worse prognosis. Kidney Int. 2009;75: 1340-8. doi: 10.1038/ ki.2009.75. PMID: 19295501.
- Navarro C, Candia-Zuniga L, Silveira LH, Ruiz V, Gaxiola M, Avila MC, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor plasma levels in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus and primary antiphospholipid syndrome. Lupus. 2002;11: 21-4. PMID: 11898914.

- Rintala SE, Savikko J, Rintala JM, von Willebrand E. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) ligand and receptor induction in rat renal allograft rejection. Transplant Proc. 2006;38: 3236-8. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2006.10.049. PMID: 17175233.
- Bates DO, MacMillan PP, Manjaly JG, Qiu Y, Hudson SJ, Bevan HS, et al. The endogenous anti-angiogenic family of splice variants of VEGF, VEGFxxxb, are down-regulated in pre-eclamptic placentae at term. Clin Sci (Lond). 2006;110: 575-85. doi: 10.1042/cs20050292. PMID: 16451124.
- Oltean S, Qiu Y, Ferguson JK, Stevens M, Neal C, Russell A, et al. Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-A165b Is Protective and Restores Endothelial Glycocalyx in Diabetic Nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2015;26: 1889-904. doi: 10.1681/ asn.2014040350. PMID: 25542969.
- Houck KA, Leung DW, Rowland AM, Winer J, Ferrara N. Dual regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor bioavailability by genetic and proteolytic mechanisms. J Biol Chem. 1992;267: 26031-7. PMID: 1464614.
- Esquibies AE, Karihaloo A, Quaggin SE, Bazzy-Asaad A, Cantley LG. Heparin binding VEGF isoforms attenuate hyperoxic embryonic lung growth retardation via a FLK1-neuropilin-1-PKC dependent pathway. Respir Res. 2014;15: 32. doi: 10.1186/1465-9921-15-32. PMID: 24641672.
- Woolard J, Bevan HS, Harper SJ, Bates DO. Molecular diversity of VEGF-A as a regulator of its biological activity. Microcirculation. 2009;16: 572-92. doi: 10.1080/10739680902997333. PMID: 19521900.
- Like AA, Rossini AA. Streptozotocin-induced pancreatic insulitis: new model of diabetes mellitus. Science. 1976;193: 415-7. PMID: 180605.
- Botermans JM, de Kort H, Eikmans M, Koop K, Baelde HJ, Mallat MJ, et al. C4d staining in renal allograft biopsies with early acute rejection and subsequent clinical outcome. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011;6: 1207-13. doi: 10.2215/cjn.07820910. PMID: 21527651.
- Racusen LC, Solez K, Colvin RB, Bonsib SM, Castro MC, Cavallo T, et al. The Banff 97 working classification of renal allograft pathology. Kidney Int. 1999;55: 713-23. doi: 10.1046/j.1523-1755.1999.00299.x. PMID: 9987096.
- 22. Bruijn JA, van Elven EH, Hogendoorn PC, Corver WE, Hoedemaeker PJ, Fleuren GJ. Murine chronic graft-versus-host disease as a model for lupus nephritis. Am J Pathol. 1988;130: 639-41. PMID: 3279795.
- 23. Van Vliet A, Baelde HJ, Vleming LJ, de Heer E, Bruijn JA. Distribution of fibronectin isoforms in human renal disease. J Pathol. 2001;193: 256-62. PMID: 11180174.
- 24. Keyt BA, Berleau LT, Nguyen HV, Chen H, Heinsohn H, Vandlen R, et al. The carboxyl-terminal domain (111-165) of vascular endothelial growth factor is critical for its mitogenic potency. J Biol Chem. 1996;271: 7788–95. PMID: 8631822.
- 25. Kitagawa N, Yano Y, Gabazza EC, Bruno NE, Araki R, Matsumoto K, et al. Different metabolic correlations of thrombin-activatable fibrinolysis inhibitor and plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 in non-obese type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2006;73: 150-7. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2005.12.008. PMID: 16458385.

- 26. Whittle C, Gillespie K, Harrison R, Mathieson PW, Harper SJ. Heterogeneous vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) isoform mRNA and receptor mRNA expression in human glomeruli, and the identification of VEGF148 mRNA, a novel truncated splice variant. Clin Sci (Lond). 1999;97: 303-12. PMID: 10464055.
- 27. Simon M, Grone HJ, Johren O, Kullmer J, Plate KH, Risau W, et al. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptors in human renal ontogenesis and in adult kidney. Am J Physiol. 1995;268: F240-50. PMID: 7864162.
- Bortoloso E, Del Prete D, Dalla Vestra M, Gambaro G, Saller A, Antonucci F, et al. Quantitave and qualitative changes in vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression in glomeruli of patients with type 2 diabetes. Eur J Endocrinol. 2004;150: 799-807. PMID: 15191350.
- Thilo F, Liu Y, Loddenkemper C, Schuelein R, Schmidt A, Yan Z, et al. VEGF regulates TRPC6 channels in podocytes. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2012;27: 921-9. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr457. PMID: 21868397.
- Veron D, Reidy K, Marlier A, Bertuccio C, Villegas G, Jimenez J, et al. Induction of podocyte VEGF164 overexpression at different stages of development causes congenital nephrosis or steroid-resistant nephrotic syndrome. Am J Pathol. 2010;177: 2225-33. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.091146. PMID: 20829436.
- Timpl R. Structure and biological activity of basement membrane proteins. Eur J Biochem. 1989;180: 487-502. PMID: 2653817.

# **FIGURES & LEGENDS**



Fig 1. VEGF-A splicing patterns in healthy kidneys and glomeruli.

The VEGF-A 121, 165, and 189 splice variants (isoforms) were measured in total kidney tissue and glomeruli (isolated using laser microdissection) obtained from healthy human subjects.

# Fig 2. VEGF-A splicing patterns in kidney tissue obtained from healthy subjects, patients with DN, and patients with acute renal transplant rejection.



The VEGF-A 121, 165, and 189 isoforms were measured in the indicated samples. DN, diabetic nephropathy.

Fig 3. VEGF-A splicing patterns in kidney tissue obtained from healthy mice and humans.



The VEGF-A 121, 165, and 189 isoforms were measured in kidney biopsies obtained from healthy human subjects, and the corresponding VEGF-A isoforms (VEGF-A 120, 164, and 188, respectively) were measured in kidney tissue and obtained from healthy mice. \*p<0.001.

Fig 4. VEGF-A splicing patterns in whole kidney tissue obtained from mice with DN, healthy age-matched control mice and mice with lupus nephritis.



**A** The VEGF-A 120, 144, 164, and 188 isoforms were measured in whole kidney tissue obtained from mice with early-stage DN and age-matched control mice. The two groups did not differ significantly with respect to any isoform measured (*p*>0.05). **B** Kidney samples were collected from mice at the indicated time points after lupus nephritis was induced. The glomeruli were isolated, and the VEGF-A 120, 164, and 188 isoforms were measured. The distribution of VEGF-A isoforms was unchanged over the duration of the experiment.

VEGF-isoforms in nephropathy

Summary and general discussion

#### SUMMARY

As outlined in the introduction of this thesis, preeclampsia is a potentially devastating pregnancy complication with a complex, multifactorial aetiology. The risk factors lie within the genetic, vascular and immune domains. Genetic risk factors reported previously fall into two distinct categories: coagulation and vascular maintenance on one hand, and immunology on the other. Acquired contributing factors comprise vascular and immunologic components as well, with pre-existing diabetes, hypertension, obesity and older maternal age falling in the first, and oocyte donation, autoimmune diseases, nulliparity and new paternity falling into the latter category, respectively. These challenging vascular and immunologic states supposedly contribute to impaired placental development, placental oxidative stress and production of anti-angiogenic factors and subsequent systemic endothelial dysfunction. The complex interplay between these three pathways leading up to endothelial dysfunction in preeclampsia (coagulation, inflammation and angiogenesis) is studied in this thesis.

#### Chapter 2 - genetic variants in preeclampsia

Preeclampsia has a clear familial component, suggesting that the condition may be partly attributable to genetic susceptibility. Within the genetic susceptibility, clues on the causal pathways of the syndrome might remain. However, many genetic association studies on preeclampsia have been performed, but they have yielded inconsistent results. Therefore, **chapter 2** focuses on identifying the pooled effect of each genetic variant that is reproducibly associated with preeclampsia through meta-analyses. We selected all genetic variants that were significantly associated with preeclampsia in an initial study and were subsequently independently reproduced in at least one additional study.

Seven variants remained significantly associated with preeclampsia following meta-analysis. These variants were in or near the following genes: angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE), cytotoxic T-lymphocyte associated protein 4 (CTLA4), coagulation factor 2 (F2), coagulation factor 5 (FV), lipoprotein lipase (LPL), and serine protease 1 (SERPINE1). Interestingly, four of these mutations (in F2, F5, and SERPINE1) are found within genes involved in the coagulation and fibrinolysis systems, reinforcing the association between inherited thrombophilia and preeclampsia. Two genes (ACE and LPL) are directly

involved in endothelial biology; ACE is a key regulator of blood pressure through activation of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, and LPL facilitates lipid uptake in endothelial cells. Dysregulation of these pathways causes endothelial activation and a subsequent inflammatory response. Interestingly, these variants are also risk factors for developing cardiovascular disease, revealing that preeclampsia and cardiovascular disease have shared genetic risk factors. Many association studies have reported links between mutations in genes involved in the immune system and preeclampsia, but only a mutation in CTLA4 remained significant after meta-analysis. These results reveal coagulation and inflammation as key elements in the genetic background of preeclampsia. Studying these pathways in depth might provide new insights on how placental dysfunction and the angiogenic imbalance of preeclampsia develop. However, the role of the genetic component in preeclampsia should not be overestimated: not all women with these mutations develop preeclampsia, and not all women who suffer from preeclampsia carry these mutations. Pre-existing endothelial damage or immunologically challenging pregnancies could provide the other 'hits' necessary for the development of placental dysfunction and the syndrome.<sup>1, 2</sup>

Chapters 3 and 4 - thrombomodulin and the angiogenic imbalance of preeclampsia

A possible link between endothelial damage and dysregulation of coagulation and inflammation as seen in preeclampsia could be thrombomodulin. This is an endothelium- and syncytiotrophoblast-bound protein that regulates coagulation, inflammation, apoptosis, and tissue remodelling. Thrombomodulin can be cleaved from the endothelium under inflammatory conditions, and in preeclampsia, levels of this non-functional soluble thrombomodulin are increased, indicating loss of functional thrombomodulin from the endothelium. Therefore, we hypothesized that thrombomodulin loss and subsequent loss of its mediating effects on coagulation and inflammation could be involved in preeclampsia. **Chapter 3 and 4** of this thesis are focused on the role of thrombomodulin in preeclampsia. First, we investigated placental thrombomodulin dysregulation and consequent downstream effects in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia; these experiments are described in **chapter 3**.

Thrombomodulin protein and mRNA expression were investigated in placentas from women with preeclampsia, from women with a normal, term

pregnancy and from women with a pregnancy complicated by intrauterine growth restriction matched for placenta- and birth weight. Both protein and mRNA expression were significantly decreased in preeclampsia as compared with both control groups, indicating loss of thrombomodulin production and abundance in the preeclamptic placenta. Further, thrombomodulin mRNA expression correlated with maternal body mass index and diastolic blood pressure in preeclampsia, suggestive of a link with the extent of vascular dysfunction.

The pathways mediated by thrombomodulin, including coagulation, inflammation, apoptosis and tissue remodelling, were investigated in this subsets of placentas. An increase in placental apoptotic cells was associated with preeclampsia. Thrombomodulin expression correlated positively with matrix metalloproteinase expression in preeclampsia, but not with fibrin deposits, inflammatory markers or the influx of inflammatory cells. Studies in endothelial cells have shown before that VEGF is a stimulator of thrombomodulin expression.<sup>3</sup> Therefore, we hypothesized that the angiogenic imbalance of preeclampsia could be the cause of the low placental thrombomodulin levels found in our group of patients. Indeed, placental soluble Flt-1 mRNA expression correlated with decreased thrombomodulin expression. To further study the possibility of a causal mechanism, thrombomodulin mRNA expression was determined in VEGFtransfected trophoblast cell lines; VEGF induced significant upregulation of thrombomodulin mRNA expression in these cells.

Altogether, the experiments described in **chapter 3** stress the link between the angiogenic imbalance and endothelial pathology preeclampsia. Concurrently, they stage thrombomodulin as a new role-player in the development of placental and endothelial pathology in preeclampsia. In **chapter 4**, these mechanisms are investigated more in-depth in the organ most affected during preeclampsia, the kidney.

Glomerular thrombomodulin was studied in human patients with preeclampsia and deceased pregnant women without hypertensive complications as control subjects. Kidney thrombomodulin abundance was increased significantly in preeclampsia patients compared to pregnant control subjects. Interestingly, glomerular endothelial thrombomodulin expression was associated with parietal epithelial cell activation and nephrin expression in podocytes, indicative of a protective effect on the glomerular filtration barrier.

Subsequently, we hypothesized that sFlt-1 might be responsible for this increase in glomerular thrombomodulin expression, but in vitro, sFlt-1 addition to human umbilical vein endothelial cells resulted in downregulation of thrombomodulin expression. Contrastingly, glomerular thrombomodulin abundance increased in mice treated with the anti-angiogenic factors sFlt-1 and sEng. Results from **chapter 3** hinted towards an association between obesity and thrombomodulin loss; therefore, glomerular thrombomodulin expression was investigated in porcine models for diabetes and metabolic syndrome; glomerular thrombomodulin was increased in these models as well.

In sum, **chapter 4** provides evidence for the hypothesis that angiogenic factors regulate renal endothelial thrombomodulin expression, in vitro and in vivo. Possibly, the increased endothelial thrombomodulin expression in preeclampsia indicates an attempt of glomerular endothelial cells to maintain cytoprotection during the challenging, anti-angiogenic environment of preeclampsia. Such a mechanism has been proposed before in glomerulonephritis.<sup>4</sup> Investigating pathways through which thrombomodulin expression is increased in endothelial cells could reveal clues to restore or prevent endothelial damage in the kidney. Interestingly, thrombomodulin expression is associated with increased expression of podocyte markers; this stresses the importance of cross-talk across the glomerular basement membrane, between endothelial cells and podocytes.

Chapter 5 - the interplay between endothelium and podocytes in preeclampsia

The role of this cross-talk in preeclampsia is investigated further in **chapter 5**. In this chapter, current literature concerning the kidney in preeclampsia was reviewed for studies concerning endothelium and podocyte biology and their cross-talk.

Early studies mainly describe endothelial cell swelling or 'endotheliosis', and the appearance of apparently bloodless glomeruli as trademarks of preeclampsia.<sup>5</sup> However, since endothelial pathology is not observed in all patients with preeclampsia and proteinuria, these lesions cannot explain the renal pathology in preeclampsia on their own. Podocyte foot process effacement in preeclampsia has been described as early as 1980,<sup>6</sup> but the

hypothesis for direct podocyte involvement in the pathogenesis of the syndrome had not been proposed until 2007.<sup>7</sup> Since then, numerous studies on the development of podocyte damage and the use of podocytes in urine as a diagnostic tool have been published.

The angiogenic imbalance in preeclampsia plays a key role in the development of both podocyte and endothelial damage in the glomerular filtration barrier and is presumed to be responsible for a glomerular *damage loop*. VEGF is a crucial survival factor for both cell types in the glomerular filtration barrier. Glomerular VEGF is predominantly produced in the podocytes; high levels of sFlt-1 prevent glomerular VEGF from binding to its receptors on the podocytes and glomerular endothelial cells. Consequently, podocytes get damaged and detach from the glomerular basement membrane, leading to even less available VEGF through diminished production. Endothelial cells, deprived of VEGF, get swollen and produce endothelin, which damages the podocytes even further.

An appropriate treatment for preeclamptic nephropathy might be established by interrupting this *damage loop*. During the last decade, major advances in the field of podocyte biology have been achieved through studying the structure of their foot processes. Numerous new slit diaphragm and cytoskeletal proteins have been discovered, and treatment strategies targeting these proteins in vitro have shown promising results. However, restoring levels of single podocyte structure proteins on their own in kidney disease will probably not be effective; the architecture of the podocyte foot processes and their slit diaphragms is particularly complicated and involves hundreds of different proteins, and their levels and interactions are delicately balanced. A gain- or loss of function in one of these proteins might even result in disruption of podocyte architecture and irreversible glomerular damage.

#### Chapter 6 - VEGF splicing variants in the kidney

Overall, **chapter 5** highlights the importance of VEGF in the cross-talk between podocytes and endothelial cells in the healthy glomerulus. Remarkably, it still remains an enigma how this cross-talk is established; somehow, VEGF manages to cross the glomerular basement membrane in the opposite direction of the filtrate flow, and reaches the endothelial cells. Clues might lie within the composition of the renal splicing pattern of VEGF; the VEGF mRNA can be spliced alternatively, resulting in at least 8 different isoforms. Some of these isoforms are short and can diffuse freely; others possess heparin binding sites and are stored and transported in extracellular matrix until release.<sup>8</sup> To gain more insight on VEGF crosstalk in the glomerulus in kidney pathology, **chapter 6** focuses on renal VEGF splicing patterns in health and disease.

First, mRNA splicing patterns of pro-angiogenic isoforms of VEGF in glomeruli from human and murine control subjects were determined with capillary electrophoresis. Strikingly, the splicing patterns were revealed to be species-specific; in the control human kidney samples, the short and freely diffusible VEGF 121 was the dominant isoform, whereas the longer and more potent VEGF 164 was the dominant isoform measured in the mouse kidney samples. This suggests different mechanisms of VEGF transport in human and murine kidneys, and brings to question if studies on glomerular VEGF in murine models can be extrapolated to the human situation.

Subsequently, VEGF splicing patterns during endothelial dysfunction and under inflammatory conditions were measured in kidney samples from patients with diabetic nephropathy and from patients with acute rejection following kidney transplantation, respectively. In addition, kidney samples from mice with lupus nephritis and mice with diabetes mellitus were studied. The pattern of renal VEGF-A splice variants was unchanged in diabetic nephropathy and lupus nephritis and was stable throughout disease progression in acute transplant rejection and diabetic nephropathy; these results suggest renal VEGF-A splicing stability during kidney disease. This could, on the one hand, imply that renal splicing is not affected by inflammatory or metabolic kidney damage. On the other hand, these results could show inability of the podocyte to change its splicing pattern towards a more favourable one for survival during challenging circumstances.

#### **GENERAL DISCUSSION**

The work described in this thesis underlines the complexity of the aetiology of preeclampsia. In the placenta, loss of cytoprotection, increased coagulation and increased inflammation may give rise to placental dysfunction and subsequent production of anti-angiogenic factors, as strengthened in **chapters 2 and 3**. However, the predisposing factors for preeclampsia are so heterogeneous, that preeclampsia and its placental dysfunction might merely

reflect a phenotype resulting from various syndromes or diseases, composed of more confined aetiologies. Below, this hypothesis is explored and the results from this thesis are considered in this setting.

# THE AETIOLOGY OF PLACENTAL DYSFUNCTION IN PREECLAMPSIA: A SPEC-TRUM RANGING FROM COAGULATION TO IMMUNITY?

Although an imbalanced inflammatory environment in the placenta during early development has been proposed as the primary mechanism for placental dysfunction in preeclampsia,<sup>9</sup> chapter 2 of this thesis mainly provides support for inherited thrombophilia as a genetic contributor to preeclampsia. These results suggest that the immune component of the aetiology of preeclampsia is probably composed of acquired risk factors, which offers perspective for the targeting of these risk factors in prevention of the syndrome. These observations gave rise to a hypothesis where preeclampsia comprises of a spectrum of pregnancy complications with the placenta as the central role player, but with different underlying aetiologies of the placental dysfunction, ranging from inherited thrombophilia to extreme immune dysregulation (Figure 1). This is of particular interest, because treatment strategies targeting downstream effects of preeclampsia have not been effective so far; targeting processes upstream from endothelial dysfunction might be a more effective approach. Each of these possible factors contributing to placental dysfunction and suggestions for their individual approach will be discussed below.



# Figure 1 Factors contributing to placental dysfunction: from coagulation towards immunity

It is hypothesized that the underlying aetiologies of placental dysfunction in preeclampsia lie within a spectrum, ranging from coagulation towards immunity

#### Inherited thrombophilia

A clear, distinct contributor to the development of placental dysfunction in preeclampsia would appear to be inherited thrombophilia; e.g. with mutations in genes encoding for factor V, prothrombin and SERPINE1, as illustrated in **chapter 2**. Women with these mutations have increased activation of the coagulation cascade, putting them at risk for developing deep venous thrombosis and preeclampsia.<sup>10</sup> A rationale for this might lie within the communication between embryonic cells and the mother's coagulation system through thrombin, thrombomodulin and the PAR-1 receptor;<sup>11</sup> excessive coagulation and disturbed PAR-1 signalling could subsequently lead to impaired trophoblast function and subsequent placental dysfunction, as illustrated by our own results in **chapter 3**.

However, the thrombophilic mutations described in chapter 2 have a low penetrance regarding the preeclampsia phenotype; a 'second hit' and other risk factors clearly are essential, perhaps from the lifestyle category discussed below.<sup>12</sup> Although these variants remained associated with preeclampsia after meta-analyses, others still question the association between these mutations and preeclampsia completely, mentioning possible publication bias favouring small studies reporting high relative risk ratios.<sup>13</sup> Nevertheless, inhibiting the coagulation and complement systems with heparins in women with inherited thrombophilia after their first adverse pregnancy outcome decreases the risk of foetal growth restriction, implying a positive effect on the placenta.<sup>12,</sup> <sup>14</sup> All in all, the contribution of inherited thrombophilias to the aetiology of preeclampsia seems present but not substantial without other contributing factors. Other, more effective ways of targeting the coagulation system have to be investigated before genetic screening for and treatment of inherited thrombophilia becomes effective for the prevention of preeclampsia in pregnant women.

#### Cardiovascular risk factors

This brings us to the second etiological pathway, which is particularly exciting, because it might provide us with the most accessible handles for preventing preeclampsia. This second pathway consists of adverse cardiovascular circumstances predisposing for preeclampsia. The greatest contributors in this category are obesity, metabolic syndrome, hypertension, and diabetes,<sup>15, 16</sup> and the share of these contributors is probably only going

to grow in the next decade due to the obesity-epidemic. In Europe and the United States of America, more than half of the population is overweight today.<sup>17</sup> Interestingly, the incidence of preeclampsia has grown along with the obesity incidence.<sup>18</sup>

Obesity and its comorbidities are associated with dysregulation of both coagulation and inflammation, so this group lies more towards the middle of the spectrum. All these risk factors namely contribute to endothelial dysfunction prior to pregnancy, reducing the endothelial reserve to cope with challenging circumstances such as pregnancy. For example, women with chronic hypertension prior to pregnancy develop preeclampsia more often than normotensive pregnant women, but when they develop preeclampsia, the sFlt-1/ placenta growth factor ratio is smaller than in normotensive subjects, indicating increased sensitivity to small changes in this ratio.<sup>19</sup> More in-depth, obesity, metabolic syndrome and diabetes cause endothelial dysfunction through various pathways, including hyperlipidaemia, increased inflammation and insulin resistance.<sup>20</sup> Interestingly, **chapter 2** of this thesis strengthened this hypothesis by underlining the link between lipoprotein lipase mutations and preeclampsia. The contribution of this predisposing mechanism is illustrated further illustrated by **chapter 4** from this thesis, where models of diabetes and metabolic syndrome show increases in glomerular thrombomodulin expression similar to those seen in preeclampsia. Adverse cardiovascular circumstances could even contribute to the pathophysiology of preeclampsia during the placental development stage; they have been proposed to enhance vascular dysfunction of the decidual arteries, possibly through increased inflammation and disrupted remodeling,<sup>21</sup> which could contribute to diminished placental blood supply. Also, interference with the normal coagulation-trophoblast interaction through PAR-1, as mentioned above, could contribute to impaired trophoblast invasion. This thought is strengthened by the results from chapter 3 from this thesis, where the extent of placental thrombomodulin loss was correlated to maternal BMI and blood pressure, and to placental dysfunction. The great impact of these metabolic disturbances on the endothelium even prior to pregnancy might provide an explanation for the modest effect of treatment targeting downstream effects of coagulation and inflammatory pathways, such as aspirin and heparin. Treatment strategies targeting the dysfunctional endothelium itself and diminishing the endothelial activation
might have a more potent effect. Perhaps activating PAR-1 signalling through thrombomodulin to enhance anti-inflammatory and anti-coagulative signalling, as in more severe examples of endothelial dysfunction, could be of use here.

### Autoimmune disease and preeclampsia

Slightly further towards the immunological end of the spectrum we find preeclampsia in the setting of autoimmune diseases. Some autoimmune diseases which are associated with renal involvement themselves are associated with a particular high risk of preeclampsia, for example, the risk of preeclampsia in systemic lupus erythematosus can increase to up to 40 percent.<sup>22</sup> However, the presence of autoantibodies, in particular antiphospholipid antibodies, independent of disease activity is associated with preeclampsia.<sup>23, 24</sup> The imbalanced immune system and in particular the T-cells have been proposed to be involved in the development of preeclampsia in the setting of autoimmune disease.<sup>22</sup> Nevertheless, heterogeneity in the extent of the autoimmune disease prior to pregnancy appears to be of importance as well when calculating the risk for obstetric complications, pointing towards the 'endothelial reserve' hypothesis described above.<sup>22</sup> So far, maximizing care and minimizing symptoms prior to pregnancy still appear to be the most feasible options for preventing obstetric complications in autoimmune disease.

### **Oocyte donation**

A distinct form placental dysfunction occurs with preeclampsia in the setting of an oocyte donation pregnancy. Oocyte donation is a technique that involves harvesting of oocytes from a donor, subsequent fertilization of the ovum with sperm in vitro, and transfer of the embryo in the recipient mother's uterus. If implantation succeeds, logically, this results in a foetus that is completely allogeneic to the mother, creating a challenging environment for the mother's immune system, comparable with the setting of organ transplantation. This allogeneic foetus appears to be the main 'hit' for the development of preeclampsia after oocyte donation. Further, women receiving oocyte donation are generally older than women with an autologous pregnancy, putting them at an increased risk of developing pregnancy complications and experiencing 'second hits' such as diabetes or hypertension.  $^{\rm 25}$ 

The immunomodulating mechanisms of early pregnancy described in the introductory chapter of this thesis do not suffice in oocyte donation pregnancy, and characteristic changes can be found in the oocyte donation placenta, such as villitis of unknown aetiology and chronic deciduitis.<sup>26</sup> These changes are much more prominent than those in the preeclamptic placenta from naturally conceived pregnancies; for instance, in **chapter 3** of this thesis, no differences were found in placenta infiltrates between cases and control subjects, despite loss of the inflammation-modulating thrombomodulin. Further, direct evidence of differences in regulation of the innate and adaptive immune systems between naturally conceived and oocyte donation pregnancies reveals reduced regulation of the complement system and increased T-cell activation in oocyte donation pregnancies.<sup>27, 28</sup> These changes in immunoreactivity are likely contributors to the development of placental dysfunction in preeclampsia; as described in the introductory chapter, delicate balances between pro- and anti-inflammatory subtypes of immune cells have to be established in the developing placenta to facilitate assistance for the trophoblast cells during invasion and remodelling of the placenta. Disturbances in the composition of these macrophage, NKcell or T-cell populations are associated with impaired placentation. So far, mainly term placentas from women with oocyte donation pregnancies have been studied for their immune population compositions. In-depth studying of the early changes in placental immune cell composition during preeclampsia in oocyte donation pregnancies might provide therapeutic targets for prevention of immune-mediated forms of preeclampsia.

### Massive chronic intervillositis

An extreme variant of placental dysfunction due to immune dysregulation is massive chronic intervillositis of the placenta. Massive chronic intervillositis is characterized by a wide-spread intervillous infiltrate composed of T-cells and macrophages, somewhat resembling a form of chronic rejection, however, the macrophages make up over 80% of the infiltrate.<sup>29</sup> Malaria infection during pregnancy can be associated with a similar placental infiltrate, but to date, no infectious agent has been identified in massive chronic intervillositis.<sup>30</sup> Chronic intervillositis has been reported to be associated with foetal growth impairment, intra-uterine foetal death, and, unfortunately, has a high recurrence rate.<sup>31</sup> Interestingly, the syndrome is associated with antiphospholipid syndrome, suggestive of an aetiology involving autoimmunity.<sup>32</sup>

To date, it remains a mystery what attracts the macrophages in massive chronic intervillositis. In preeclampsia, excessive amount of M1-type, proinflammatory macrophages are attracted to the placenta in reaction to oxidative stress.<sup>33</sup> In massive chronic intervillositis, an adverse event such as large decidual artery infarction or placental dysfunction during early stages of pregnancy might provoke a similar, but enhanced reaction. This severe placental syndrome does not give rise to maternal symptoms and therefore does not fit into the spectrum of preeclampsia completely, but studying an extreme variant of immune dysregulation in the placenta might provide new, confined mechanisms regarding the regulation of inflammation in the placenta that can be extrapolated to the setting of preeclampsia, and vice versa.

# GLOMERULAR VEGF CROSS-TALK

All in all, different pathways appear to contribute to the development of placental dysfunction in preeclampsia, ranging from dysregulation of coagulative to inflammatory processes. So far, kidney involvement in preeclampsia appears to have a more confined aetiology, and appears to be mainly caused by the angiogenic imbalance. This is supported by findings in animal models of anti-angiogenic circumstances, which show glomerular changes similar to preeclampsia. Further, removal of sFlt-1 from the circulation in women with preeclampsia has shown to reduce proteinuria significantly in a small trial recently.<sup>34</sup> Also, other hallmarks of preeclamptic nephropathy, such as complement and fibrin deposition,<sup>35</sup> appear to lie downstream of the angiogenic imbalance: both appear after treatment with anti-angiogenic agents.<sup>35, 36</sup>

Below, the impact of an angiogenic imbalance on the kidney and key points for future research are discussed.

### Future: interference with glomerular crosstalk

Anti-angiogenic factors interfere with the delicate balance in the crosstalk between podocytes and endothelium, which leads to a damage loop, as supported in chapters 4, 5 and 6. Further research into glomerular VEGF cross-talk should comprise the exact role and transportation of sFlt-1 and VEGF in the kidney. As described in chapter 6, the freely diffusible VEGF121 is the dominant VEGF isoform in the human kidney. This isoform lacks heparan binding sites and could therefore, theoretically, freely pass the glomerular basement membrane to reach the endothelial cells. However, the filtration pressure over the glomerular basement membrane approaches 20 mmHg and subsequently results in shear stress with pressures reaching 8 Pa on the podocytes near the basement membrane.<sup>37</sup> The enigma remains how podocytal VEGF 121 could reach the glomerular endothelial cells in the opposite direction of these forces; it would appear more logical for VEGF121 to be washed away with the urine. Perhaps VEGF 121 is involved in local or autocrine VEGF signalling between podocytes, and the longer isoform VEGF 165 is transported over the glomerular basement membrane through binding to heparans. Still, in the setting of preeclampsia, this seems illogical: the glomerular filtration rate diminishes in preeclampsia and glomerular blood flow decreases, presumably leading to decreased filtration pressure and shear stress on the podocytes, logically making it easier for VEGF to pool and reach the endothelial cells.38

Obviously, the excessive sFlt-1 levels in preeclampsia prevent the podocytal VEGF from binding to its receptors on the endothelium and podocytes; sFlt-1 can freely pass the glomerular basement membrane and can be measured in urine from women with preeclampsia.<sup>39</sup> However, results from thesis **chapter 4**, together with previous results from other groups,<sup>40</sup> show increases of renal VEGF expression under anti-angiogenic circumstances. This raises the question if this increase in angiogenic factors would not be enough to compensate for the increased sFlt-1 levels. Of course, the anti-angiogenic imbalance of preeclampsia leads to a distinct renal phenotype, but a recent study shed new light on the role of sFlt-1 in kidney disease. Jin et al revealed that podocytes possess an sFlt-1 receptor which regulates their actin cytoskeleton arrangement.<sup>41</sup> Further, this sFlt-1 receptor seems to be present on pericytes in the rest of the vasculature as well. Possibly, the increased

sFlt-1 levels in preeclampsia act on these pericyte receptors and promote the hypertensive phenotype this way.

Interfering with VEGF cross-talk in the glomerular damage loop may not be the only promising option for targeting preeclampsia; recent studies have revealed promising results by interfering with glomerular cross-talk on the level of the endothelium. The endothelin pathway appears to be a promising target: blocking endothelin signalling in a mouse model of diabetic nephropathy ameliorated proteinuria.<sup>42</sup> Endothelial endothelin expression is increased in preeclamptic women as well, making it appear as a promising target.<sup>43</sup> However, endothelin expression is a downstream effect of endothelial activation, and targeting the endothelial activation of preeclampsia as a whole would probably more effective and subtle, as endothelin is an important vasoconstrictor and blocking it completely will not be possible for humans. An inhibitor of endothelial activation is thrombomodulin; as described in **chapter** 4, levels of glomerular thrombomodulin increase as a counter-mechanism under anti-angiogenic circumstances, but this increase is not sufficient. Soluble thrombomodulin administration appears to be a promising way to restoring glomerular function in mouse models of inflammatory kidney disease;<sup>44</sup> perhaps treatment with soluble thrombomodulin could have a beneficial effect on glomerular endothelium, and subsequently on glomerular cross talk and endothelin expression, under anti-angiogenic conditions as well.

### Irreversible damage after preeclampsia?

After delivery of the placenta, levels of anti-angiogenic factors in serum return to normal and proteinuria resolves in most women with preeclampsia. However, persistent podocyte loss after resolution of preeclampsia has been described,<sup>45</sup> and women who have had preeclampsia remain at an increased risk for developing chronic kidney disease.<sup>46</sup> The ongoing and increasing damage even after resolution of the anti-angiogenic environment suggest an irreversible and continuing process in the glomerulus after preeclamptic nephropathy.

Recently, Kriz et al proposed an interesting paper on a hypothesis where loss of several podocytes leads to increased mechanical stress on other podocytes, leading to irreversible podocyte damage and loss.<sup>37</sup> In contrast to the glomerular endothelium, which can replicate and expand easily,

### Chapter 7

and the glomerular basement membrane, which has never been reported to break under physiologically possible ranges of pressure, the podocytes are particularly sensitive to increased filtration through the glomerulus. Podocytes have a limited capacity to expand with increasing GBM areas due to the definite width of the slit diaphragm, and cannot be replaced effectively when they are damaged. Loss of podocytes, as in preeclampsia, leads to an increased working load for the remaining podocytes, and subsequent increased mechanical challenges. According to Kriz, this leads, in the long term, to glomerulosclerosis.

In patients who experienced preeclampsia, this process might be accelerated by the unfavourable cardiovascular circumstances associated with preeclampsia; diabetes or hypertension increase glomerular stress and podocyte working load even further. Therefore, physicians should be cautious when treating a patient with cardiovascular problems and preeclampsia in their patient history; these women might be at an increased risk for developing renal failure as well.<sup>46</sup>

### Preeclampsia: a 'model' disease?

Kidney disease in most women with preeclampsia runs relatively mild. However, preeclamptic nephropathy is of particular interest for the rest of the field of kidney research; preeclampsia can be viewed as an extreme example of the disruption of glomerular VEGF crosstalk during a short period of time. Observing the changes and mechanisms involved in restoring this cross-talk mild provide suggestions for research into other forms of proteinuric kidney disease. Milder, but chronic forms of angiogenic imbalance play a role in for example diabetic nephropathy and FSGS, which is also associated with disrupted TGF-beta signaling.<sup>47, 48</sup> Recently, different polymorphisms of the VEGF gene have even been reported to be associated with hypertension-related chronic kidney disease.<sup>49-51</sup> Since VEGF cross-talk appears to act differently in the human and murine kidney, as suggested in chapter 6, patients with preeclampsia might be the best 'in vivo' example of an anti-angiogenic state. However, this might be unpractical because biopsy specimen from patients with preeclampsia are rare or even non-existent, since kidney biopsy is a relatively hazardous procedure, especially during pregnancy and the cause of kidney disease in preeclampsia usually is evident, so the need for a biopsy is often absent.

### **FUTURE PERSPECTIVES**

In conclusion, preeclampsia appears to be a two-stage disease, starting with disrupted placental formation through both vascular and immunological challenges early during pregnancy, and resulting in maternal systemic involvement, with the vascular system and the kidney as the first organs targeted. However, the reverse is also true, as noted in this discussion; pre-existent vascular damage and kidney disease prior to pregnancy also put women at risk for developing preeclampsia, probably by decreased reserves for coping with the increased demands of pregnancy. So, cause and consequence appear to be intertwined in the aetiology of preeclampsia, resulting in a complex, multifactorial pathogenesis. This can also possibly explain why treating single targets from the immune or coagulation system at once, during later stages of the disease, does not resolve the symptoms of preeclampsia.

In the discussion of this thesis, a new way of unravelling this multifactorial aetiology has been proposed; the different risk factors for preeclampsia, such as thrombophilia, cardiovascular risk factors, oocyte donation and autoimmune disease might all result in different aetiologies of the same syndrome, requiring an individual approach. The role of the placenta, and its early changes, might differ between these different etiological pathways leading up to preeclampsia. The late changes in the placenta in preeclampsia have been studied extensively, but the early stages of the placenta in preeclampsia in human patients have remained underexposed. However, such material is, of course, hard to obtain; placenta biopsies cannot be performed for research purposes, and with materials from first-trimester miscarriages it remains unknown whether the patient would have developed preeclampsia. A feasible alternative for detecting changes during early stages of pregnancy is proteomics analysis. With proteomics, all proteins expressed in a tissue or blood sample are measured and their levels can be compared with other samples.52 This "drag-net" like method might reveal new serum markers that reflect placental changes in certain types of patients; for preeclampsia in general, several new role players such as complement factor C1 and clusterin, involved in apoptosis, have been discovered recently with proteomics.<sup>53, 54</sup> New biomarkers might allow us to distinguish between primary placentamediated preeclampsia, with major involvement of immune dysregulation, from preeclampsia with a major role for decreased vascular reserve. This

might also set the stage from patient-tailored therapy; some patients might benefit from anti-inflammatory or anti-coagulative drugs targeting the systemic response, and others might benefit from immunomodulating drugs early during pregnancy, during placental formation.

Summary and general discussion

# REFERENCES

- Mol BW, Roberts CT, Thangaratinam S, Magee LA, de Groot CJ, Hofmeyr GJ. Pre-eclampsia. Lancet. 2016; 387: 999-1011.
- Paauw ND, van Rijn BB, Lely AT, Joles JA. Pregnancy as a critical window for blood pressure regulation in mother and child: Programming and reprogramming. Acta Physiol (Oxf). 2017; 219: 241-259.
- 3. Calnek DS, Grinnell BW. Thrombomodulin-dependent anticoagulant activity is regulated by vascular endothelial growth factor. Exp Cell Res. 1998; 238: 294-298.
- Mizutani M, Yuzawa Y, Maruyama I, Sakamoto N, Matsuo S. Glomerular localization of thrombomodulin in human glomerulonephritis. Lab Invest. 1993; 69: 193-202.
- Gartner HV, Sammoun A, Wehrmann M, Grossmann T, Junghans R, Weihing C. Preeclamptic nephropathy - an endothelial lesion. A morphological study with a review of the literature. Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol. 1998; 77: 11-27.
- Cagnoli L, Casanova S, Pasquali S. Correlations between glomerular epithelial changes and proteinuria in different glomerular diseases. [italian]. Minerva Nefrologica. 1980; 27: 155-158.
- Henao DE, Mathieson PW, Saleem MA, Bueno JC, Cadavid A. A novel renal perspective of preeclampsia: A look from the podocyte. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2007; 22: 1477.
- 8. Woolard J, Bevan HS, Harper SJ, Bates DO. Molecular diversity of vegf-a as a regulator of its biological activity. Microcirculation. 2009; 16: 572-592.
- Martinez-Varea A, Pellicer B, Perales-Marin A, Pellicer A. Relationship between maternal immunological response during pregnancy and onset of preeclampsia. J Immunol Res. 2014; 2014: 210241.
- Reitsma PH. Genetics in thrombophilia. An update. Hamostaseologie. 2015; 35: 47– 51.
- 11. Kashif M, Isermann B. Role of the coagulation system in development. Thromb Res. 2013; 131 Suppl 1: S14-17.
- Aracic N, Roje D, Jakus IA, Bakotin M, Stefanovic V. The impact of inherited thrombophilia types and low molecular weight heparin treatment on pregnancy complications in women with previous adverse outcome. Yonsei Med J. 2016; 57: 1230-1235.
- Simcox LE, Ormesher L, Tower C, Greer IA. Thrombophilia and pregnancy complications. Int J Mol Sci. 2015; 16: 28418-28428.
- 14. de Vries JI, van Pampus MG, Hague WM, Bezemer PD, Joosten JH. Low-molecular-weight heparin added to aspirin in the prevention of recurrent early-onset pre-eclampsia in women with inheritable thrombophilia: The fruit-rct. J Thromb Haemost. 2012; 10: 64-72.
- Cho GJ, Park JH, Shin SA, Oh MJ, Seo HS. Metabolic syndrome in the non-pregnant state is associated with the development of preeclampsia. Int J Cardiol. 2015; 203: 982-986.

- Bartsch E, Medcalf KE, Park AL, Ray JG. Clinical risk factors for pre-eclampsia determined in early pregnancy: Systematic review and meta-analysis of large cohort studies. Bmj. 2016; 353: i1753.
- Yatsuya H, Li Y, Hilawe EH, Ota A, Wang C, Chiang C, Zhang Y, Uemura M, Osako A, Ozaki Y, Aoyama A. Global trend in overweight and obesity and its association with cardiovascular disease incidence. Circ J. 2014; 78: 2807-2818.
- Wallis AB, Saftlas AF, Hsia J, Atrash HK. Secular trends in the rates of preeclampsia, eclampsia, and gestational hypertension, united states, 1987-2004. Am J Hypertens. 2008; 21: 521-526.
- Costa RA, Hoshida MS, Alves EA, Zugaib M, Francisco RP. Preeclampsia and superimposed preeclampsia: The same disease? The role of angiogenic biomarkers. Hypertens Pregnancy. 2016; 35: 139-149.
- Bruyndonckx L, Hoymans VY, Lemmens K, Ramet J, Vrints CJ. Childhood obesity-related endothelial dysfunction: An update on pathophysiological mechanisms and diagnostic advancements. Pediatr Res. 2016; 79: 831-837.
- Spradley FT, Palei AC, Granger JP. Increased risk for the development of preeclampsia in obese pregnancies: Weighing in on the mechanisms. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol. 2015; 309: R1326-1343.
- 22. Ostensen M, Andreoli L, Brucato A, et al. State of the art: Reproduction and pregnancy in rheumatic diseases. Autoimmun Rev. 2015; 14: 376-386.
- Spinillo A, Beneventi F, Locatelli E, Ramoni V, Caporali R, Alpini C, Albonico G, Cavagnoli C, Montecucco C. Early, incomplete, or preclinical autoimmune systemic rheumatic diseases and pregnancy outcome. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2016:
- 24. Moroni G, Ponticelli C. Pregnancy in women with systemic lupus erythematosus (sle). Eur J Intern Med. 2016; 32: 7-12.
- Bos M, Baelde HJ, Bruijn JA, Bloemenkamp KW, van der Hoorn MP, Turner RJ. Loss of placental thrombomodulin in oocyte donation pregnancies. Fertil Steril. 2017; 107: 119-129.e115.
- 26. Savasi VM, Mandia L, Laoreti A, Cetin I. Maternal and fetal outcomes in oocyte donation pregnancies. Hum Reprod Update. 2016:
- Lashley LE, Buurma A, Swings GM, Eikmans M, Anholts JD, Bakker JA, Claas FH. Preeclampsia in autologous and oocyte donation pregnancy: Is there a different pathophysiology? J Reprod Immunol. 2015; 109: 17-23.
- 28. van der Hoorn ML, van Egmond A, Swings GM, van Beelen E, van der Keur C, Tirado-Gonzalez I, Blois SM, Karumanchi SA, Bianchi DW, Claas FH, Scherjon SA. Differential immunoregulation in successful oocyte donation pregnancies compared with naturally conceived pregnancies. J Reprod Immunol. 2014; 101-102: 96-103.
- 29. Labarrere C, Mullen E. Fibrinoid and trophoblastic necrosis with massive chronic intervillositis: An extreme variant of villitis of unknown etiology. Am J Reprod Immunol Microbiol. 1987; 15: 85-91.
- Ordi J, Ismail MR, Ventura PJ, Kahigwa E, Hirt R, Cardesa A, Alonso PL, Menendez C. Massive chronic intervillositis of the placenta associated with malaria infection. Am J Surg Pathol. 1998; 22: 1006-1011.

### Chapter 7

31.	Doss BJ, Greene MF, Hill J, Heffner LJ, Bieber FR, Genest DR. Massive chronic in- tervillositis associated with recurrent abortions. Hum Pathol. 1995; 26: 1245-1251.
32.	Revaux A, Mekinian A, Nicaise P, Bucourt M, Cornelis F, Lachassinne E, Chol- let-Martin S, Fain O, Carbillon L. Antiphospholipid syndrome and other autoim- mune diseases associated with chronic intervillositis. Arch Gynecol Obstet. 2015; 291: 1229–1236.
33.	Faas MM, Spaans F, De Vos P. Monocytes and macrophages in pregnancy and pre-eclampsia. Front Immunol. 2014; 5: 298.
34.	Thadhani R, Hagmann H, Schaarschmidt W, et al. Removal of soluble fms-like ty- rosine kinase-1 by dextran sulfate apheresis in preeclampsia. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016; 27: 903-913.
35.	Penning M, Chua JS, van Kooten C, Zandbergen M, Buurma A, Schutte J, Bruijn JA, Khankin EV, Bloemenkamp K, Karumanchi SA, Baelde H. Classical complement pathway activation in the kidneys of women with preeclampsia. Hypertension. 2015; 66: 117-125.
36.	Usui J, Glezerman IG, Salvatore SP, Chandran CB, Flombaum CD, Seshan SV. Clin- icopathological spectrum of kidney diseases in cancer patients treated with vas- cular endothelial growth factor inhibitors: A report of 5 cases and review of liter- ature. Hum Pathol. 2014; 45: 1918-1927.
37.	Kriz W, Lemley KV. Mechanical challenges to the glomerular filtration barrier: Adaptations and pathway to sclerosis. Pediatr Nephrol. 2016:
38.	Kublickas M, Lunell NO, Nisell H, Westgren M. Maternal renal artery blood flow velocimetry in normal and hypertensive pregnancies. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand. 1996; 75: 715-719.
39.	Hagmann H, Bossung V, Belaidi AA, Fridman A, Karumanchi SA, Thadhani R, Schermer B, Mallmann P, Schwarz G, Benzing T, Brinkkoetter PT. Low-molecular weight heparin increases circulating sflt-1 levels and enhances urinary elimination. PLoS One. 2014; 9: e85258.
40.	Buhimschi CS, Norwitz ER, Funai E, Richman S, Guller S, Lockwood CJ, Buhimschi IA. Urinary angiogenic factors cluster hypertensive disorders and identify women with severe preeclampsia. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2005; 192: 734-741.
41.	Jin J, Sison K, Li C, et al. Soluble flt1 binds lipid microdomains in podocytes to control cell morphology and glomerular barrier function. Cell. 2012; 151: 384-399.
42.	Garsen M, Lenoir O, Rops AL, Dijkman HB, Willemsen B, van Kuppevelt TH, Rabe- link TJ, Berden JH, Tharaux PL, van der Vlag J. Endothelin–1 induces proteinuria by heparanase-mediated disruption of the glomerular glycocalyx. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016:
43.	Lee DK, Nevo O. Microvascular endothelial cells from preeclamptic women exhibit altered expression of angiogenic and vasopressor factors. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2016; 310: H1834-1841.
44.	Rajashekhar G, Gupta A, Marin A, Friedrich J, Willuweit A, Berg DT, Cramer MS, Sandusky GE, Sutton TA, Basile DP, Grinnell BW, Clauss M. Soluble thrombomod-

ulin reduces inflammation and prevents microalbuminuria induced by chronic

endothelial activation in transgenic mice. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2012; 302: F703-712.

- 45. White WM, Garrett AT, Craici IM, Wagner SJ, Fitz-Gibbon PD, Butters KA, Brost BC, Rose CH, Grande JP, Garovic VD. Persistent urinary podocyte loss following preeclampsia may reflect subclinical renal injury. PLoS One. 2014; 9: e92693.
- Paauw ND, Luijken K, Franx A, Verhaar MC, Lely AT. Long-term renal and cardiovascular risk after preeclampsia: Towards screening and prevention. Clin Sci (Lond). 2016; 130: 239-246.
- 47. Schramek H, Sarkozi R, Lauterberg C, Kronbichler A, Pirklbauer M, Albrecht R, Noppert SJ, Perco P, Rudnicki M, Strutz FM, Mayer G. Neuropilin-1 and neuropilin-2 are differentially expressed in human proteinuric nephropathies and cytokine-stimulated proximal tubular cells. Lab Invest. 2009; 89: 1304-1316.
- Bennett MR, Czech KA, Arend LJ, Witte DP, Devarajan P, Potter SS. Laser capture microdissection-microarray analysis of focal segmental glomerulosclerosis glomeruli. Nephron Exp Nephrol. 2007; 107: e30-40.
- 49. Malkiewicz A, Skrzypkowska M, Slominski B, Siebert J, Gutknecht P, Mysliwska J. The gg genotype of the -152 g/a vascular endothelial growth factor (vegf) polymorphism predisposes to hypertension-related chronic kidney disease. Mol Biol Rep. 2016:
- 50. Malkiewicz A, Mysliwska J, Skrzypkowska M, Slominski B, Siebert J, Gutknecht P. Vascular endothelial growth factor polymorphism (-460 t/c) is related to hypertension-associated chronic kidney disease. Clin Exp Hypertens. 2016; 38: 469-475.
- 51. Malkiewicz A, Slominski B, Skrzypkowska M, Siebert J, Gutknecht P, Mysliwska J. The ga genotype of the -1154 g/a (rs1570360) vascular endothelial growth factor (vegf) is protective against hypertension-related chronic kidney disease incidence. Mol Cell Biochem. 2016; 418: 159–165.
- Shankar R, Cullinane F, Brennecke SP, Moses EK. Applications of proteomic methodologies to human pregnancy research: A growing gestation approaching delivery? Proteomics. 2004; 4: 1909-1917.
- 53. Kim SM, Cho BK, Kang MJ, Norwitz ER, Lee SM, Lee J, Park CW, Kim BJ, Jun JK, Park JS, Yi EC. Expression changes of proteins associated with the development of preeclampsia in maternal plasma: A case-control study. Proteomics. 2016; 16: 1581-1589.
- 54. Hsu TY, Hsieh TT, Yang KD, Tsai CC, Ou CY, Cheng BH, Wong YH, Hung HN, Chou AK, Hsiao CC, Lin H. Proteomic profiling reveals alpha1-antitrypsin, alpha1-mi-croglobulin, and clusterin as preeclampsia-related serum proteins in pregnant women. Taiwan J Obstet Gynecol. 2015; 54: 499-504.

# **Chapter 8**

# Summary in Dutch (Nederlandse Samenvatting)

### INTRODUCTIE

Pre-eclampsie, doorgaans zwangerschapsvergiftiging genoemd, is een syndroom dat één tot vier procent van de Nederlandse zwangere vrouwen treft. Vrouwen met pre-eclampsie hebben een hoge bloeddruk en eiwitverlies in de urine als gevolg van nierschade. Bij de meeste vrouwen met preeclampsie verloopt het ziektebeeld mild, maar het syndroom kan zich plots ontwikkelen tot een ernstig beeld met complicaties voor moeder en kind. Diverse risicofactoren voor het ontwikkelen van pre-eclampsie zijn al aangetoond. Uit studies naar genetische risicofactoren voor pre-eclampsie bleken associaties met verschillende genen die coderen voor factoren uit de stolling van bloed en het onderhoud van de bloedvaten aan de ene kant, en genen die coderen voor immunologische factoren aan de andere kant. Uit studies naar verworven risicofactoren voor pre-eclampsie is gebleken dat enerzijds vasculaire invloeden, zoals diabetes, hypertensie, obesitas en een oudere maternale leeftijd met het syndroom geassocieerd zijn. Anderzijds zijn ook immunologische factoren, zoals een auto-immuunaandoening, een zwangerschap na eiceldonatie en het hebben van een eerste zwangerschap risicofactoren.

Deze verschillende risicofactoren dragen bij aan de uiteindelijke uitingsvorm van pre-eclampsie, waarbij de placenta te veel anti-angiogene stoffen produceert. Deze stoffen komen in het bloed van de moeder terecht, waar zij stoffen blokkeren die belangrijk zijn voor het onderhoud van organen en bloedvaten, zoals 'vascular endothelial growth factor' (VEGF), dat onmisbaar is voor het onderhoud van de nier en het endotheel, de bekleding van de bloedvaten.

Ondanks al het onderzoek naar risicofactoren en veranderingen in de placenta bij pre-eclampsie dat tot nu toe is verricht, is het nog onduidelijk wat precies het mechanisme van het ontstaan van pre-eclampsie is. Ook is de reden waarom sommige vrouwen een verhoogd risico hebben op het ontwikkelen van pre-eclampsie niet duidelijk. Wellicht zijn dit de redenen dat het nog niet gelukt is een geschikte methode voor preventie en genezing van pre-eclampsie te ontwikkelen. Verder onderzoek naar pre-eclampsie zou nieuwe aangrijpingspunten voor therapie kunnen onthullen.

In dit proefschrift wordt onderzoek naar de samenhang tussen de drie verschillende hierboven genoemde mechanismen, stolling, immunologie en anti-angiogene stoffen, en het mogelijke effect van ontregeling van deze mechanismen op de placenta en de nier en de rol ervan bij pre-eclampsie.

# **HOOFDSTUK 2**

In hoofdstuk twee worden de genetische risicofactoren van pre-eclampsie verder onderzocht. Omdat is gebleken dat pre-eclampsie een belangrijke familiaire component heeft, zijn er veel studies uitgevoerd om te ontdekken welke genen zouden kunnen bijdragen aan de ontwikkeling van preeclampsie. De meeste studies naar genen in pre-eclampsie betroffen genetische associatiestudies, waarbij een zogeheten kandidaatgen wordt gekozen op basis van beschikbare kennis over het ziektebeeld. De frequentie van voorkomen van dit kandidaatgen wordt dan vergeleken tussen vrouwen met pre-eclampsie en gezonde vrouwen. Echter betreft dit vaak kleine studies, en worden studies waarin geen associatie gevonden wordt tussen een kandidaatgen en pre-eclampsie meestal niet gepubliceerd of gerapporteerd, gewoonweg omdat een negatief resultaat minder interessant is voor een wetenschappelijk tijdschrift om te publiceren. Er is dan ook een vrij grote kans dat een deel van de studies waarin een associatie significant bleek, bij toeval een positief resultaat lieten zien. Dit fenomeen wordt ook wel 'publicatiebias' genoemd.

Om uit te zoeken voor welke genetische varianten een robuust bewijs voor een associatie met pre-eclampsie bestaat, werd een meta-analyse uitgevoerd. Bij een meta-analyse worden alle tot nu toe bekende onderzoeksresultaten over een onderwerp verzameld en met statistische technieken samengevoegd, zodat een 'totaal effect' ondersteund door alle studies geschat kan worden. Voor deze meta-analyse naar genetische varianten in pre-eclampsie werden alle artikelen die dit onderwerp betroffen verzameld, en alleen genetische varianten waarvan de associatie gereproduceerd was in de literatuur werden geïncludeerd.

Dit betrof 22 genetische varianten, maar na het samenvoegen van de effecten gerapporteerd in alle studies, bleven slechts zeven genetische varianten geassocieerd met pre-eclampsie. Dit waren vier genen betrokken bij het stollingssysteem, twee genen betrokken bij endotheelschade en bloeddrukregulatie, en een gen betrokken bij ontsteking. Deze resultaten zijn een aanwijzing dat stolling, inflammatie en endotheelschade een rol spelen bij het ontwikkelen van pre-eclampsie; dit past ook bij de bekende associaties tussen cardiovasculaire risicofactoren en pre-eclampsie, en de centrale rol van endotheelschade in pre-eclampsie. Echter is het niet duidelijk hoe groot de rol van deze genetische varianten in het ontwikkelen van pre-eclampsie precies is: niet alle vrouwen die deze mutaties dragen ontwikkelen preeclampsie, en niet alle vrouwen met pre-eclampsie dragen deze mutaties. Voor het ontwikkelen van pre-eclampsie is waarschijnlijk een 'second hit' nodig, zoals bijvoorbeeld ongunstige immunologische omstandigheden zoals een auto-immuun ziekte of het hebben van cardiovasculaire risicofactoren. In hoofdstuk 2 werd bevonden dat ontregeling van het stollingssysteem en inflammatie van endotheel waarschijnlijk een belangrijke rol spelen in pre-eclampsie. Een eiwit dat betrokken is bij de regulatie van allebei deze systemen is trombomoduline. Dit eiwit is aanwezig op de bekleding van de placenta, de syncytiotrofoblast, en op de endotheelcellen in de bloedvaten. Trombomoduline zorgt daar voor remming van stolling, inflammatie en celdood van de endotheelcellen, en speelt ook een rol bij het in stand houden van de structuur van de endotheelcellen. Het is bekend dat tijdens ontsteking trombomoduline wordt gekliefd van het endotheel, waarna het zijn functie verliest. Dit zou een nadelig effect kunnen hebben, want dat betekent dat er dan meer stolling en ontsteking op zou kunnen treden. Ook is het bekend dat meer van dit gekliefde trombomoduline aanwezig is in het bloed van de moeder in pre-eclampsie, maar het is niet bekend of er dan ook minder trombomoduline aanwezig is op het endotheel of op de bekleding van de placenta tijdens pre-eclampsie. Het is tevens nog niet bekend wat voor effecten trombomoduline op de placenta en organen van de moeder heeft bij de ontwikkeling van pre-eclampsie. In hoofdstuk drie en vier van dit proefschrift wordt daarom de rol van trombomoduline in de placenta en nier in pre-eclampsie onderzocht.

# HOOFDSTUK DRIE

In hoofdstuk drie werd de aanwezigheid van het trombomoduline-eiwit en trombomoduline mRNA, dat in de cel zorgt dat het trombomodulineeiwit geproduceerd wordt, onderzocht in placenta's van vrouwen met pre-eclampsie, en als controle in placenta's van vrouwen met een goed verlopen zwangerschap en van vrouwen met een zwangerschap gecompliceerd door groeivertraging. Deze laatste groep werd toegevoegd omdat deze meer vergelijkbaar zijn met de pre-eclampsie groep wat betreft zwangerschapsduur, placentagewicht en geboortegewicht; zo kon uitgesloten worden dat deze de oorzaak waren van een gevonden verschil tussen de gezonde controlegroep en de patiënten met pre-eclampsie.

Zowel trombomoduline-eiwit als trombomoduline mRNA waren minder aanwezig in de placenta's van vrouwen met pre-eclampsie in vergelijking met de controlegroepen. Ook bleek er een negatieve associatie tussen bloeddruk en lichaamsgewicht met de hoeveelheid trombomoduline mRNA in de vrouwen met pre-eclampsie, wat suggereert dat de hoeveelheid vasculaire disfunctie in de moeder invloed heeft op het functioneren van de placentacellen. Tevens was de afwezigheid van trombomoduline gecorreleerd met meer celdood (apoptose) en verminderde aanwezigheid van eiwitten betrokken bij regulering van de placentastructuur.

Om te onderzoeken of de angiogene disbalans van pre-eclampsie wellicht de oorzaak kon zijn van de verminderde trombomodulineproductie in pre-eclampsie werd de aanwezigheid van het anti-angiogene eiwit soluble Flt-1 (sFlt-1) in de placenta's onderzocht. Verminderde aanwezigheid van trombomoduline in de placenta was geassocieerd met een hogere productie van soluble Flt-1. Op basis hiervan werd de hypothese voorgesteld dat VEGF een regulator van trombomoduline in de placenta zou kunnen zijn. Inderdaad werd in een celkweekexperiment met placentacellen gevonden dat het toevoegen van VEGF aan de cellen leidde tot meer productie van trombomoduline.

Deze bevindingen illustreren wederom de relatie tussen de angiogene disbalans van pre-eclampsie en het disfunctioneren van het endotheel en de placenta. Ook suggereren ze dat trombomoduline wellicht een interessant aangrijpingspunt zou kunnen zijn voor het onderscheppen van het causale pad van pre-eclampsie, aangezien de angiogene disbalans zelf een lastig mechanisme is om op aan te grijpen (zie onder, hoofdstuk vijf).

# HOOFDSTUK VIER

In hoofdstuk vier werd de aanwezigheid van trombomoduline-eiwit in de nieren van vrouwen met pre-eclampsie en de relatie met de (immuno) histologische kenmerken van de nier onderzocht. Omdat er bij het nemen van een nierbiopt een grote kans is op complicaties, zoals interne bloedingen, wordt dit bij zwangere vrouwen vrijwel nooit uitgevoerd. Daarom werd voor dit onderzoek gebruik gemaakt van niermateriaal verkregen van vrouwen

### Chapter 8

overleden tijdens de zwangerschap. Via het Pathologisch-Anatomisch Landelijk Geautomatiseerd Archief (PALGA) werden alle vrouwen met pre-eclampsie die overleden waren tijdens de zwangerschap opgezocht en niermateriaal uit pathologische archieven werd opgevraagd. Ook werd niermateriaal van overleden zwangere vrouwen zonder pre-eclampsie opgevraagd als controlemateriaal. De aanwezigheid van het trombomodulineeiwit in het niermateriaal werd onderzocht, en histologische veranderingen in de nieren werden beoordeeld door een patholoog.

Uit dit experiment bleek dat de aanwezigheid van trombomoduline-eiwit verhoogd is in de nieren van vrouwen met pre-eclampsie in vergelijking met vrouwen zonder pre-eclampsie. Ook was deze verhoogde expressie geassocieerd met expressie van het eiwit nefrine in de nier, en met de activatie van pariëtale epitheelcellen; dit zijn aanwijzingen voor een beschermend effect van trombomoduline. Dit is een verrassende bevinding in het licht van de resultaten van hoofdstuk drie, waarin werd gevonden dat trombomoduline-expressie juist verminderd is in de placenta tijdens preeclampsie.

Om te onderzoeken of de angiogene disbalans van pre-eclampsie deze verhoging van trombomoduline in de nier zou kunnen veroorzaken, werden een aantal vervolgexperimenten uitgevoerd. In een celkweekexperiment werd sFlt-1 toegevoegd aan cellen representatief voor endotheelcellen uit de nier; dit resulteerde in een verlaagde productie van trombomoduline door de cellen. In tegenstelling hiermee, werd in nieren van muizen die behandeld waren met anti-angiogene factoren een verhoogde aanwezigheid van trombomoduline in de nier gevonden. Omdat in hoofdstuk drie een associatie was gevonden tussen lichaamsgewicht (en hiermee, indirect, een inflammatoire staat) en trombomoduline-expressie in de placenta, werd trombomoduline onderzocht in nieren van varkens met diabetes en controle varkens. In de varkens met diabetes was de trombomoduline expressie in de nier verhoogd.

De resultaten van hoofdstuk vier laten zien dat trombomodulineproductie in de nier verhoogd is onder anti-angiogene condities, terwijl er in celkweek een direct verminderend effect van sFlt-1 op trombomodulineproductie werd geobserveerd. Een verklaring hiervoor zou kunnen zijn dat de endotheelcellen van de nier een defensieve strategie tegen schade inzetten door trombomodulineproductie te verhogen; zo een mechanisme is eerder beschreven bij een ander ziektebeeld van de nier, glomerulonefritis.

# HOOFDSTUK VIJF

De associatie van trombomoduline-expressie op het endotheel van de bloedvaten in de nier met de aanwezigheid van nefrine op de podocyten in de nier, gevonden in hoofdstuk vier, illustreert de 'cross-talk' tussen de verschillende lagen in het filterapparaat van de nier, de glomerulus. De belangrijkste functie van de nier is het filteren van stoffen uit het bloed, en daarmee het behouden van de homeostase in het lichaam. Dit filteren gebeurt in de 'glomeruli' van de nier, waar het filtraat langs drie lagen geleid wordt. Eerst passeert het filtraat de endotheelcellen, die fenestraties hebben waar kleine moleculen en ionen kunnen passeren, vervolgens passeert het de glomerulaire basaalmembraan, waar negatief geladen moleculen (met name eiwitten) worden tegen gehouden, en vervolgens passeert het filtraat de podocyten, een laag van zeer gespecialiseerde cellen met een complexe vorm. Deze podocyten spelen verder een belangrijke rol bij het in stand houden van de andere lagen van de glomerulus door de productie van VEGF. In hoofdstuk vijf werd de rol van de verschillende lagen in de glomerulus in pre-eclampsie en hun cross-talk verder onderzocht middels een systematische review. Hieruit bleek dat vroege studies naar de nier in preeclampsie vooral focusten op de veranderingen in de endotheelcellen, welke opzwellen in pre-eclampsie, een verandering die goed zichtbaar is met de microscoop. Echter treden veranderingen in het endotheel niet zichtbaar op bij veel van de nierbiopten van vrouwen met pre-eclamspie, dus zijn de endotheelveranderingen op zich niet voldoende de nierpathologie in preeclampsie te verklaren. De laatste paar decennia is de aandacht verschoven naar de rol van podocyten in pre-eclampsie: met elektronenmicroscopie is aangetoond dat de structuur van podocyten beschadigd raakt, en in de urine kunnen loslatende podocyten al aangetoond worden voordat er eiwitverlies in de urine optreedt.

Er wordt verondersteld dat aan de nierpathologie in pre-eclampsie een vicieuze cirkel van schade in de glomerulus optreedt, veroorzaakt door de angiogene disbalans. Het excessieve sFlt-1 bindt aan VEGF, waardoor minder VEGF kan binden aan de endotheelcellen en podocyten in de glomerulus. Hierdoor raakt de complexe structuur van de podocyten beschadigd, laten ze los en vermindert de VEGF-productie in de glomerulus. De endotheelcellen raken ook beschadigd door het gebrek aan VEGF, waarna zij endotheline, een inflammatie-eiwit, produceren, dat de podocyten nog verder kan beschadigen. Er is de laatste jaren veel onderzoek gedaan naar een punt om aan te grijpen in deze vicieuze cirkel van schade; dit is echter erg lastig door de delicate balans van de cross-talk eiwitten die nodig is voor een gezond functionerende glomerulus. Zowel te lage, als te hoge niveaus van VEGF brengen schade toe aan de nier.

### **HOOFDSTUK 6**

In hoofdstuk vijf werd het belang van VEGF in het samenspel tussen de podocyten en endotheelcellen voor het behoud van het functioneren van de nier benadrukt, maar het is nog niet duidelijk hoe dit samenspel precies tot stand komt. Het filtraat in de nier passeert lagen van de glomerulus van de endotheelcellen naar de podocyten onder een relatief hoge filtratiedruk. Toch bereikt het VEGF geproduceerd door de podocyten tegen deze stroom in de endotheelcellen.

Aanwijzingen voor het antwoord op deze vraag liggen misschien bij de structuur van het VEGF-eiwit. Het mRNA van VEGF, dat codeert voor de productie van het VEGF-eiwit in de cel, kan op verschillende manieren gesplitst worden. Op deze manier kunnen van hetzelfde VEGF-gen minstens acht verschillende vormen van VEGF geproduceerd worden, acht verschillende isovormen, welke verschillen in eigenschappen. Sommige isovormen kunnen zich vrij verspreiden via de bloedvaten en het interstitium, terwijl andere isovormen een regio bevatten om te gebonden te worden door extracellulaire matrix. Ook zorgen de langere isovormen voor een sterker activerend effect dan de kortere. In hoofdstuk zes van dit proefschrift worden het voorkomen en de verdeling van de verschillende isovormen van VEGF in de nier, onder fysiologische en pathologische omstandigheden, onderzocht. Met capillaire elektroforese werd de relatieve mRNA-expressie van de VEGFisovormen onderzocht in nierbiopten van gezonde mensen en niermateriaal van muizen. In mensen was de korte, vrij verspreidbare VEGF-121 isovorm het meest voorkomend, terwijl in muizen de langere isovorm VEGF-164 het meest voorkwam. Dit suggereert wellicht dat het transport van VEGF in de nier bij de mens op een andere manier verloopt dat in muizen.

Ook werd de verdeling van VEGF isovormen onder diverse pathologische

omstandigheden in de nier onderzocht; humane nierbiopten van patiënten na niertransplantatie en van patiënten met diabetische nefropathie, en niermateriaal van muizen met diabetes en lupus nefritis werd onderzocht. De verdeling van de isovormen was voor diabetische nefropathie en lupus nefritis vergelijkbaar met de verdeling in de controle samples, en in het niermateriaal afkomstig van verschillende stadia van acute rejectie van een niertransplantaat en diabetische nefropathie liet ook vergelijkbare isovorm verdelingen zien. Deze resultaten suggereren dat de verdeling van VEGF-isovormen in de nier stabiel blijft tijdens diverse pathologische omstandigheden. Dit zou kunnen betekenen dat het splitsen van het VEGFmRNA niet beïnvloed wordt door inflammatoire of metabole nierschade, of dat de podocyten in de nier niet in staat zijn de verdeling van isovormen aan te passen tot een meer geschikt patroon onder pathologische omstandigheden. De bevindingen in dit proefschrift ondersteunen zowel vasculaire als immunologische oorzakelijke wegen voor de ontwikkeling van pre-eclampsie. Aan pre-eclampsie kan een breed gebied van oorzaken ten grondslag liggen, en het samenspel tussen deze oorzaken is complex. Aan de ene kant lijkt de pathogenese te beginnen bij de placenta, welke door verstoorde ontwikkeling vroeg in de zwangerschap te veel anti-angiogene stoffen produceert, die vervolgens leiden tot endotheelschade bij de moeder. Echter zijn ziektebeelden die gepaard gaan met endotheelschade, zoals hypertensie en diabetes, weer risicofactoren voor het ontwikkelen van pre-eclampsie; oorzaak en gevolg lijken verweven, en de oorzaak van pre-eclampsie lijkt multifactorieel te zijn.

Dit maakt het ziektebeeld voor iedere vrouw met pre-eclampsie uniek en ingewikkeld om op aan te grijpen; het ontwikkelen van een strategie die aangrijpt op dezelfde causale factor bij iedere vrouw lijkt niet vruchtbaar. Het direct aangrijpen op de angiogene disbalans lijkt nu nog te riskant, gegeven de delicate balans van anti-angiogene en angiogene factoren die nodig is voor het behoud van het endotheel en de glomeruli. Toekomstig onderzoek zou zich kunnen richten op het verder identificeren van de verschillende aanleidingen van pre-eclampsie in een vroeg stadium in de placenta; echter is placentamateriaal van vroege stadia van de zwangerschappen lastig te verkrijgen. Wellicht zou het op grote schaal onderzoeken en combineren van *biomarkers* uit het serum en de urine van zwangere vrouwen gedurende de zwangerschap hier een oplossing voor kunnen zijn, en zal zo therapie gericht op de specifieke patiënt ontwikkeld kunnen worden. Sommige patiënten zullen misschien gebaat zijn bij het vroeg aangrijpen op de systemische symptomen, zoals hypertensie en inflammatie, en anderen bij het aangrijpen op immunologische factoren die de ontwikkeling van de placenta verstoren.



CV, publications and acknowledgements

# **CURRICULUM VITAE**

Rosanne Jane Turner werd 7 juli 1992 geboren te Castricum. In 2010 behaalde zij cum laude haar gymnasiumdiploma aan het Bonhoeffercollege te Castricum. Datzelfde jaar begon zij met de studie Geneeskunde aan de Universiteit Leiden in het Leids Universitair Medisch Centrum. In 2011 werd zij toegalaten tot het Excellente Studententraject van het Honours College van de Universiteit Leiden. In het kader van dit traject startte zij in 2011 naast haar studie geneeskunde met onderzoek naar preeclampsie en angiogenese onder begeleiding van Dr. Hans Baelde, Prof. Kitty Bloemenkamp en Prof. J.A. Bruijn. Ook volgde zij een deel van haar studie in Engeland aan de Peninsula Medical School.

Naast haar studie was zij ook actief als violist, onder meer in Leids studenten koor- en orkest Collegium Musicum als concertmeester, en in het Nederlands Strijkersgilde, waar zij ook bestuurslid was (2014).

Na het behalen van haar bachelor geneeskunde met honours certificaat (2013) en het afsluiten van haar bestuursjaar verrichtte Rosanne fulltime promotieonderzoek naar endotheelschade in preeclampsie aan de afdeling Pathologie van het Leids Universitair Medisch Centrum (hoofd: prof. dr. V.T.H.B.M. Smit); hiervoor ontving zij in 2014 een beurs voor een tweejarige aanstelling in het kader van het Excellente Studententraject. De resultaten van dit onderzoek zijn beschreven in dit proefschrift. Tijdens haar promotieonderzoek bezocht Rosanne verschillende congressen waar zij haar onderzoek presenteerde, onder meer de American Society of Nephrology Kidney Week in San Diego (2012) en Atlanta (2013), en het jaarlijkse congres van de Society for Reproductive Investigation (2016). Hiervoor ontving zij diverse beurzen, waaronder de Kidney Stars grant en de Women's Renal Health grant uitgereikt door de American Society of Nephropathy.

Tijdens haar promotietraject ontdekte Rosanne dat de wetenschap en methodologie haar het meest aan het hart lagen, en besloot zij haar masterstudies na haar aanstelling als promovendus te continueren in deze richting. In 2017 is zij gestart met de masterstudie Statistical Science aan de Universiteit Leiden. In 2019 hoopt zij deze studie af te ronden, om daarna als statisticus werkzaam te zijn.

# LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- Bos M, Nikkels PGJ, Cohen D, Schoones JW, Bloemenkamp KWM, Bruijn JA, Baelde HJ, van der Hoorn MLP, **Turner RJ**. Towards standardized criteria for diagnosing chronic intervillositis of unknown etiology: A systematic review. Placenta. 2018 Jan;61:80-88. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2017.11.012. Epub 2017 Nov 23.
- Bos M, Baelde HJ, Bruijn JA, Bloemenkamp KW, van der Hoorn MP, Turner RJ. Loss of placental thrombomodulin in oocyte donation pregnancies. Fertil Steril. 2017 Jan;107(1):119-129.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.10.005. Epub 2016 Oct 25.
- Turner RJ, Eikmans M, Bajema IM, Bruijn JA, Baelde HJ. Stability and Species specificity of Renal VEGF-A Splicing Patterns in Kidney Disease. PLoS One. 2016 Sep 6;11(9):e0162166. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0162166
- Turner RJ, Bloemenkamp KW, Bruijn JA, Baelde HJ. Loss of thrombomodulin in placental dysfunction in preeclampsia. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2016 Apr;36(4):728-35. Epub 2016 Feb 18.
- Turner RJ, Bloemenkamp KW, Penning ME, Bruijn JA, Baelde. From glomerular endothelium to podocyte pathobiology in preeclampsia: a paradigm shift. HJ.Curr Hypertens Rep. 2015 Jul;17(7):54.
- Buurma AJ, **Turner RJ**, Driessen JH, Mooyaart AL, Schoones JW, Bruijn JA, Bloemenkamp KW, Dekkers OM, Baelde HJ. Genetic variants in preeclampsia: a meta-analysis. Hum Reprod Update. 2013 May-Jun;19(3):289-303. Epub 2013 Jan 8.

# DANKWOORD

Dit proefschrift had niet tot stand kunnen komen zonder de steun en inzet van mijn collega's in het LUMC, en van mijn familie en vrienden. In het bijzonder wil ik graag bedanken:

Mijn promotoren , Kitty Bloemenkamp en Jan Anthonie Bruijn, voor de ontzettend grote wetenschappelijke ontwikkeling die ik doorgemaakt heb.

Mijn co-promotor Hans Baelde, voor al de tijd die hij vrij heeft gemaakt voor de directe begeleiding tijdens mijn promotietraject, het mij wegwijs maken in het onderzoeksveld van de angiogenese en preeclampsie, en voor al zijn hulp bij het opzetten van de experimenten en het schrijven van de artikelen voor dit proefschrift.

De NePa's, Aletta, Arda, Céline, Chinar, Emilie, Emma, Jamie, Josphine, Junling, Kimberley, Malu, Manon, Marlies, Nina, Pascal, Ramzi, Sophie, Suzanne, Tessa, voor alle gave congresbezoeken die we samen meegemaakt hebben, alle input die jullie mij gegeven hebben bij de projectbesprekingen en journal clubs en bovenal de gezellige dagen in P0-107!

Malu Zandbergen en Kimberley Veraar voor alle hulp bij het werk in het lab.

Alle co-auteurs, in het bijzonder Ingeborg Bajema, Marion Scharpfenecker en Michael Eikmans, voor alle scherpe inzichten bij de totstandkoming van de artikelen in dit proefschrift.

Mijn ouders en grootouders

Mijn paranimfen en broertje en zusje, Benjamin en Marijke

Bas

CV, publications and acknowledgements